
AGENDA FOR 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 

 

November 24, 2020 
 

CALENDAR 
 

Nov 24 6:15 p.m. Executive Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Nov 24 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Dec 8 5:30 p.m. Public Work Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Dec 8 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

 

******************* 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

 
B. THE ELKHART PROMISE 

 
C. INVITATION TO SPEAK PROTOCOL 

 

D. CONSENT ITEMS: 
Minutes – November 6, 2020 – Special Board Meeting 
Minutes – November 10, 2020 – Public Work Session 

Minutes – November 10, 2020 – Regular Board Meeting 
Claims 
Gift Acceptance 

Fundraisers 
Personnel Report 

 

E. SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS – SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT PLANNING PROCESS 
Beardsley Elementary School 
Bristol Elementary School 

Pinewood Elementary School 
Elkhart High Schools 
 

F. NEW BUSINESS 
 

 Elkhart Area Career Center Agreements – The administration recommends 

Board approval of the Elkhart Area Career Center agreements with its 
feeder schools. 
 

 Custodial Agreement – The administration recommends Board approval of 
the proposed Agreement with the American Federation of State, County, 
and Municipal Employees (AFL-CIO, Local #2925). 

 
  



BOARD AGENDA November 24, 2020 
 
 

2 
   

 Board Policies - Compensation – The administration presents proposed 
revisions to the following Board Policies and asks to waive 2nd reading: 

3422.01S - Food Service Employees’ Compensation Plan 
3422.02S - Mechanics’ Compensation Plan 
3422.03S - Bus Drivers’ Compensation Plan 

3422.04S - Bus Helpers’ Compensation Plan 
3422.05S - Support Staff Salary Schedule 
3422.06S - Secretarial/Business Compensation Plan 

3422.07S - Executive Assistants’ Salary Schedule 
3422.09S - Technical Assistants’ Compensation Plan 
3422.10S – Registered Nurses’ Compensation Plan 

3422.11S - Social Workers’ Compensation Plan 
3422.12S – Employees in Miscellaneous Positions Compensation Plan 
3422.13S - Therapists’ Compensation Plan 

3422.14S - Employees in Tech. Services Positions Compensation Plan 
3422.15S – Permanent Substitute Teachers’ Compensation Plan 
3422.16S – LPNs’ Compensation Plan 

 
 Board Policy - Compensation – The administration presents proposed 

revisions to the following Board Policy and asks to waive 2nd reading: 

     3422.08S - Paraprofessional Compensation Plan 
 

 Transfer of Appropriations – The Business Office seeks Board adoption of a 
resolution to transfer appropriations. 
 

 Financial Report – January 1, 2020 – October 31, 2020 
 

 Monthly Insurance Update 

 
 Insurance Premium Holiday 

 

 Elkhart High School Campus Master Plan – The administration requests 
approval of the Campus Master Plan. 
 

G. INFORMATION AND PROPOSALS 
 

 From Audience 

 
 From Superintendent and Staff 

 

 From Board 
 

H. ADJOURNMENT 

 



MINUTES 
OF THE SPECIAL MEETING 

OF THE BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 
 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 

November 6, 2020 
 

J.C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Road, Elkhart – at 

8:00 a.m. 
 

Place/Time 

Board Members Kellie L. Mullins Babette S. Boling 
Present: Carolyn R. Morris Susan C. Daiber 

 Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr. Troy E. Scott 
  Douglas K. Weaver 
   

 

Roll Call 

President Kellie Mullins called the special meeting of the Board of School 
Trustees to order. 
 

Call to 
Order 

The Board reviewed the tentative agreement with the Elkhart Teacher’s 
Association (ETA) for a new collective bargaining agreement. 
 

Appointment 
 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 9:00 a.m. 
 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 
 
  ____________________________________ 

  Kellie L. Mullins, President 
 
  ____________________________________ 

  Carolyn R. Morris, Vice President 
 

____________________________________ 

  Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr., Secretary 
 

____________________________________ 

  Babette S. Boling, Member 
 

____________________________________ 

  Susan C. Daiber, Member 
 

____________________________________ 

  Troy E. Scott, Member 
 
  ____________________________________ 

  Douglas K. Weaver, Member 

Signatures 

 



MINUTES OF THE 
PUBLIC WORK SESSION 

OF THE 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 

 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 

 

November 10, 2020 
 

J.C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Road, Elkhart – at 

5:30 p.m. 
 

Place/Time 

Board Members Kellie L. Mullins Babette S. Boling 

Present: Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr. Susan C. Daiber 

  Troy Scott 

  Douglas K. Weaver 

   

Via Electronic   

Communication: Carolyn R. Morris  

   

ECS Staff   

Present: Steve Thalheimer Doug Thorne 
   
   

 

Roll Call 

Superintendent Thalheimer presented the recommendation and rationale for 

the spring semester of school year 2020-2021. 
 
Superintendent Thalheimer notifed the Board of Pinewood Elementary 

switching to virtual due to staff shortages related to COVID beginning 
November 11 through November 20. 

 

Topics 

Discussed 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 6:15 p.m. 
 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Kellie L. Mullins, President 
 
 
____________________________ 
Carolyn R. Morris, Vice President 
 
 
____________________________ 
Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr., Secretary 

 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Babette S. Boling, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Susan C. Daiber, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Troy E. Scott, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Douglas K. Weaver, Member 

 

 
Signatures 

 



MINUTES 
OF THE REGULAR MEETING 

OF THE BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 
 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 

November 10, 2020 
 

J.C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Road, Elkhart – at 

7:00 p.m. 
 

Place/Time 

Board Members Kellie L. Mullins Babette S. Boling 
Present: Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr. Susan C. Daiber 

  Troy E. Scott 
  Douglas K. Weaver 
   

Via Electronic Carolyn R. Morris  
Communication:   
   

 

Roll Call 

President Kellie Mullins called the regular meeting of the Board of School 
Trustees to order. 
 

Call to 
Order 

Board member, Troy Scott, recited the Elkhart Promise. 
 

The Elkhart 
Promise 

Mrs. Mullins discussed the invitation to speak protocol. 
 

 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the following consent items: 
 

Consent Items 

Minutes – October 27, 2020 – Public Work Session 

Minutes – October 27, 2020 – Regular Board Meeting 
 

Minutes 

Payment of claims totaling $5,622,510.63 as shown on the 

November 10, 2020, claims listing.  (Codified File 2021-72) 
 

Payment of 

Claims 

The following donations made to Elkhart Community Schools 

(ECS): Donation of $16,000 from the Elkhart Education Foundation 
to purchase new music apparel for Elkhart High School (EHS) 
bands, choirs and orchestras; and a Selmer clarinet (valued at 

$150 by Quinlan & Fabish Music Co.) from Jayla Nunemaker. 
 

Gift Acceptance 

Proposed school fundraisers in accordance with Board policy.  

(Codified File 2021-73) 
 

Fundraisers 

A grant submission to Pet Care Trust for a Pets in the Classroom 

Grant from Eastwood in the amount of $75.  (Codified File 2021-
74) 
 

Grant 

  



2 
 

 
 

 
Resignation of the following two (2) certified staff members, on 
dates indicated:   

Melissa Fisher - behavior support at Beardsley, 12/18/20 
Jason Rybinski - ENL at Pinewood, 11/4/20 
 

Leave for certified staff member Dodie Norris, grade 4 at 
Cleveland, beginning 1/4/21 and ending 6/2/21 
 

Rescission of leave for certified staff member Lyndel Borener, 
music at Woodland. 
 

Employment of the following ten (10) classified employees, 
effective on dates indicated:   

Nronn Bailey - custodian at Pierre Moran, 11/4/20 

Maria Carrillo - secretary at Daly, 11/9/20 
Colleen Davidson-Nowlin - registered nurse at Hawthorne, 

11/6/20 

Gemma DiCarlo – sr. reporter/assignment editor at WVPE, 
10/28/20 

Cierra Johnson - bus helper at Transportation, 11/10/20 
Judie Jones - paraprofessional at Eastwood, 11/9/20 
Elizabeth Matteson - paraprofessional at Cleveland, 11/9/20 

Mary-Kathryne Taylor - paraprofessional at EACC, 11/9/20 
Joseph Temple - paraprofessional at Feeser, 10/29/20 
Nicole Tweedy - paraprofessional at Pinewood, 11/4/20 

 
Retirement of classified employee, Lynette FitzSimmons, 
paraprofessional at Monger, effective 11/10/20 with 16 years of 

service. 
 
Leave for the following five (5) classified employees, for dates 

indicated: 
Robert Gray – food service at Pierre Moran, (extension) 

beginning 10/21/20 and ending 11/30/20 

Tonci Haynes - food service at EHS East, (extension) 
beginning 10/12/20 and ending 11/12/20 

Shawn Burton - bus driver at Transportation, beginning 

11/19/20 and ending 12/4/20 
Frances Eggink – food service at West Side, beginning 

10/20/20 and ending 12/18/20 

Tesha Miller, paraprofessional at Riverview, beginning 
11/5/20 and ending 1/29/21 

 

 
 
 

 

Personnel 
Report 

 
Certified 
Resignations 

 
 
 

Certified Leave 
 
 

Leave 
Rescission 
 

Classified 
Employment 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Classified 
Retirement 

 
 
Classified Leave 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 



3 
 

Resignation of the following four (4) classified employees, 
effective on dates indicated:  

Shena Boone - food service at EHS East, 10/19/20 
Letha Marshall - paraprofessional at Eastwood, 11/17/20 
Sandra Mondragon Lara - secretary at Pinewood, 10/30/20 

Angela Williams - food service at Bristol, 10/27/20 
 

Classified 
Resignations 

 
 

School Improvement Plan presentations were given by Woodland 

Elementary, Osolo Elementary, Daly Elementary and Pierre Moran Middle 
School. (Codified File 2021-75) 

School 

Improvement 
Plans  
 

By unanimous action by roll call, the Board approved the Re-Entry Plan 
recommendation of the administration as presented by Superintendent 
Thalheimer to continue the hybrid and virtual plans for the spring 

semester of the 2020-2021 school year. 
 

Re-Entry Plan 
 

By unanimous action by roll call, the Board approved the tentative 

agreement with the Elkhart Teachers Association for a new collective 
bargaining agreement.  (Codified File 2021-76) 
 

Collective 

Bargaining 
Agreement 
 

Superintendent Thalheimer again thanked all staff and administrators for 
their input to the recommendation presented for the spring semester. 

 

From the 
Superintendent 

 
Superintendent Thalheimer also noted Pinewood Elementary would be 
strictly virtual beginning November 11th through November 20th 

From the 
Superintendent 

 
Board member Doug Weaver congratulated the high school football 
team on their sectional win last week. 

 

From the Board 

Board member Susan Daiber congratulated Doug Weaver on his 
reelection and Dacey Davis on her election to the Board of Trustees. 

 

From the Board 

Mrs. Daiber recognized the recent theater production and EHS East title 
Elkhart Together. 

 

From the Board 

Board member Babette Boling reminded everyone of the Legacy Auction 
taking place this week to raise funds for new uniforms. 

 

From the Board 

  



4 
 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 8:35 p.m. 
 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 
 
 

  ____________________________________ 
  Kellie L. Mullins, President 
 

 
  ____________________________________ 
  Carolyn R. Morris, Vice President 

 
 

____________________________________ 

  Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr., Secretary 
 
 

____________________________________ 
  Babette S. Boling, Member 
 

 
____________________________________ 

  Susan C. Daiber, Member 
 
 

  ____________________________________ 
  Troy E. Scott, Member 
 

 
  ____________________________________ 
  Douglas K. Weaver, Member 

 
 

Signatures 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 To:  Board of School Trustees 

  Superintendent Steve Thalheimer 

  

 From: Susan Ott 

 

 Date: November 18, 2020 

 

 

Subject:  Gift Acceptance 

  

The Don and Jurate Krabill Family has made a donation in the amount of $3,000 to the Elkhart High 

School Music Department to assist with the purchase music apparel. 

 

I am requesting approval from the Board of School Trustees to accept this donation and that 

appropriate letter of acknowledgement sent to: 

 

 Mrs. Jurate Krabill 

 23542 Greenleaf Blvd. 

 Elkhart, IN  46514 

 





November 24, 2020, Meeting of Board of School Trustees

School/Organiz
ation Fundraising Activity Description/Purpose

Date(s) of 
Activity

Date 
Submitted Sponsor(s)

EHS - Boys & 
Girls Track and 
Field

Online fundraiser through FanAngel to cover 
the cost of team shirts, sweats, meals, etc. 

3/1/2021 - 
4/2/2021

11/10/2020 Adam Homo and Bekah Shenk

EHS West - 
National Honor 
Society

NHS will partner with Krispy Kreme's new 
Digital Dozen program where people can 
purchase food items online for pick up. NHS 
receives a portion of the profit from each 
item ordered, which will be used towards 
Teacher Appreciation Week and NHS 
Induction.

11/30/2020 - 
12/13/2020

11/17/2020 Jeff Miller

EHS East and 
West - Class of 
2021

The Class of 2021 will partner with Senior 
Council from Concord High School to adopt a 
family for the holiday season. Funds will be 
raised through donations at school, 
basketball games and working Notre Dame 
concessions stands on December 5th. 
Proceeds collected will be used to adopt 2 
families through The Salvation Army. 

11/30/2020 - 
1/19/2021

11/17/2020 Jeff Miller, Julie Tyrakowski and        
Patti Pletcher

Please note the following fundraisers are 
presented for confirmation only.

EHS East - 
Intense 
Intervention

Make and sell soaps and candles. Funds will 
be used for classroom expenses and 
community based activities. 

11/9/2020 - 
12/21/2020

11/9/2020 Tracey Weirich



 

INTERNAL MEMO 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

2720 California Road • Elkhart, IN 46514 

 

 

 

 

To:   Dr. Steven Thalheimer 

From:  Ms. Cheryl Waggoner 

Date:  November 24, 2020 

 

Personnel Recommendations 

 

CERTIFIED 

 

a. New Certified Staff – We recommend the following new certified staff for employment in the 

2020-21 school year: 

 

Jewel Eyestone   Woodland/Grade 6 

 

 

b. Agreement – We recommend the approval of an agreement regarding unpaid time. 

 

 

c. Personal Leave – We recommend an unpaid personal leave for the following employee: 

 

Rita Janson   Beck/Grade 1 

Begin:  11/16/20  End:  6/2/21 

 

 

d. Maternity Leave – We recommend an unpaid  maternity leave for the following employee: 

 

Andrea Bucher  North Side/Math 

Begin:  12/18/20  End:  12/18/20 

 

 

e. Medical Leave – We recommend an unpaid medical leave for the following employee: 

 

Tiffany Mason   Hawthorne/Grade 6 

Begin:  11/16/20 pm  End:  6/2/21 

 

 

f. Resignation – We report the resignation of the following employees: 

 

Charles Luke   Roosevelt/ENL 

Began:  8/2/16   Resign:  12/18/20 

 

Debra Robinson  Roosevelt/Special Education 

Began:  8/14/18   Resign:  11/18/20 

 

 



 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 

 

CLASSIFIED 

 

a. New Hires – We recommend regular employment of the following classified employees: 

 

Valorie Books    North Side/LPN 

Began: 9/24/20    PE: 11/19/20 

 

Courtney Curry   Pierre Moran/Secretary 

Began: 9/28/20    PE: 11/23/20 

 

Kendra Langfeldt   Career Center/Farm Technician 

Began: 9/21/20    PE: 11/16/20 

 

Steven Millsaps Sr.   West Side/Technical Assistant 

Began: 9/21/20    PE: 11/16/20 

 

Derria Pratcher    Hawthorne/Substitute Teacher 

Began: 9/28/20    PE: 11/23/20 

 

Bethany Reed    Monger/Paraprofessional 

Began: 9/28/20    PE: 11/23/20 

 

Deneen Stout    Eastwood/Paraprofessional 

Began: 9/28/20    PE: 11/23/20 

 

Rebbeccia Stratton   Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 9/24/20    PE: 11/19/20    

 

 

 

b. Resignation – We report the resignation of the following classified employees: 

 

Michael Chastain Building Services/Custodian 

Began: 7/9/18 Resign: 11/11/20 

 

Kendra Crump         Eastwood~ Daly/Food Service 

Began: 8/16/18       Resign: 11/19/20 

 

Sandra Molano Romero Woodland/ Bldg Translator/Parent Liaison 

Began: 1/5/15 Resign: 11/18/20 

 

Mary Kathryne Taylor  Career Center/Paraprofessional                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

Began: 9/14/20    Resign: 11/5/20  



 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 

 

c. Retirement – We report the retirement of the following classified employee:   

 

Lorrie Bjornstad   North Side/Registered Nurse 

Began: 8/19/96    Retire:  3/26/21     

     24 Years of Service 

   

d. Unpaid Leave - We recommend an extension to unpaid leave for the following employees: 

 

Terrin Allen    Hawthorne/Food Services 

Begin: 11/9/20    End: 11/30/20 

 

Brenda White     Woodland/Food Service 

Begin: 11/9/20    End: 11/13/2020 

 

 

e. Unpaid Leave - We recommend an unpaid leave for the following employees: 

 

Debra Ball    Roosevelt/Substitute Teacher 

Begin: 11/17/20    End: 12/18/20 

 

Toya Wiley    Transportation/Bus Driver 

Begin: 11/17/20    End: 11/30/20 

 

 

f. Rescission - We recommend acceptance of the rescission of an unpaid leave for the following 

employee: 
 

Shawn Burton    Transportation/Bus Driver 

 

 

g. Rescission - We recommend acceptance of the rescission of a resignation for the following 

employee: 
 

Letha Marshall   Eastwood/Paraprofessional 

 

 

 



 

Elkhart Area Career Center Agreement 
 

 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this     day of         , 2020, by and 

between the Elkhart Community Schools, Elkhart County, Indiana, and                               . 

 

WHEREAS, Elkhart Community Schools has constructed a building to provide 

occupational training for those individuals residing within the school corporation/districts 

who are desirous and in need of such training, said Center being known as the Elkhart 

Area Career Center and 

 

 WHEREAS,                                      is desirous as a school corporation/district to 

participate in their students attending said Career Center, 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants 

hereinafter set forth, the parties mutually agree as follows: 

 

 ARTICLE I. STUDENTS AUTHORIZED TO ATTEND THE CAREER CENTER 

 Students from participating school corporations/districts may attend the Career 

Center on a partial day basis at the discretion of their own participating school 

corporation/district, and all credits toward graduation will be issued by the said home 

corporation/district. 

 Each student attending the Career Center shall be considered a student of the 

participating school corporation/district for the purposes of calculating the average daily 

attendance for the participating school corporation/district. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Career Center Agreement – page 2 

 

 

 ARTICLE II. ADMINISTRATIVE CONTROL 

 

 The Elkhart Area Career Center shall be under the administrative control of the 

Board of School Trustees, Elkhart Community Schools, Elkhart, Indiana, and said Board 

shall have authority and responsibility to determine all final decisions concerning the 

financing and the operation of the Center. 

 

 ARTICLE III.   LOCAL ADVISORY BOARD FOR CAREER 

    AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION 

 

 A local advisory board for career and technical education shall be selected by the 

Board of School Trustees, Elkhart Community Schools, Elkhart County, Indiana, 

representing broad interests in career and technical education, on an interest basis similar 

to that of the Indiana State Advisory Board.  The functions of this board shall be to provide 

recommendations for the operation of the Career Center and to bring these 

recommendations to the administration of the Career Center and the Board of School 

Trustees, Elkhart Community Schools.  This advisory board, as nearly as possible, should 

represent the interests of all of the people within the area served by the Elkhart Area 

Career Center. 

 This advisory board will meet a minimum of three times each year, and the minutes 

of those meetings shall be e-mailed to all participating school corporations/districts and 

shall be available at the Elkhart Area Career Center at all times. 

 

 ARTICLE IV.  TRANSPORTATION OF STUDENTS 

Decisions regarding transportation of students to the Career Center shall be left to the 

discretion of the local Boards.  No transportation of students to and from the Center will be 

provided by the Career Center. 

 

 

 

Career Center Agreement – page 3 



 

 ARTICLE V.  BUDGET AND ACCOUNTING 

  

The annual budget for the operation of the Career Center shall be prepared in 

accordance with the policies of the Indiana State Board of Accounts and the Superintendent 

of Public Instruction.  Said budget will be developed on a total project basis and shall first 

be subject to the final approval by the Board of School Trustees, Elkhart Community 

Schools, Elkhart County, Indiana.  Elkhart Community Schools shall maintain a separate 

Career and Technical Education Fund in the Fund Ledger and Ledger of Receipts, and shall 

observe all other accounting procedures required by the Indiana State Board of Accounts. 

 The Elkhart Community Schools, serving as the administering school, is entitled to 

recover costs incurred for administering the Elkhart Area Career Center program by 

multiplying their approved federal fund indirect cost rate times the Elkhart Area Career 

Center fiscal year current expenditures and prorating the costs in accordance with the 

provisions of ARTICLE IV, as a part of the total cost per student enrolled. 

 A copy of the projected budget shall be submitted to the participating school 

corporations/districts no later than February 1, for the following school year.  At the end of 

the fiscal year, an expenditure of funds report will be submitted to each school 

corporation/district. 

 

 ARTICLE VI.  COST TO PARTICIPATING SCHOOL CORPORATION/DISTRICT 

  

The cost to a participating school corporation/district shall be determined in the 

following manner:  Each participating school corporation/district will pay the net per capita 

cost for each of its students enrolled in the Career Center program.  Said net per capita cost 

shall be determined on the basis of the following formula: 

 

  Total operating cost of program 

  Less state and federal reimbursement 

  Net cost per student enrollment in the Career Center  

 

 

 

 

Career Center Agreement – page 4 



 

 Utilizing this formula, the participating school corporation/district shall be billed on 

a monthly basis on the estimated cost per student.  The final billing shall be resolved after 

the reimbursement is made in July and will be based on the actual net cost per capita for 

the students enrolled. 

 Any specific fees, such as book rental or student supplies shall be the responsibility 

of the student. 

  

ARTICLE VII.  STUDENTS TO BE ENROLLED 

  

The following enrollment procedures will be used: 

 The School Counselors of the Career Center will provide each participating school 

corporation/district with a list of Career & Technical Education programs to be offered 

during the new school year on or before January 10 of each year. 

 Applications for enrollment will be supplied to the participating school 

corporations/districts on or before February 20 and the enrollment process initiated. 

 On or before March 31, the participating school corporation/district shall have 

completed the enrollment forms and returned them to the School Counselors of the Elkhart 

Area Career Center. 

 On or before April 5, the Career Center counseling staff shall tabulate the number of 

applications and initiate the normal balancing procedure working with cooperating school 

counselors to insure reasonable and cost effective class enrollment numbers.  It is 

understood that some variation in enrollment will take place between this spring balancing 

and the ADM final count; however, cooperating school agrees to have done the major 

portion of their screening by May 1 and only minor adjustments should occur from this 

point to the official ADM day. 

 On or before the official ADM count day for the school year of this Agreement, the 

participating school corporation/district does herewith enter into as a part of this contract 

to provide for the financial costs incurred for those student enrollees whose placement shall 

be determined in accordance with the procedures herewith defined for the succeeding school 

year. 

  

 

 

Career Center Agreement – Page 5 



 

 ARTICLE VIII.   EMPLOYMENT OF PERSONNEL 

 

 All personnel employed at the Elkhart Area Career Center shall be the 

responsibility of the Elkhart Community Schools, in accordance with licensing procedures 

of the State of Indiana. 

 

 ARTICLE IX.    PERIOD OF AGREEMENT 

  

 This agreement shall begin on the 1st day of August, and shall continue on a fiscal 

year, July 1 to June 30.  A new contract will be written on or before August 1 of the fiscal 

year. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have signed this Agreement and caused 

their seals to be affixed and attested on the day and year indicated. 

 

      ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS                                                                         

 

 

 By _____________________________________  By ____________________________________ 
                            President of the Board                           President of the Board 

 

 

 

 

       _____________________________________     ______________________________________ 
                        Superintendent of Schools                         Superintendent of Schools 

 

Attested: Attested: 

 

_________________________________________   _______________________________________ 
                            Secretary of the Board                          Secretary of the Board 

 

 

Date:  ___________________________________ Date:  ________________________________ 



 

INTERNAL MEMO 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

2720 California Road • Elkhart, IN 46514 

 

 

 

 To:  Board of School Trustees 

  

From:  W. Douglas Thorne 

  District Counsel/Chief of Staff 

 

Date:  November 20, 2020 

 

Re:  Tentative Agreement 

 

On November 17th the administrative team representing Elkhart Community Schools concluded 

negotiations, on wage re-opener, with AFSCME Local #2925 who represents are custodians, members 

of the custodial pool, groundskeepers, and delivery truck driver. 

This tentative agreement, which I am told will be presented to the members of Local #2925 for 

ratification on November 21, 2020, provides for an across the board increase in wages of thirty cents 

per hour, a change to the schedule for the awarding of additional vacation days, as well as changes to 

both adoption leave and jury duty/witness leave.  A copy of the tentative agreement is included in your 

packet. 

The full contract expires on December 31, 2021. 

The administration will be seeking your approval of this tentative agreement, pending approval by Local 

#2925, during your meeting on November 24th.  Should you have any questions please feel free to 

contact my office. 

WDT/dls 

 



Elkhart Community Schools 

AFSCME Negotiations 

Conceptual Framework for Agreement 

Page 1 of 3 

November 17, 2020 

 

Article 9 

Illness Absence 

 

Maintain Current Contract Language 

 

Article 15 

Vacations and Vacation Pay 

 

A. Maintain Current Contract Language. 

B. Full-time employees who have been employed for the full year beginning January 1 and 

ending December 31, are entitled to ten (10) working days of vacation with pay during the 

next calendar year.  Full-time employees, who have been employed for six five (65) 

consecutive years prior to December 31, are entitled to fifteen (15) working days of 

vacation with pay during the next calendar year.  Full-time employees employed for fifteen 

(15) consecutive years prior to December 31, are entitled to twenty (20) working days of 

vacation with pay during the next calendar year. Full-time employees employed for twenty 

(20) or more consecutive years prior to December 31 are entitled to twenty-five working 

days of vacation with pay during the next calendar year.  Should an employee be unable 

to use all of his/her vacation days during the calendar year when said days are awarded, 

he/she shall have one-hundred and twenty (120) days during the ensuing year to use any 

unused days. 

C. Both the Union and the Board recognize that the proper maintenance of school facilities 

is a team effort which is necessary for the Elkhart Community Schools to provide a clean 

and safe environment for staff and students.  At the same time, the Board acknowledges 

the need for custodial staff members to use available vacation time in a manner that is 

conducive to their personal and family needs.  With this understanding in mind, all 

requests for vacation are subject to the approval of the building principal and the Building 

Services Manager/designee.  Because of the importance of maintaining coverage in 

elementary buildings, the scheduling of vacation time for custodians in elementary 

buildings will follow these guidelines: 

 

In order to allow for proper coverage planning, the custodian will advise the building 

principal and the Building Services Manager/designee as to requested vacation dates at 

least five (5) work days and no more than thirty (30) days prior to the first requested date.  

The Building Services Manager shall have the discretion to waive these timelines when 

he/she determines special circumstances exist.  When school is in session, during the 

school term, the maximum number of vacation days that will be considered in a calendar 

week will be three five (35), days; however employees may not take five (5) full days 



Elkhart Community Schools 

AFSCME Negotiations 

Conceptual Framework for Agreement 

Page 2 of 3 

November 17, 2020 

 

of vacation in consecutive weeks when school is in session if an absence for that 

building is covered by the Service Building. 

 

1. Maintain Current Contract Language 

2. Maintain Current Contract Language 

D. Maintain Current Contract Language 

E. Maintain Current Contract Language 

F. Maintain Current Contract Language 

G. Maintain Current Contract Language 

Article 17 

Jury Duty and Witness Duty Pay 

 

Custodial personnel will be granted absence for jury duty.  Such absence shall result in no loss of 

wages.  When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check 

shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made 

from the next payroll check.  In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except 

in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative 

agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the working day 

which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one case, 

shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving extended absence to witness, the 

superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or 

without pay.  When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check 

shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will be 

made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in 

any employee relations related litigation involving the employer or any other school employer, 

unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify, and litigation in which the employee is a 

party.  Additionally, the employee shall not be entitled to witness duty pay when the employee’s 

testimony relates to information that the employee obtained while working for an employer other 

than the Elkhart Community Schools. However, if the employee has been named as a party as 

a result of the employee’s performance of duties as an ECS employee, such employee shall 

not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition. 

 

New Article—Adoptive Leave: 

 

An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteen (18) years old shall be 

entitled to use up to six consecutive weeks of accumulated sick leave to serve as the primary 

caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave, the employee must 

notify the Director of Human Resources of the request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the 



Elkhart Community Schools 

AFSCME Negotiations 

Conceptual Framework for Agreement 

Page 3 of 3 

November 17, 2020 

 

application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date the child is physically turned 

over to the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 

 

Appendix A 

Custodial Wages 

 

Increase all hourly rates by 30 cents, effective January 1, 2021 

 

 

Appendix B 

 
 202119 Calendar Year 

Employer Share Health 

& Dental Insurance 

Premiums 

Single $5,925.00 

Employee and Spouse $11,000.00 

Employee and Child(ren)  $7,400.00 

Family $15,400.00 

Family Both Employed Full Time $15,750.00 

 

 



 

INTERNAL MEMO 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

2720 California Road • Elkhart, IN 46514 

 

 

 

 To:  Board of School Trustees 

  

From:  W. Douglas Thorne 

  District Counsel/Chief of Staff 

 

Date:  November 20, 2020 

 

Re:  Support Staff Compensation Agreements 

 

On Friday, November 20, 2020, the administration completed meetings with representatives of all of 

the support staff employee groups.  Based upon these meetings, the administration will be requesting 

approval of the following changes.  Hourly staff will be receiving increases of thirty (30) cents per hour, 

regardless of classification, and salaried staff will be receiving increases based upon the number of 

months worked.  Salaried staff with a nine-month work calendar will receive a seven ($700) hundred 

dollar increase to their range, employees with an eleven month work calendar will receive an eight 

($800) hundred dollar increase, and employees with a twelve month work calendar will receive a nine 

($900) hundred dollar increase to their range.  Copies of the current plan for each employee group are 

included in your packet, and the changes recommended in each plan are highlighted for ease of review.  

As always, should you have any questions please feel free to contact my office. 

WDT/dls 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised FOOD SERVICE EMPLOYEES’ COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.01S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised January 14, 2020

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.01S - FOOD SERVICE EMPLOYEES’ COMPENSATION PLAN
 
Salary Schedule
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage and career increment schedule for food service personnel to be
effective beginning January 1, 20212020.
 

WAGE SCHEDULE
       
STEP I II II.5 III IV V

 A B A B B B B B
         
Probationary 8.75 8.45 8.56 8.26 9.098.79 8.908.60 10.039.73 14.3614.06 15.1514.85 15.6815.38

         
55 days - 1
year

9.53 9.23 9.34 9.04 9.919.61 9.709.40 10.8010.50 15.2514.95 16.0015.70 16.5316.23

         
1 year – 2
years

10.39 10.09 10.149.84 10.7410.44 10.5010.20 11.6111.31 15.6815.38 16.8416.54 17.3817.08

         
2 years – 3
years

11.3511.05 11.0610.76 11.7211.42 11.4211.12 12.5212.22 16.8616.56 17.7717.47 18.3618.06

         
Over 3
years

11.9111.61 11.6111.31 12.2811.98 11.9511.65 14.1413.84 17.6217.32 18.5718.27 19.0918.79

 
Key: Column A = Less than four (4) hours/day employees

   
 Column B = Four (4) or more hours/day employees (In addition the three percent (3%)

employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools)
   
 I - Less than six and one-half (6.5) hour Satellite Employees, Elementary Lunch Paraprofessionals

 II - Commissary and Cafeteria Employees, Secondary Lunch Paraprofessionals
    
 II.5 - Commissary Line Leader, Elementary Managers, Tipton Manager, Catering Staff/Sub Food Service

Truck Driver
    
 III - Middle School Managers, Assistant Managers

    



 IV - Allergy Specialist
    
 V - High School ManagersMemorial High School Manager, Central High School Manager, Summer

Feeding Supervisor
 

A. The career increment applies to all food-service personnel. 
 

B. The career increment takes effect for each regular employee on the anniversary date (5-10-15-20 years). The career
increment is not cumulative, but the scheduled amount is added to the employee’s regular rate set forth on the Wage
Schedule. 
 

C. Years of employment will be determined by using the date the employee became regularly employed by the Elkhart
Community Schools or by a township school which has since become a part of the Elkhart Community Schools.

 
Career Increment Schedule
 
 $.20 five (5) years, but less than ten (10)
 
 $.30 ten (10) years, but less than fifteen (15)
 
 $.50 fifteen (15) years, but less than twenty (20)
 
 $.70 twenty (20) years and over

 
Lunch Paraprofessionals, who were hired as a lunch paraprofessional prior to February 11, 2014, will be paid under the
paraprofessional wage schedule as outlined below.
 

Step ECS Experience as Paraprofessional Hourly Rate
  A B

1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days (Probationary Rate) 10.54 10.24 9.999.69

2 55 days or more, but less than 1 year 10.6610.36 10.3610.06

3 1 year or more, but less than 2 years 11.1710.87 10.8910.59

4 2 years or more, but less than 3 years 11.7311.43 11.4011.10

5 3 years or more, but less than 4 years 12.2611.96 11.9011.60

6 4 years or more, but less than 5 years 12.7012.40 12.3312.03

7 5 years or more, but less than 6 years 13.2612.96 12.8512.55

8 6 years or more, but less than 7 years 13.7413.44 13.3413.04

9 7 years or more 14.3014.00 13.8713.57

 
Key: Column A = Less than four (4) hours/day employees

   

 Column B = Four (4) or more hours/day employees (In addition the three percent (3%)
employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools.)

 
Lunch Paraprofessional Career Increment Schedule
 

Years regularly employed by Amount of Hourly
Elkhart Community Schools Career Increments

five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) .20

ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) .30

fifteen (15) or more, but less than seventeen (17) .40

seventeen (17) or more, but less than twenty (20) .50



twenty (20) or more .60

 
Additional Pay for Banquets and Special Functions
 
Employees will receive time and one-half for all hours worked for special serving requests, banquets and special functions.
 
Overtime
 
Food Service employees who are assigned to work more than forty (40) hours in a week will be paid overtime compensation for
time and a half for any hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours.
 
Food Service Employees’ Fringe Benefits
 
Income Protection and Annuities
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax-
sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees
of the Elkhart Community Schools.
 
Insurance
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified
employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major medical and life
insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one of the plans provided by the
Board.
 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next
thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance
policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. Employees interested in participating in these plans should
contact the Business Office, Insurance Department.
 
Severance Benefits
 
Food Service employees who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools
will be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at least ten (10)
working days prior to the last date of employment.
 

A. Resignation 

Food Service employees shall receive pay for any unused personal business leave in the current year of employment,
provided the following conditions are met by the employee: 
 

1. The employee has completed at least six (6) months of active employment with the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

2. The employee has submitted a written resignation to the Director of Human Resources, and 
 

3. The resignation shall specify the last date of employment and shall be received by the Director of Human
Resources at least ten (10) working days prior to the last date of employment; or during the summer months at
least twenty-one (21) calendar days prior to the scheduled working day. 
 

B. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
 

1. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time of
retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart Community
Schools. Only the six months service requirement must be met to be eligible for the disability or death benefit. 
 

2. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible employees who retire,
die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools. In the event of
death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 
 

3. At the time of retirement, a Food Service employee shall receive pay for accumulated illness leave, not to exceed
two (2) days per year. Pay shall be for the greater of thirty (30) days or forty-five percent (45%) of accumulated



illness leave. In the event of the death of a Food Service employee, while in the active employ of Elkhart
Community Schools, said payment should be made to the employee’s beneficiary. 
 

4. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of service
and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least the last five
(5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by paying one hundred percent
(100%) of the premiums in advance at the business office.

 
Change in Classification
 
When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy 3413S.
 
Food Service Employees’ Absences
 
In order to operate each kitchen effectively and efficiently, punctuality and regular attendance are of utmost importance.
 
All Food Service employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to personal leave and personal illness days. Absences
for all Food Service personnel, in addition to the days to which they are entitled, shall be considered to be unexcused. Three (3)
days’ unexcused absences in any one school year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or
termination. When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to
his/her immediate supervisor at least one-half (1/2) hour before starting time, and upon return, file a report of
absence. Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. Absence before or after a
holiday must be approved in advance to be eligible for the salary allowed for the holiday. (No absence report is necessary on
emergency closing days when pay is not to be received.) Upon written request received by the Director of Food Services at least
two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five (5) or less consecutive working days may be
approved. The best interests of the School Corporation will be considered.
 
Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave Incentive Plan
 
Beginning January 1, 1999, the following Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave incentive plan will be effective for all food-
service employees. The use of personal leave days will not affect the calculation of benefits under this incentive program. For the
purpose of the incentive program, the year will run from January 1st through December 31st.
 

A. If a food service employee who is assigned to work four (4) or more hours does not use any of his/her Personal Illness,
Family Illness, or unpaid days during the year, s/he will be given a payment of $400. A food service employee who is
assigned to work less than four (4) hours will be given a payment of $200 if s/he has no absences excluding any
absences covered by applicable personal leave days.
 

B. If a food service employee who is assigned to work four (4) or more hours uses only one of his/her Personal Illness,
Family Illness, or unpaid days during the year, s/he will be given a payment of $200. A food service employee who is
assigned to work less than four (4) hours will be given a payment of $100 if s/he has only one (1) absence, excluding any
absences covered by applicable personal leave days.
 

C. If a food service employee who is assigned to work four (4) or more hours uses only two (2) of his/her Personal Illness,
Family Illness, or unpaid days during the year, s/he will be given a payment of $100. A food service employee who is
assigned to work less than four (4) hours will be given a payment of $50 if s/he has only two (2) absences, excluding any
absences covered by applicable personal leave days.
 

D. In order to be eligible for the incentive pay set out in A, B or C above, the food-service employee must have been
employed as of January 1st. If a food service employee is hired after January 1st, the incentive payment will be pro-rated
on a percentage of the workdays after the food service employee was employed. 
 

E. For the purpose of the incentive program, Personal Illness, Family Illness, or unpaid days will be when a food service
employee who is assigned to work four (4) or more hours is absent for three (3) or more hours, or when a food service
employee who is assigned to work for less than four (4) hours is absent for any period of time. For food-service
employees who are assigned to work four (4) hours or more, absence of less than three (3) hours will be considered a
half day. Food-service employees who are absent one-half (½) day will receive $300; one and one-half (1-1/2) days will
receive $150; or two and one-half (2-1/2) days will receive $50.

 
Bereavement
 



Employees who are assigned to work four (4) or more hours shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of
compensation on account of death in the immediate family for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must
be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used
consecutively.
 
“Immediate family” is defined as employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparent, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 
Bereavement shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the employee's
immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral of a
friend.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.
 
Military Leave
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge.
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay s/he shall present
the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for each
day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be restored to
a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in
its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her
responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave – Administrative Regulation
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his or her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and
vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or 
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate
administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it
will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The
cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer
 



In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any
required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job
responsibilities. Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year,
s/he will be eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.
 
Personal Leave
 
Food Service employees are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during
each calendar year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate
administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
School year Food Service employees who work less than four (4) hours per day and less than twenty (20) hours per week, after
satisfactorily completing one (1) year of employment, as of January 1st of any year, the employee shall be entitled to personal
leave and the retirement benefit based on accumulated days of unused personal leave.
 
If a Food Service employee retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the
three (3) days to the following year to equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall
accumulate for retirement at the end of the year. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the
employee must provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate
supervisor. If a Food Service employee does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused
personal leave will accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave – Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee’s supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen
emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods
of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is
scheduled as a parent-teacher conference day as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the
following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two (2) personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period. 
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking
said day. 
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be
granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency
exists, “emergency” shall be defined as an unforeseen event which prohibits the employee from attending to his/her
assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 

A. Jury Duty 

All Food Service employees will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such
absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of
the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the
next payroll check. 
 

B. Witness Duty 

In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a
court of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time
during the working day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one



case, shall result in no loss of wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the Superintendent may grant
additional days with pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of
his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to
witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in
any litigation in which the employee is a party, or employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any
other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. However, if the employee has been
named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as an ECS employee, such employee shall not be
subjected to the forgoing prohibition.

 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human
Resources. In the event the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days after
the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For employees who
are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date the child is expected in the
home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested for a period not to
exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable.
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer, or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the
Business Office.
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave, the employee
must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date the child is physically turned over to the
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.
 
Holidays and Vacations
 
Holidays
 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 

A. School Year Employees 

Food Service employees who work the school year and four (4) hours or more daily, but less than full time, shall be
entitled to the following legal or recognized holidays without loss of any pay when they occur on days which they would
have worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below: 

Labor Day 

Thanksgiving Day – two (2) days 

Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 

Presidents’ Day 

Memorial Day 

Christmas Day (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following) 

Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 

Presidents’ Day will be a paid holiday. 

Christmas Day will be a paid holiday. 

Any employee who does not work during a two-week pay period will not receive pay for that pay period, including days
normally paid as holidays. Exceptions include: 
 



1. When the use of absence or leave benefits is exhausted during the pay period. 
 

2. When all days in the pay period are covered by available paid leaves, vacation and/or holidays. 
 

3. Christmas Day. 
 

B. Twelve (12) Month Employees 

Twelve (12) month Food Services employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when they occur on days which
would have been worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below: 
 
New Year's   two (2) days (see B-1-a)
  
Martin Luther King Jr. Day  
  
Presidents Day (see B-4)
  
Memorial Day  
  
Independence Day – two (2) days (see B-2)
  
Labor Day  
  
Thanksgiving   two (2) days (see B-3)
  
Christmas   two (2) days (see B-1-a)
 

1. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) days will be allowed as follows: 
 

a. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee
may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both December 24 or December
26 as a holiday with pay, and may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not
both December 31 or January 2 as a holiday with pay. To be eligible for either of the above selections, a
classified employee must make such request to the immediate supervisor no later than December 10. 
 

b. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, then both the Friday before and the Monday after
shall be paid holidays, unless schools are open on one of these days, in which case an alternate day will be
determined. 
 

2. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday
following, unless school is in session. 
 

3. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 
 

4. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holiday.

 
Vacations
 

A. A twelve (12) month Food Services employee who has, as of December 31, been employed by the Elkhart Community
Schools for less than one (1) calendar year, shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the next
calendar year, for each full month of employment completed, provided no more than ten (10) vacation days may be
accrued. 
 

B. A twelve (12) month Food Services employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart
Community Schools for that entire calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation with pay during the
next calendar year. 
 

C. A twelve (12) month Food Services employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart
Community Schools for fivesix (56) consecutive years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay during
the next calendar year. 
 



D. A twelve (12) month Food Services employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart
Community Schools for fifteen (15) consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation with pay during
the next calendar year. 
 

E. A twelve (12) month Food Services employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart
Community Schools for twenty (20) consecutive years, is entitled to twenty-five (25) working days vacation with pay
during the next calendar year. 
 

F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption of service did not include other employment. 
 

G. For the sole purpose of determining vacation benefit eligibility; employees who transfer from a school-year position to a
twelve (12) month position will be granted years of service based on the following conversion formula. NOTE: the years
of service conversion is only applicable for the purpose of vacation benefits. This computation does not replace the total
years of service invested with Elkhart Community Schools for the purposes of Retirement benefits or Staff Recognition. 

The employee’s employment record with Elkhart Community Schools for all positions held will be considered. Using the
number of paid hours per day, multiplied by the number of paid days per school year, divided by 2080 to obtain the
number of years equivalent to a twelve (12) month position. The total number of equivalent years will be rounded up to
nearest whole number. 

The calculated number of years of service will be used in determining the total number of day’s vacation which such full-
time employee is entitled to receive under this policy. The employee will receive the total amount of awarded vacation
days effective the January following their date of conversion. Prior to completing one full year of service, the employee
will be entitled to a prorated amount of vacation days based on the calculation formula referenced in the paragraph
above. 
 

H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the immediate supervisor prior to the first day of
requested vacation, and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor. When vacation days have been
requested and approved but are not able to be used due to administrative directive, an extension of up to three (3)
months will be granted for the use of such day(s). 
 

I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6)
months beyond. 
 

J. Only twelve (12) month employees will be entitled to paid vacation days.

 
Revised 1/1/17 
Revised 11/14/17 
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 12/18/18
Revised 12/10/19 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised MECHANICS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.02S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised December 10, 2019

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.02S - MECHANICS’ COMPENSATION PLAN
 
Wage Schedule
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following schedule for mechanics effective January 1, 20212020. In addition,
the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools.
 

Classification Wage Range (per hour)
  
Head Mechanic 26.7926.49 – 29.9329.63
  
Assistant Head Mechanic 24.4324.13 – 26.7926.49
  
* Mechanic 17.8717.57 – 24.4624.16
  
  

 
*  Night Mechanics also receive a shift differential of $.35/hour.
 
The Corporation will provide mechanics with cold-weather gear every three (3) years and will replace if damaged as needed.
 
The Corporation will provide mechanics with a work shoe allowance of $100 each calendar year.
 
Any personnel in the mechanic department may be utilized in other areas of assignment on a temporary basis to effect an
efficient operation of the school system as determined by the employer.
 
An employee who is required to report to work to respond to an emergency outside of the employee’s regular work hours will be
paid for a minimum of two (2) hours.
 
In addition, a career increment will be paid as follows:
 

Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools Hourly Increment
  
five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20
  
ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30
  
fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50
  
twenty (20) or more years $.70

 
Fringe Benefits
 



A. Income Protection and Annuities 

The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax-sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board of
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

B. Insurance 

In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one (1) of
the plans provided by the Board. 

The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the
next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability
insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 
 

C. Severance Benefits 

Mechanics who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will
be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at least ten
(10) working days prior to the last date of employment. 
 

1. Resignation 

Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment. Vacation days
earned in the current year shall also be paid to full-time employees. Payment for unused personal leave and
vacation shall be made at the rate of pay in effect at termination. The effective date of resignation shall be
established to include use of all personal leave and unused vacation days. 
 

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability - The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Section 3-C. 
 

a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart
Community Schools.  Only the six (6) months service requirement must be met to be eligible for the
disability or death benefit. 
 

b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible employees
who retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.
Unused vacation days earned in the current year shall also be paid prior to retirement, or upon disability
termination or death of the employee. In the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent's
estate. 
 

c. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools' group insurance plan for at least
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by paying
100% of the premiums in advance at the business office. 
 

d. When retiring, a mechanic who has ten (10) years of service and is at least fifty-five (55) years of age may
select one (1) of the following benefits based upon the employee’s daily rate at the time of retirement: 
 

1. One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

2. Forty-five percent (45%) of the unused sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the provisions in
the mechanic's employee booklet. 
 

D. Change in Support Staff Classification 

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy 3413S.

 
Absences



 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee's responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence
will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days
when pay is not to be received.)
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days' unexcused absences in any one (1) school year
shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the
appropriate administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or less
consecutive working days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Illness Absences and Leaves
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 
Full-time classified personnel will be allowed the number of hours equal to one (1) workday per month of employment for
personal illness/family illness absence. This will provide ninety-six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually.
Unused personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the number of hours equal to 190 days as personal
illness days.
 
As used in this section, Immediate family shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law,
brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or
any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or
for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall mean an individual
whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean any person related
to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor's approval to return to work following an illness.
 
Job-Related Injury Leave
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate. The
employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits.
 
Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave Incentive Plan
 
Beginning January 1, 2003, the following Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave incentive plan will be effective for all
mechanics. For the purpose of the incentive program, the year will be from December 1st to November 30th.
 

A. Effective January 1, 2008, if a mechanic does not use any of his/her Personal Illness days or Family Illness days during
the year, s/he will be given a payment of $600 on the following December.
 

B. Effective January 1, 2008, if a mechanic uses only one (1) of his/her Personal Illness/Family Illness days during the year,
s/he will be given a payment of $400 on the following December.
 

C. Effective January 1, 2008, if a mechanic uses two of his/her Personal Illness/Family Illness days during the year, s/he will
be given a payment of $200 on the following December. 
 

D. In order to be eligible for the incentive pay set out in a., b, and c. above, the mechanic must have been employed as of
December 1st. If a mechanic is hired after December 1st, the incentive payment will be pro-rated on a percentage of the
workdays after the mechanic was employed.
 

E. For the purpose of the incentive program, a personal illness or family illness day will be when a mechanic is absent for
three (3) or more hours. Absence of less than three (3) hours will be considered a half-day. Mechanics absent one-half
(½) day will receive $500; one and one-half (1-1/2) days, $300; or two and a half (2-1/2) days, $100.



 
Bereavement
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family
for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the
death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively.
 
Immediate family shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law,
son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any member of the
family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for whom the
employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 
Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the teacher’s
immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day's absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral of a
friend.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.
 
Military Leave
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge.
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay s/he shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in
its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her
responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave - Procedure
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and
vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate
administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty days after s/he has used all benefits, it will
be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The cost



of any such examination will be paid by the employer.
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any
required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities.
Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible
for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.
 
Personal Leave
 
Mechanics are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each
calendar year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate
administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
If a mechanic retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days to
the following year to equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall accumulate for
retirement at the end of the year. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the employee must
provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor.
 
If a Mechanic does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee's supervisor or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen
emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods
of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is
scheduled as a parent teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the
following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years, an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period.
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking
said day.
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be
granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency
exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending to his/her
assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 

A. Jury Duty
 
All mechanics will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence shall result
in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall be
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll check. 
 

B. Witness Duty 

In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before
a court of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time
during the working day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one (1)
case, shall result in no loss of wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant
additional days with pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of



his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to
witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given
in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any
other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. However, if the employee has been
named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as an ECS employee, such employee shall not be
subjected to the forgoing prohibition.

 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human
Resources. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For
employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child
is expected in the home. In cases of emergency, the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested
for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable.
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group insurance
program for which she or he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the Business
Office.
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave, the employee
must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to
the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.
 
Holidays and Vacations
 
Definitions
 
As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an employee who is employed on a school-year basis and works
approximately 175 or more days per year, and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours.
 
Holidays
 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 

A. Full-time classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when they occur on days which would have been
worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below: 
 
New Year's - two (2) days (see A-1.)
  
Martin Luther King Jr. Day  
  
Presidents Day (see A-4)
  
Memorial Day  
  
Independence Day – two (2) days (see A-2)
  
Labor Day  
  
Thanksgiving - two (2) days (see A-3)
  
Christmas - two (2) days (see A-1)
 

B. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) days will be allowed as follows: 
 

1. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee may,
subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both December 24 or December 26 as a



holiday with pay, and may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both December
31 or January 2 as a holiday with pay. To be eligible for either of the above selections, a classified employee must
make such request to the immediate supervisor no later than December 10.
 

2. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, then both the Friday before and the Monday after shall be
paid holidays, unless schools are open on one (1) of these days, in which case an alternate day will be
determined.
 

C. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following,
unless school is in session.
 

D. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays.
 

E. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holiday. 
 

F. Holiday/Sunday Overtime: In the event a mechanic is required to work on a Sunday or on Thanksgiving Day,
Christmas Day, or New Year’s Day, the employee shall be paid at two (2) times his/her regular hourly rate of pay for
each hour worked on such day(s). This pay shall be in addition to holiday pay.

 
Vacations
 

A. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one
(1) calendar year, shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the next calendar year, for each full
month of employment completed, provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued.
 

B. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
that entire calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

C. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
five (5)six consecutive years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

D. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
fifteen (15) consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 
 

E. Full-time employees employed for twenty (20) or more consecutive years prior to December 31 are entitled to twenty-
five working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption of service did not include other employment. 
 

G. For the sole purpose of determining vacation benefit eligibility; employees who transfer from a school-year position to a
twelve (12) month position will be granted years of service based on the following conversion formula. NOTE: the years
of service conversion is only applicable for the purpose of vacation benefits. This computation does not replace the total
years of service invested with Elkhart Community Schools for the purposes of Retirement benefits or Staff Recognition.
 
The employee’s employment record with Elkhart Community Schools for all positions held will be considered. Using the
number of paid hours per day, multiplied by the number of paid days per school year, divided by 2080 to obtain the
number of years equivalent to a twelve (12) month position. The total number of equivalent years will be rounded up to
the nearest whole number.
 
The calculated number of years of service will be used in determining the total number of day’s vacation which such full-
time employee is entitled to receive under this policy. The employee will receive the total amount of awarded vacation
days effective the January following their date of conversion. Prior to completing one (1) full year of service, the
employee will be entitled to a prorated amount of vacation days based on the calculation formula referenced in the
paragraph above. 
 

H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the immediate supervisor prior to the first day of
requested vacation, and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor. When vacation days have been
requested and approved but are not able to be used due to administrative directive, an extension of up to three (3)
months will be granted for the use of such day(s).
 

I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6)
months beyond.

 



Revised 1/1/17 
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 12/18/18
Revised 8/13/19



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised BUS DRIVERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.03S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised December 10, 2019

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.03S - BUS DRIVERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN
 
Wage Schedule
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following schedule for bus drivers to become effective January 1, 20212020. In
addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools.
 

Step (Rates) Elkhart Community Schools Experience as a Bus Driver
Bus Driver

Hourly Rate
(2019)

   
Probationary 0 - 55 days 19.9319.63

   
Base 55 days, but not more than two (2) years 20.6720.37

   
Advanced Over two (2) years, but not more than five (5) years 21.7421.44

   
Experienced Over five (5) years, but not more than 10 years 22.6722.37

   
 Over ten (10) years, but not more than 15 years 22.9322.63

   
 Over fifteen (15) years 23.2022.90

 
Placement at the advanced rate will be determined by the driver’s evaluation. All drivers will be evaluated annually by the
Director of Transportation, or designee. The evaluation will be discussed with each driver individually. No benefits will be
available unless the contracted route driver is under contract for four or more hours. In addition, a career increment will be paid
as follows:
 

Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools Hourly Increment
  
five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20
  
ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30
  
fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50
  
twenty (20) or more years $.70

 
Retention Payment(s)
 



Bus drivers who have successfully completed probation will be eligible to receive a driver retention payment of $250.00 each
semester provided the driver was employed by the school corporation as a driver for four or more hours each day during the
immediately preceding semester and continues in an active employment status as a bus driver.
 
Extra-Curricular Trips
 
For extracurricular trips, field trips, and other such trips other than the regular transporting of students to school from their
place of residence and back to their place of residence from school each school day, a bus driver shall receive $14.0013.75/hour
with a minimum trip pay of two (2) hours for weekday trips and five (5) hours for holiday or weekend trips. Drivers will not be
paid additional clean‑up time for extra-curricular trips, but are expected to maintain bus cleanliness. When outdoor conditions
occur during the activity which is the purpose of the trip, resulting in an unusual amount of clean-up (i.e. football or soccer in
muddy conditions, etc.), the driver may apply for payment for the required clean-up time.
 
Unassigned Drivers
 
Unassigned drivers will be paid at one (1) of the above rates as determined by the Director of Transportation.
 
Unassigned drivers required to report to dispatch and wait for the assignment of a route shall be paid at the extra trip rate for
any waiting time not covered by the two‑hour minimum or the compensation for the route they are assigned to that day.
 
Driver Contracts
 
All drivers shall be provided a contract based on the rates listed above. The contract shall provide a minimum driving assignment
of two (2) hours for morning routes, two (2) hours for afternoon routes, and two (2) hours for any route which is not an
extension of either morning or afternoon routes. Any route regularly scheduled to run on Sundays or Board of School Trustees
approved holidays, (e.g. for the visually or hearing impaired), shall be paid a three (3) hour minimum on those days. The
contract shall provide a minimum driving assignment of four (4) hours per day for wages if drivers work both morning and
afternoon. Effective July 1, 2006, in the event a driver’s assigned route consists of three (3) separate runs in both the morning
and the afternoon (i.e. secondary/elementary/elementary or secondary/elementary/Head Start) the minimum for that route
shall be three (3) hours in the morning and three (3) hours in the afternoon. (The foregoing shall not be applicable to mixed
runs (i.e. high school/middle school). Letters of employment status indicating reasonable assurance of employment in the
following year will be provided to all drivers in good standing at the conclusion of the school year. All routes shall be timed from
departure from the bus garage until return to the bus garage. In emergency situations, such drivers may be required to make
additional runs which can be completed within the time frame of the contract. Additional runs which cause extension beyond the
normal assigned hours shall be reimbursed in accordance with the driver’s normal hourly rate. In addition, each bus driver will
be paid for thirty (30) minutes each day for clean-up, paperwork, and service time.
 
Time Study
 
In the event of a significant difference between the driver’s time study and the Transportation Department’s timing for the route,
the driver may appeal to the Director of Transportation or Assistant Director of Transportation to resolve this discrepancy. The
decision of the Director of Transportation or Assistant Director of Transportation may be reviewed by the District Counsel/Chief
of Staff. The decision of the District Counsel/Chief of Staff shall be final.
 
Work Schedule
 
Drivers will be required to report for duty two times in addition to all student attendance days. Drivers will be paid four (4) hours
at the driver's hourly rate for these days. These days will be scheduled as follows:
 

A. State Safety Meeting 
 

B. Fall Training Session

 
Mandatory meetings, with the exception of contract signing where all drivers are required to attend, will be paid at the driver's
hourly rate; this includes training required for specific routes (i.e., Head Start).
 
Contract signing, mandatory meetings scheduled for smaller groups of drivers, and individuals for specific training and
information sharing will be paid at the extra trip rate.
 
Drivers will receive a minimum of one (1) hour pay for these meetings and meetings beyond a full hour will be paid in fifteen
(15) minute increments.
 
Vehicle Clean-up, Paperwork, and Spot Check



 
Each bus driver will be paid one-half (1/2) hour (.3 hours in the morning and .2 hours in the afternoon) for each working day for
clean up, service time, and paperwork. Each driver is expected to keep his/her assigned vehicle in a good state of cleanliness at
all times.
 
Uncleanliness on any one (1) spot check by the Director of Transportation will be sufficient cause for the discontinuance of this
payment for five (5) days. Normal accumulation from the day's route will be excluded. A second spot check showing lack of
cleanliness will result in a suspension without pay of the driver for two (2) days. Further violations can be cause for termination.
 
Stopping Enroute or Layover
 
Drivers will be allowed to stop en route or on layover only for food, coffee, shopping, etc., with permission of the Transportation
Office, as per established guidelines.
 
Drug/Alcohol Testing
 
Any driver required to be tested for the drug/alcohol program will receive one (1) hour’s route pay at his/her current hourly rate.
(This shall not include pre-employment testing.)
 
School Delays
 
In the event the start of the school day is delayed on account of weather conditions, drivers will receive one (1) hour’s route pay
for the delay.
 
Early Release
 
Drivers may be required to drive more than their regular number of routes so as to facilitate an early release of students to
conduct parent-teacher conferences, or for other purposes. Drivers who are already assigned to drive a morning, mid-day, and
afternoon route will be paid for their actual driving time, but not less than one (1) hour’s route pay, for driving one (1) of their
routes early on an early release day. Drivers who are regularly assigned to drive only a morning and an afternoon route will
receive two (2) hour’s route pay for driving one (1) of their routes early on an early release day.
 
Extra Trip Routes
 
Drivers who are assigned to an extra trip route (e.g. remediation, etc.) who are required by the Director of
Transportation/Designee to pre-drive an extra trip route will receive two (2) hours’ extra trip pay to fulfill these responsibilities.
 
Special Route Responsibilities: Kindergarten
 
Drivers who are assigned to morning or afternoon routes which include kindergarten students are responsible for contacting the
parents of each kindergarten student prior to the first day of kindergarten. Drivers on these morning and afternoon routes are
expected to contact the parents of their kindergarten students and determine whether the students can be picked up at an
existing stop or whether a new stop will be established. Drivers will be required to turn the necessary paperwork into the
Transportation Office for the kindergarten students on their route. Drivers will receive two (2) hours route pay for fulfilling these
responsibilities.
 
Special Route Responsibilities: Special Needs Students and Other Mid-day Routes
 
Drivers who are assigned to a route transporting special needs students, or a mid-day route transporting students are
responsible for driving and checking their routes, preparing their route book, and contacting parents prior to the first day of
school. Drivers on these routes will receive two (2) hour’s route pay for fulfilling these responsibilities.
 
When drivers are regularly required to drive a different bus for their mid-day route, and the bus has not already been pre-
tripped, the driver will receive an additional fifteen (15) minutes per day to pre-trip, fuel and clean the bus.
 
Substitute Driver Contracts
 
A limited number of substitutes will be contracted substitute drivers. Pay will be only for days worked. Insurance and Public
Employee Retirement Fund (PERF) will be available after successful completion of probation.
 
Bus Driver Routes/Bidding
 
Seniority List
 



One (1) seniority list, including all bus drivers, shall be maintained and updated. The driver’s date of seniority will be determined
by his/her first day on the payroll with Elkhart Community Schools with a valid CDL license and working in a bus driver
classification. In the event more than one (1) driver starts on the same day, meeting the above requirements, seniority will be
determined by the date and time of application. Drivers employed prior to January 1, 2003, shall retain their seniority date
assigned by Transportation on December 31, 2002. When a driver’s employment is severed, the driver, should s/he be re-
employed, will be placed at the bottom of the seniority list.
 
Bidding on Routes and Equipment
 
Bidding on routes will be determined by the Director of Transportation with seniority as the key factor. When a route opens, it
will be posted within ten (10) working days. Only active drivers will be eligible to bid. Bids may be made for five (5) working
days. The route will be assigned and posted within fifteen (15) working days. Drivers will only be allowed to change routes twice
during a school year. If a route is discontinued while a driver is contracted, the driver will continue to be under contract at the
appropriate pay rate and shall bid on all posted positions of comparable pay until s/he is the successful bidder. If routes are
discontinued during the summer, the drivers will bid on the routes of drivers with the least seniority, and those drivers will be
placed, according to their seniority, at the top of the substitute list. Any mid-day runs and the fall loop (which begins in August)
are to be posted on May 1st or the next working day and are to stay up for five (5) working days. If the successful bidder does
not return as an active driver in the fall, the mid-day run or loop will be awarded to the next bidder in line. Any driver absence,
including those related to medical, family, and unpaid/excused reasons for a period extending beyond sixteen (16) workweeks,
will result in that route being posted for bidding, and any mid-day route coming open as the result of this, will be offered to the
next senior substitute driver.
 
Summer School and Mid-Day Routes
 
Notice for bidding on summer school and mid-day routes is to be posted on May 1st, or the next working day and is to stay up
for (5) working days. Eligibility for routes will be based on seniority. Assignment of routes will be determined by the Director of
Transportation. Drivers who are not awarded a mid-day route shall be placed on a list based on seniority and will be called to
substitute. If a mid-day route opens during the school year, the eligible driver with the highest seniority will be awarded a route.
Assignment will be determined by the Director of Transportation. Any route filled during the year will be considered open at the
time of bidding. Drivers whose regular route is six (6) hours or more will not be eligible to bid or drive as a substitute on mid-
day routes. Drivers’ who elected not to sign up for mid-day routes in May, will have the opportunity to sign up to work for the
remainder of the school year as a substitute driver, by seniority and qualification, only on mid-day routes. A driver with an
excessive number of refusals may be removed from consideration. A driver who is removed from the list shall receive written
notification of removal. Drivers who so qualify may sign up during the first five (5) working days in January. Substitute driving
opportunities will be awarded based upon driver seniority.
 
Fringe Benefits
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities 

The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax-sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board of
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

B. Insurance 

In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one (1) of
the plans provided by the Board. 

The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the
next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability
insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 
 

C. Severance Benefits 

Bus Drivers who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will
be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at least ten
(10) working days prior to the last date of employment. 
 

1. Resignation 



Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment. Payment for
unused personal leave shall be made at the rate of pay in effect at termination. The effective date of resignation
shall be established to include use of all personal leave. 
 

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability - The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Section 2-C. 
 

a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time
of retirement is age sixty (60) or older, and has ten (10) or more consecutive years; or who is age fifty-
five (55) or older, and has fifteen (15) or more years of employment in the Elkhart Community Schools.
Accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid employees who retire, die or become totally
permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools. In the event of death, the benefit
shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. Only the six (6) months service requirement must be met to be
eligible for the disability or death benefit. In addition, beginning in 1982, at the maximum rate of two (2)
days per year, accumulated days of unused sick leave will be paid as a part of this benefit. 

At the time of retirement, a Bus Driver shall receive pay for accumulated illness leave not to exceed two
(2) days per year up to a maximum of thirty (30) days or forty-five percent (45%) of accumulated illness
leave, whichever is greater. In the event of the death of a Bus Driver, while in the active employ of Elkhart
Community Schools, said payment should be made to the employee’s beneficiary. 
 

b. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools' group insurance plan for at least
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by paying
100% of the premiums in advance at the business office. 
 

D. Change in Support Staff Classification 

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy 3413S.

 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee's responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one (1) hour before the time that the employee
regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence will be made
at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay is
not to be received.)
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days' unexcused absences in any one (1) school year
shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the
appropriate administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or less
consecutive working days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Illness Absences and Leaves
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 
Drivers working four (4) hours or more per day will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness leave each
year. Unused personal illness/family illness leave can accumulate up to 160 days. For any driver who completes probation after
January 1, said benefits will be prorated accordingly.
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents,
parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents,
stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the
legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall
mean an individual whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean
any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 
Extended Paid Illness Absence:
 



Each contract year, a driver shall be eligible, upon submission of a written application to the Transportation Office, for extended
paid illness absence days according to the following:
 

A. Drivers will be eligible for additional extended absence days based upon the following formula. For each full year as a
driver, up to five (5) days to a maximum of fifty (50) days for ten (10) years. Drivers may use paid or unpaid benefit
days. 
 

B. These days shall be provided, after a similar qualifying period of five (5) working days per year to a maximum of fifty
(50) working days for ten (10) years, to any driver who has an extended illness absence for which medical verification
acceptable to the employer is provided. 
 

C. When an employee has a second extended illness absence, the qualifying factor will only be as great as five (5) times the
number of full years which has elapsed since the previous extended illness absence, with a minimum of five (5) working
days.

 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work following an illness.
 
Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave/Unpaid Leave Incentive Plan
 
For the purpose of the incentive program, the year will be from January 1st to December 31st.
 

A. If a contracted route driver does not use any of his/her Personal Illness days, Family Illness days, or unpaid time during
the year (excluding summer school), s/he will be given a payment of $600 on the following January. 
 

B. If a driver uses only one (1) of his/her Personal Illness days, Family Illness days, or unpaid time during the year
(excluding summer school), s/he will be given a payment of $400 on the following January. 
 

C. If a driver uses two of his/her Personal Illness days, Family Illness days, or unpaid time during the year (excluding
summer school), s/he will be given a payment of $200 on the following January. 
 

D. In order to be eligible for the incentive pay set out in A, B, or C, above, the driver must have been a contracted route
driver as of December 1st. If a driver is hired after December 1st, the incentive payment will be pro-rated on a
percentage of the workdays after the driver was employed. 
 

E. For the purpose of the incentive program, a personal illness or family illness day will be when a driver is absent for three
(3) or more hours. An absence of less than three (3) hours will be considered a half-day. Drivers absent one-half (½) day
will receive $500, one and one-half (1-1/2) days - $300, or two and one‑half (2‑1/2) days - $100. Unpaid time will follow
the same pattern (i.e. three (3) or more hours will be considered a day; less than three (3) hours will be considered a
half-day.

 
Job-Related Injury Leave
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate. The
employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits.
 
Bereavement
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family
for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the
death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively.
 
"Immediate family" shall mean employee's spouse, life partner (as defined elsewhere in this policy), children, siblings, parents,
parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents,
stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the
legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 



Bereavement shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the employee's
immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day's absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral of a
friend.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.
 
Military Leave
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge.
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay s/he shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave
 
Through the Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in
its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her
responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave - Procedure
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and
vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or 
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate
administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it
will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The
cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer.
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any
required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities.
Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible
for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.
 
Personal Leave
 



Drivers working four (4) hours or more per day will be provided with three (3) days of personal leave on January 1. Any driver
completing probation after January 1, said benefits will be prorated accordingly .
 
If an employee retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days
to the following year to equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall accumulate for
retirement at the end of the year. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the employee must
provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor.
 
If a Bus Driver does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave – Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee’s supervisor or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen
emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods
of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is
scheduled as a parent teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the
following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period. 
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking
said day. 
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be
granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency
exists, “emergency” shall be defined as an unforeseen event which prohibits the employee from attending to his or her
assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 

A. Jury Duty 

All classified employees will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence
shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check
shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll
check. 
 

B. Witness Duty 

In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before
a court of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time
during the working day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one (1)
case, shall result in no loss of wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant
additional days with pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of
his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to
witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given
in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any
other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. However, if the employee has been
named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as an ECS employee, such employee shall not be
subjected to the forgoing prohibition.

 
Parental Leave
 



A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human
Resources. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For
employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child
is expected in the home. In cases of emergency, the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested
for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable.
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer or waive any right to re‑employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group insurance
program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the Business
Office.
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave, the employee
must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to
the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.
 
Holidays and Vacations
 
Definitions
 
As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an employee who is employed on a school-year basis and works
approximately 175 or more days per year, and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours.
 
Holidays
 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 
School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when they occur on days which would have been
worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below:
 

A. Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
 

B. Presidents Day 
 

C. Memorial Day 
 

D. Labor Day 
 

E. Thanksgiving Day and the day following - two (2) days 
 

F. Christmas Day - if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following.

 
Labor Management Committee
 
Labor Management Committee: The drivers’ committee shall, upon request, have the right to meet on a monthly basis with the
Director of Transportation and, when necessary, the District Counsel/Chief of Staff. The committee shall provide the Director of
Transportation an agenda of topics to be discussed two workdays before meeting.
 
Revised 1/1/17 
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 12/18/18
Revised 7/23/19



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised BUS HELPERS’ WAGE SCHEDULE

Code po3422.04S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised December 10, 2019

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.04S - BUS HELPERS’ WAGE SCHEDULE
 
Wage Schedule
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for bus helpers to become effective January 1,
20212020.
 
In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools.
 

Step Elkhart Community Schools Experience as a Bus Helper Hourly Rate
   
1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days (probationary rate) 10.5610.26
   
2 55 days, but not more than one (1) year 11.2610.96
   
3 one (1) year or more, but less than two (2) years 11.9411.64
   
4 two (2) years or more, but less than three (3) years 12.6412.34
   
5 three (3) or more 13.3813.08

 
Bus helpers are primarily responsible for the safety of students while they are being transported to and from school
 
In the event a Bus Helper’s assigned route consists of three (3) separate runs in both the morning and the afternoon (i.e.
secondary/elementary/elementary or secondary/elementary/Head Start) the Bus Helper shall be entitled to a minimum of three
(3) hours pay in the morning and three (3) hours pay in the afternoon. This shall not be applicable to mixed runs (for example:
high school/middle school).
 
Career Increment Schedule
 

Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools Hourly Increment
  
five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20
  
ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30
  
fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50
  
twenty (20) or more years $.70

 
Summer School and Mid-day
 
Notice for bidding summer school and mid-day routes for helpers are to be posted on or about May 1st, or the next
working day, and it to stay up for five (5) working days. Eligibility for routes will be based on seniority. The amount of



time and duration shall be the helpers choice based on seniority. Helpers who are not awarded a mid-day route shall
be placed on a list based on seniority and will be called to substitute. If a summer school or mid-day route opens up,
the helper with the highest seniority who does not have a route shall be asked if they desire the route.
 
 
 
 
Fringe Benefits
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board of
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools.
 

B. Insurance
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one of the
plans provided by the Board. 
 

C. Severance Benefits
 
Bus Helpers who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will
be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at least ten
(10) working days prior to the last date of employment.
 

1. Resignation
 
Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment. Payment for
unused personal leave and vacation shall be made at the rate of pay in effect at termination. The effective date of
resignation shall be established to include use of all personal leave and unused vacation days.
 

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability - The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Section 2-C.
 

a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart
Community Schools. Only the six months service requirement must be met to be eligible for the disability
or death benefit.
 

b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible employees
who retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.
In the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent's estate. 
 

c. Upon retirement, a bus helper who has ten (10) years or more of service and who is age fifty-five (55) or
older is eligible to receive a payment equal to the greater of the following: 
 

1. One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools; or
 

2. Forty percent (40%) of the unused illness absence leave that has been accumulated by the
employee.
 

d. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools' group insurance plan for at least
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by paying
100% of the premiums in advance at the business office.
 

D. Change in Support Staff Classification

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy 3413S.



 
 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee's responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence
will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days
when pay is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days' unexcused absences in any one school year shall
be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the appropriate
administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or less consecutive working
days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Illness Absences and Leaves
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness leave each year.
 
"Immediate family" shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall mean an individual
whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean any person related
to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the number of hours equal to one hundred twenty
(120) work days. Use of accumulated sick leave by a school year employee terminates at the close of the school year. It cannot
be used again unless the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date.
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor's approval to return to work following an illness.
 
Job-Related Injury
 
An employee injured in the performance of his or her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required
to complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the
employer. Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate. The
employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave/Unpaid Leave Incentive Plan
 

A. If a Bus Helper does not use any of his/her Personal Illness days, Family Illness days, or unpaid time during the year
(excluding summer school), s/he will be given a payment of $600 on the following January.
 

B. If a Bus Helper uses only one of his/her Personal Illness days, Family Illness days, or unpaid time during the year
(excluding summer school), s/he will be given a payment of $400 on the following January.
 

C. If a Bus Helper uses two (2) of his/her Personal Illness days, Family Illness days, or unpaid time during the year
(excluding summer school), s/he will be given a payment of $200 on the following January. 
 

D. In order to be eligible for the incentive pay set out in A, B, or C, above, the Bus Helper must have been a contracted
route Helper as of December 1st. If a Bus Helper is hired after December 1st, the incentive payment ana,Geneva,sans-
serif;">Military Leave
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return



to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to
receive temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any
one (1) calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay
s/he shall present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem
pay will be made for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave,
the employee will be restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of
employment. 
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year
of service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a
physician’s statement. 
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health
reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance
of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to
continue participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s
own expense. 
 
Health Leave - Procedure
 
An employee with at least one year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave,
and vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has
been provided, or
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate
administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all
benefits, it will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination
by a physician. The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer.
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave,
and any required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job
responsibilities. Employment will be held for a period of up to one year. After the employee has been on leave for a year,
s/he will be eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.
 
Personal Leave
 
Bus Helpers are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during
each calendar year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the
appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
If an employee retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3)
days to the following year to equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall
accumulate for retirement at the end of the year. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the
employee must provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their
immediate supervisor.
 
If a Bus Helper does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave – Procedure



 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form
to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours
advance notice, the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation
periods of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that
day is scheduled as a parent teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies
with the following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to
the holiday or vacation period. 
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance
of taking said day.
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods
shall be granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an
emergency exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event which prohibits the employee from
attending to his or her assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 

A. Jury Duty
 
All Bus Helpers will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence
shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the
check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the
next payroll check.
 

B. Witness Duty
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony
before a court of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness
for the time during the working day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3)
days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.

 
For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with
substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty
check, a copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty
pay will be made from the next payroll check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any
litigation in which the employee is a party, or employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any
other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. However, if the employee has
been named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as an ECS employee, such employee
shall not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition.

 
 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of
Human Resources. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between
thirty (30) days after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of
the child. For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of
the date that the child is expected in the home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be
waived. Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by
the employer, or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any
group insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in
advance at the Business Office.
 



Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family
illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave
the employee must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for
adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child
is physically turned over to the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.
 
Holidays
 
Definitions
 
As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an employee who is employed on a school-year basis and
works approximately 175 or more days per year, and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 
 
Holidays
 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status the day before and after the holiday.
 
School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when they occur on days which would have
been worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below:
 

A. Martin Luther King Jr. Day
 

B. Presidents Day
 

C. Memorial Day
 

D. Labor Day
 

E. Thanksgiving Day and the day following - two (2) days
 

F. Christmas Day - if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday
following. 
 

Revised 1/1/17 
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 12/18/18



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised SUPPORT STAFF SALARY SCHEDULE (Maintenance Personnel)

Code po3422.05S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised June 23, 2020

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

Prior Revised Dates 12/10/2019

3422.05S - SUPPORT STAFF SALARY SCHEDULE (Maintenance Personnel)
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for maintenance personnel to be effective July 1,
20212020. In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools.
 
 Classification Hourly Wage Range
   
M-1 Plumber 29.30 29.00 – 35.7435.39

 
  M-2

 
  Electrician

 
29.30 29.00 - 35.7435.39

   
M-3 HVAC 29.30 29.00 – 35.7435.39

 
Range movement will be at the discretion of the Building Services Manager, but shall be at a rate which would move a person to
the top of the range in a three (3) to five (5) year period, unless job performance merits a greater or lesser increase. Such
performance shall be discussed with the employee when the increase is less than normal.
 
Any personnel in the maintenance department may be utilized in other areas of assignment on a temporary basis to effect an
efficient operation of the school system as determined by the employer.
 
Uniforms issued in the calendar year in which the employee leaves the Elkhart Community Schools shall be returned to the
Elkhart Community Schools. Upon request, up to three (3) uniforms per year will be issued.
 
In addition, a career increment will be paid as follows:
 
Career Increment Schedule
 

Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools Hourly Increment
  
five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20
  
ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30
  
fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50
  
twenty (20) or more years $.70

 
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 12/18/18
Revised 12/10/19



 

Table of Contents 

 

Article No.   Title      Page No. 

 1  Recognition       1 

 2  Definitions       1 

 3  School Operations      2 

 4  Probation Period      2 

 5  Work Week, Overtime, and Breaks    3 

 6  Transfer       3 

 7  Evaluation       4 

 8  Illness Absence      4  

 9  Bereavement       5 

 10  Personal Leave       5 

 11  Parental Leave       6 

 12  Adoptive Leave      6 

 13  Health Leave       7 

 14  Military Leave       7 

 15  Vacation Pay       8 

 16  Holiday Pay       8 

 17  Jury and Witness Duty Pay     9 

 18  Insurance       9 

 19  Severance Benefits      9 

 20  Retirement (Death or Disability) Benefits   10 

 21  Uniforms       10 

 22  Transportation Allowance     11 

 23  Payroll Deductions      11 

 24  Layoff and Recall Procedure     11 

 25  Affirmative Action      12 

 26  Withholding of Services     12 

 27  Complaints and Grievances     12 

 28  Severability Clause      14 

 29  Effect of Agreement and Effective Period   14 

   Appendix A - Maintenance Wages    15 

   Appendix B – Support Staff Grievance Form   16



1 
 

ARTICLE 1 

RECOGNITION 

 

A. The following represents the agreement with all members of the maintenance classification 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.  This agreement will be in effect from January 1, 

2020 2021 through December 31, 20202021. 

 

B. The following classifications are included in the maintenance unit: 

 

  Plumber 

  Electrician 

  HVAC 

   

 

ARTICLE 2 

DEFINITIONS 

 

As used in this Agreement: 

 

 1. "Full-time employee" means a person in the employment of the employer and in the 

maintenance unit as defined in Article 1 of this Agreement, and who is employed on a 

regular and definite basis for the calendar year. 

 

 2. "Calendar year" means a year beginning on January l and extending through the next 

succeeding December 31. 

 

 3. "Working day" - Monday through Friday shall be considered working days.  The time in a 

working day shall begin at midnight and end at midnight. 

 

 4. "Calendar day" - every day shall be considered to be a calendar day. 

 

 5. "Consecutive" - are days or years which follow one right after another. 

 

 6. "Board" means the Board of School Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools, Elkhart, 

Indiana. 

 

 7. "Employer" means the governing body of the Elkhart Community Schools and any person 

or persons authorized by the Board or Superintendent to act on behalf of the governing 

body in supervising its employees. 

 

8. "Immediate family" shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, 

parents, parents-in-law, brother- or sister-in-law, son- or daughter-in-law, 

grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any 

member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for 

whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising 

rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. 

 

9. “Life partner” – an individual whose close association with the employee is the 

equivalent of a family relationship. 

 

ARTICLE 3 

SCHOOL OPERATIONS 

 



2 
 

A. The employer reserves all rights as enumerated in the General School Powers Acts of 1965, and 

the Indiana Local Control Act, along with all amendments, unless they conflict with State and 

Federal law. 

 

B. Specifically, the employer shall have the authority to manage and direct in behalf of the public the 

operations and activities of this school corporation to the full extent authorized by law.  Such 

authority shall include but not be limited to the right of the employer to: 

 

 1. direct the work of its employees; 

 2. establish policy; 

 3. hire, promote,  evaluate, demote, transfer, assign and retain employees; 

 4. suspend or discharge its employees in accordance with applicable law; 

 5. maintain the efficiency of school operations; 

 6. relieve its employees from duties because of lack of work or other legitimate reason; 

 7. take whatever  actions are necessary to carry out the mission of the public schools as 

provided by law. 

 

C. The employer will not delegate its rights, its authority granted under the statutes of the State of 

Indiana, or its responsibilities to any employee group. 

 

D. The employer and the maintenance employees recognize that the provisions of this Agreement 

constitute limitations and are the only limitations upon the employer's right to manage the school 

system. 

 

E. The determination and administration of school and corporate policy, the operation and 

management of the schools, and the direction of employees, not inconsistent with the provisions 

of the Agreement, are vested exclusively with the employer. 

 

 

ARTICLE 4 

PROBATION PERIOD 

 

A. An employee shall prior to obtaining regular employment status serve a probationary period of 

employment, during which time such employee will receive a probationary salary pursuant to 

Appendix A of this Agreement.  Such probationary period shall normally be eight work weeks in 

length.  Based upon administrative recommendation, it may be extended for up to four (4) work 

weeks, or when performance is unsatisfactory, it may be shortened. 

 

 In the event the Board grants regular employment status, such employee shall become a regular 

employee upon completion of the probationary period, or such lesser period as the Board at its 

discretion may grant individual employees. 

 

B. Full-time employees who have been granted regular employment status shall be eligible for all 

benefits of this Agreement.  Probationary employees are not eligible to receive the benefits of this 

Agreement, unless specifically provided otherwise. 

  

 



3 
 

ARTICLE 5 

WORK WEEK, OVERTIME, AND BREAKS 

 

A. Working hours of all classified employees are established by the administrator who is the general 

supervisor and the employee's immediate superior. 

 

B. Any employee who has a change in the number of hours worked per day, other than a temporary 

change, shall have his or her benefits for the current year changed accordingly.  The increase or 

decrease shall be based upon the new number of hours worked per day. 

 

C. Overtime work is defined as time worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week. 

 

D. For all classified employees, pay for overtime work will be at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) 

times the employee's regular hourly rate. 

 

E. Determination of an employee's regular rate will be made according to the U.S. Department of 

Labor guidelines. 

 

F. An employee who is required to report to work to respond to an emergency outside of the 

employee’s regular work hours will be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours. 

 

G. An employee who is required to report to work on a Sunday, or on Thanksgiving Day, Christmas 

Day, or New Year’s Day shall be paid two (2) times his or her regular hourly rate of pay for each 

hour worked on such day(s).  This pay is in addition to holiday pay. 

 

 

ARTICLE 6 

TRANSFER 

 

A. Transfers between positions may be made either voluntarily or involuntarily. 

 

B. The Board agrees to post job vacancies which the Board decides to fill.  Any employee may bid in 

writing to the Director of Human Resources on any job posted.  Such posting will be for a 

minimum of five (5) workdays. If the Board determines it helpful or necessary to fill such job 

temporarily before the expiration of the posting period, it may do so.  A newly created position 

shall be considered to follow the same posting rules as a vacancy. 

 

C. In considering job bids, the Board agrees to consider seniority and ability as two of the basic 

factors in making a decision.  Ability shall include such considerations as work performance 

record, training, and dependability. 

 

D. In the event an employee is temporarily transferred to a higher paying job classification for a 

period of six (6) consecutive working days or more, the employee shall be paid the hourly wage 

rate of the new job classification.  Such payment shall be made as follows: 

 

 first five (5) consecutive working days worked in a new job classification-- hourly 

wage rate of immediately previous job classification.   

 sixth (6th) through tenth (10th) consecutive working days worked in new job 

classification-- hourly wage rate of new job classification, to be paid in a pay 

period following the accumulation of ten (10) consecutive working days in the 

new job classification. 



4 
 

 more than ten (10) consecutive working days worked in new job classification -- 

hourly wage rate of new job classification for each day worked over ten (10) 

consecutive working days.  At no time will this mean a reduction in a person's 

hourly rate of pay when filling a temporary assignment. 

 

 

ARTICLE 7 

EVALUATION 

 

Each maintenance employee shall be evaluated on an annual basis prior to July 1. A conference will be 

held by the Director of Building Services with the employee to discuss the evaluation. 

 

 

ARTICLE 8 

ILLNESS ABSENCE 

 

A. As used in this Article, physical disability means an employee's complete inability to perform any 

and every duty pertaining to his or her employment. 

 

B. Full-time classified personnel will be allowed the number of hours equal to one work day per 

month of employment for personal illness/family illness absence.  This will provide ninety-six 

(96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually. 

 

C. A full-time employee may accumulate unused personal illness absence days to a total of two 

hundred twenty (220) days as personal illness days. 

 

D. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and 

sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer.  The employee shall have the burden of 

proving that such absence was due to personal illness or physical disability.  The employer may 

require a physician's approval to return to work following an illness or disability. 

 

E. When an emergency medical condition of an employee's spouse, parent, or child necessitates 

personal care by the employee for an extended period of time, the employee may use up to ten 

(10) days of personal illness to provide such care. 

 

F.  Personal illness leave benefits shall not be allowed for any intentionally self-inflicted disability. 

 

G. An employee injured in the performance of his or her duties is eligible for Worker's 

Compensation.  The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the day of the 

injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.  Time required for 

the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of 

employment responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's compensation.  

Worker's Compensation benefits will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and 

two thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate or an employee may choose to 

use full days of available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits to receive 

full pay.  The employee's share of the health, life, and long term disability insurance premiums 

must be paid in advance to the business office or insurance will be terminated. 

 

H. All matters involving illness absence shall be in compliance with the terms of The Family and 

Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended. 

 

 

 



5 
 

PERSONAL ILLNESS LEAVE/FAMILY ILLNESS LEAVE INCENTIVE PLAN 

 

Beginning January 1, 2003, the following Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave incentive plan will 

be effective for all Maintenance Employees.  For the purpose of the incentive program, the year will be 

from December 1
st
 to November 30

th
. 

 

A. If a Maintenance Employee does not use any of his or her Personal Illness days or Family Illness 

days during the year, he or she will be given a payment of $525 on the following January. 

 

B. If a Maintenance Employee uses only one of his or her Personal Illness/Family Illness days during 

the year, he or she will be given a payment of $325 on the following January. 

 

C. If a Maintenance Employee uses two of his or her Personal Illness/Family Illness days during the 

year, he or she will be given a payment of $125 on the following January. 

 

D. In order to be eligible for the incentive pay set out in a., b., and c. above, the Maintenance 

Employee must have been employed as of December 1
st
.  If a Maintenance Employee is hired 

after December 1
st
, the incentive payment will be pro-rated on a percentage of the workdays after 

the Maintenance Employee was employed. 

 

E. For the purpose of the incentive program, a personal illness or family illness day will be when a 

Maintenance Employee is absent for three (3) or more hours.  Absence of less than three (3) hours 

will be considered a half-day.  Maintenance employees absent ½ day will receive $425; 1-1/2 

days, $225; or 2-1/2 days, $75. 

 

 

ARTICLE 9 

BEREAVEMENT 

 

A. Each employee shall be entitled to be absent without loss of compensation on account of a death, 

validated if requested, in the employee's immediate family for five (5) business days beyond the date 

of death.  Said days must be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the death of the 

immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively.  In the event more than one 

death in the employee's immediate family shall occur, the employee may be absent from work with 

pay for five (5) business days for each death.  Said days must be used by the employee within twelve 

(12) months of the second death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used 

consecutively. When requested, additional excused day(s) may be granted by the Superintendent 

with or without pay. 

 

B. Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be 

considered a death within the employee’s immediate family. 

B.C. Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of 

compensation, to attend the funeral of a friend. 

 

C.D. Up to one (1) day shall be granted with pay to attend the funeral of an employee's relative 

who is not a member of the employee's immediate family and not living in the same household. 

 

 

ARTICLE 10 

PERSONAL LEAVE 

 

A. Every regular classified employee is entitled to personal leave equivalent to the number of hours 

for three (3) regular working days, with pay each year.  Request for personal leave shall be made 



6 
 

by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the employee's 

supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of 

an unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give 

the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall notify the employer as soon as 

reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the written request shall be completed no later than 

the first day of return from the absence. 

 

B. If an employee retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the school year, he/she can roll two 

(2) of the three (3) days to the following year to equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining 

unused personal business day shall accumulate for retirement at the end of the year. In the event the 

employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the employee must provide thirty (30) calendar days 

written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor. 

 

C. If an employee elects not to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused 

personal leave will accumulate for retirement (death or disability) benefits pursuant to and as 

provided by Article 19 of this Agreement. 

 

D. Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of 

extending the school vacation periods of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer 

Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is scheduled as a parent teacher 

conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the 

following procedure: 

 

a. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business hours to extend a 

holiday or vacation period described above by exchanging two personal business hours 

for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

 

b. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) 

working days in advance of taking said day. 

 

 c.  All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately 

following vacation periods shall be granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or 

designee.  For the purpose of determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall 

be defined as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending to his or her 

assigned duties. 

 

 

ARTICLE 11 

PARENTAL LEAVE 

 

A. An employee shall notify her supervisor that she is pregnant and may continue working so long as 

she is able to complete all assigned responsibilities.  A leave may be requested to begin at any 

time and may not extend more than one year beyond the birth of the child. 

 

B. A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the 

employee to the Director of Human Resources.  The leave may be requested to begin any time 

within thirty (30) days after the date that the child is expected in the home.  Leaves may be 

requested for a period not to exceed one year, and are non-renewable. 

 

C. The employer will upon expiration of the leave, for the duration and the remainder of the then 

present calendar year, make reasonable efforts to place the employee in a mutually acceptable 

assignment.  The employee shall offer to return to the first position which becomes available for 

which she or he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-employment. 



7 
 

 

D. Provided the insurance policy so permits, the staff member may continue in any group insurance 

program for which she or he is eligible, at her or his own expense, by paying the full cost of 

premiums in advance, through payroll deduction or such other method or manner as prescribed by 

the employer. 

 

E. All matters involving illness absence shall be in compliance with the terms of The Family and 

Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended. 

 

 

ARTICLE 12 

ADOPTIVE LEAVE 

 

An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteen (6 18) years old shall be 

entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child.  In 

order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must notify the Director of Human Resources 

and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the 

application for adoption.  All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned 

over to the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 

 

 

ARTICLE 13 

HEALTH LEAVE 

 

A. An employee may, at the discretion of the Board, be granted a health leave, without pay, provided 

that the employee has been employed with the Elkhart Community Schools for a one-year period 

immediately prior to the employee's request for health leave.  Positions which become temporarily 

vacant due to a leave, may be filled on either a temporary or permanent basis during the leave. 

 

B. Requests for health leave without pay by an employee must be submitted in writing and be 

accompanied by a physician's statement certifying that the physical or mental health of the 

employee prevents the employee from successfully performing and completing his or her assigned 

duties and responsibilities. 

 

C. Health leaves without pay may be granted for a period of one year or less.  The Board, in its 

discretion, may assign an employee, with or without a request from such employee, a health leave; 

if in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful 

performance of his or her responsibilities. 

 

D. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in the hospital, major 

medical, and life insurance programs, in which the employee was enrolled as a regular employee, 

provided that the rules and regulations of the Master Insurance Policy permit such.  Such 

participation shall be at the employee's own expense.  The employee shall make any premium 

payments to the employer, at a date or dates specified by the employer, prior to the date the 

payments become due, in a method and manner as prescribed by the employer. 

 

 

ARTICLE 14 

MILITARY LEAVE 

 

Any employee who, as a reserve member of the Armed Forces of the United States, is called upon to 

receive temporary military training, shall be entitled to a temporary leave of absence from the employer, 

not to exceed fifteen (15) working days in any one (1) calendar year; provided, that such person is 



8 
 

required to provide the employer with evidence of the dates of his or her departure, and shall be required 

to furnish the employer upon his or her return, evidence of satisfactory completion of such training.  Such 

absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee has received the military pay he/she shall 

present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per 

diem pay will be made for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Any employee who 

involuntarily becomes an active member of the Armed Forces shall be entitled to a job offer following his 

or her honorable discharge from involuntary military service.  The employee shall agree to return to the 

first position which becomes available for which she or he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or 

waive any right to re-employment.  Upon his or her return, such employee shall be restored to his or her 

previous or similar position, with the same status as he or she held before leaving for his or her training 

period. 

 

ARTICLE 15 

VACATION PAY 

 

A. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart 

Community Schools for less than one (1) calendar year, shall be entitled to one (1) working day 

vacation with pay during the next calendar year, for each full month of employment completed, 

provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued. 

 

B. Full-time employees who have been employed for the full year beginning January 1 and ending 

December 31, are entitled to ten (10) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar 

year.  Full-time employees, who have been employed for six five (65) consecutive years prior to 

December 31, are entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar 

year.  Full-time employees employed for fifteen (15) or more consecutive years prior to December 

31 are entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.  Full-

time employees employed for twenty (20) or more consecutive years prior to December 31 are 

entitled to twenty-five (25) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 

 

C. Years will be considered "consecutive" when the employee was continuously employed by the 

Elkhart Community Schools for such period, without any interruption of service for other 

employment. 

 

D. If a person takes an unpaid leave, after sixty (60) days have elapsed, the additional time during the 

leave shall not be counted toward earned vacation days for the next year. Vacation days will be 

earned at the rate of one (1), one and one-half (1-1/2), or two (2) days per month depending upon 

consecutive years of employment for the employee.  The number of months worked during any 

year in which an unpaid leave was taken will be the basis for determining vacation days earned. 

 

 

ARTICLE 16 

HOLIDAY PAY 

 

A. Full-time maintenance personnel shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days 

which would have been worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below: 

 

   New Year's - two days   (1) 

   Martin Luther King Jr. Day 

   Presidents’ Day   (4) 

   Memorial Day 

   Independence Day - two days  (2) 

   Labor Day 

   Thanksgiving - two days  (3) 



9 
 

   Christmas - two days   (1) 

 In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and 

after the holiday. 

 

 1. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) days will be allowed as 

follows: 

 

  a. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, they shall be paid holidays, 

and a classified employee may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, 

select either but not both December 24 or December 26 as a holiday with pay, and 

may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both 

December 31 or January 2 as a holiday with pay.  To be eligible for either of the 

above selections, a classified employee must make such request to the immediate 

supervisor no later than December 10. 

  b. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, then both the Friday before 

and the Monday after shall be paid holidays, unless schools are open on one of 

these days, in which case an alternate day will be determined. 

 

 2. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday 

preceding or the Monday following the holiday, unless school is in session. 

 

 3. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 

 

 4. Presidents’ Day 

 

 

ARTICLE 17 

JURY AND WITNESS DUTY PAY 

 

Maintenance personnel will be granted absence for jury duty.  Such absence shall result in no loss of 

wages.  When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall be 

presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next 

payroll check.   

 

In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives 

testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted 

absence to witness for the time during the working day which the employee is required to be present.  

Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving 

extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with substitute 

deduction where applicable, or without pay.  When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty 

check, a copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to 

witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such 

testimony is given in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or employee relations related 

litigation involving the employer or of any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the 

employee to testify.  However, if the employee has been named as a party as a result of the employee’s 

performance of duties as an ECS employee, such employee shall not be subjected to the forgoing 

prohibition. 

 

 



10 
 

ARTICLE 18 

INSURANCE 

 

In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for 

each regular classified employee, working 30 or more hours per week, who is a member of the group 

hospitalization, major medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees.  

Eligible employees’ may select one of the plans provided by the Board.   

 

The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages 

rounded up to the next thousand dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium 

cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours 

per week. 

 

 

ARTICLE 19 

SEVERANCE BENEFITS 

 

A full-time maintenance employee who has completed a minimum of six (6) months continuous active 

service with the Elkhart Community Schools is eligible for severance benefits upon resignation from the 

Elkhart Community Schools with at least ten (10) working days notice.  When such notice is given, an 

employee shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment.  Vacation 

days earned in the current year shall also be paid.  Payment for unused personal leave and vacation shall 

be made at the rate of pay in effect at termination.  This payment shall be accomplished by establishing 

the effective date of resignation to include the above days. 

 

 

ARTICLE 20 

RETIREMENT (DEATH OR DISABILITY) BENEFITS 

The benefits in this article are in addition to those in Article 18 

 

A. A full-time employee who has completed a minimum of six (6) months continuous active service 

with the Elkhart Community Schools is eligible for benefits.  A maximum of forty (40) 

accumulated days of unused personal leave and vacation will be paid to an employee who retires, 

dies, or becomes permanently disabled, while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.  

Only the six months service requirement must be met to be eligible for the disability or death 

benefit.  In the event of death, benefits will be paid to the decedent's estate. To receive the 

retirement benefit, the employee must have completed ten (10) or more consecutive years of 

employment with the Elkhart Community Schools, and be sixty (60) years of age or over at the 

time of retirement.  The term "permanently disabled" means complete inability to continue or 

work in any job within the bargaining unit for an indeterminate period.  (Both unused and earned 

vacation will be paid.) 

 

B. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) 

years of service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group 

insurance plan for at least the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until 

age sixty-five (65) by paying one hundred percent (100%) of the premiums in advance at the 

business office. 

 

C. A maintenance employee who retires at age fifty-five (55) or older with ten (10) or more 

consecutive years of service, or a maintenance employee who dies with ten (10) or more 

consecutive years of service is eligible to select one of the following benefits based upon the 

employee’s daily rate at the time of retirement. 

 



11 
 

 1. One day's pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools, or 

 

 2. Forty-five percent (45%) of the unused sick leave will be paid. 

 

In the case of the death of an eligible employee, this benefit will be paid to the 

employee’s beneficiary. 

 

 

ARTICLE 21 

UNIFORMS 

 

A. An employee will receive three (3) shirts and three (3) pants, or three (3) dresses or pantsuits 

annually. Uniforms will be ordered annually after January 1.  Initial issue will be made at the 

completion of the probationary period, or as soon thereafter as is reasonably possible.  Employees 

may request up to three uniforms annually, but may request and will receive no more than are 

required for the particular assignment.  Any employee, other than a first year employee, may 

substitute T-shirts for regular shirts, with one extra T-shirt.  Any employee, after three years of 

employment, may substitute one (1) unlined uniform jacket for one (1) shirt and one (1) pant, or, 

one (1) lined uniform jacket for two (2) shirts and two (2) pants, or one (1) uniform cover-all for 

three (3) shirts and three (3) pants.  In the event a maintenance employee’s uniform becomes 

damaged (including damage resulting from excess wear and tear) the employee should notify the 

Director of Building Services/Designee and a replacement will be ordered.  

 

B. The uniforms will be worn properly by all employees while performing their assigned duties, and 

will not be worn at other employment.  T-shirts are only to be worn on non-school days and are 

not to be worn during scheduled school events.  Employer identification will be worn on the shirt 

or dress at the location prescribed by the employer. 

 

C. Employees will maintain a neat and clean personal appearance. 

 

 

ARTICLE 22 

TRANSPORTATION ALLOWANCE 

 

An employee who is directed by the superintendent, or his or her authorized designee, to travel and use 

the employee's personal vehicle in order to fulfill assigned duties shall be reimbursed at the rate as 

established by the Board of School Trustees for required employee travel.  This does not apply for travel 

from the employee's residence to the initial place of assignment and from the last place of assignment 

back to the employee's residence for either regular or extra duty assignments.  The employee must 

complete a logbook provided by his or her supervisor showing dates, nature of business, points of origin 

and destination, odometer readings, and submit the appropriate claim form to the Business Office.  Such 

travel must be approved by the employer in advance of such travel. 

 

 

ARTICLE 23 

PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS 

 

A. Upon appropriate written authorization from an employee, the employer shall deduct from the 

check of that employee and make appropriate remittance for United Way, an annuity program, 

credit union, and insurance. 

 

B. To cancel any of these previously authorized deductions, the employee shall notify the employer 

in writing of such desire. 



12 
 

 

C. The Board agrees to make available a Section 125 Flexible Benefit Plan.  This plan will include 

insurance premiums only and will be effective January 1, 1991.  This plan will be expanded to 

include other options at some future time. 

 

ARTICLE 24 

LAYOFF AND RECALL PROCEDURE 

 

A. In the event of a general layoff involving a number of employees, probationary employees shall be 

released before regular employees, within the same job classification as listed in Appendix A.  In 

the event regular employees are laid off, the employer agrees to consider seniority, within each job 

classification as listed in Appendix A, as the primary factor in making its decision as to which 

regular employees are to be laid off. 

 

B. In the event such employees are to be recalled, regular employees shall be offered employment 

before probationary employees within the same job classification, provided that such employees 

have on file in the Human Resources Office the address to which such offer of re-employment 

may be sent, and provided further that such recall rights cease after thirty-six (36) months from the 

date of layoff.  In the event regular employees are recalled, the employer agrees to consider 

seniority within each job classification as listed in Appendix A, as the primary factor in making its 

decision as to which regular employees are to be recalled. 

 

 

ARTICLE 25 

AFFIRMATIVE ACTION 

 

The affirmative action program and other state and federal employment regulations imposed upon the 

employer by any legislative body or court of law shall take precedence over this Agreement when in 

conflict. 

 

 

ARTICLE 26 

WITHHOLDING OF SERVICES 

 

A. The maintenance unit and any and all employees therein shall not cause, engage in or sanction any 

strike, slow-down, or other concerted action during the term of this Agreement.  Nor shall there be 

any strike or interruption of work during the term of this Agreement because of any dispute or 

disagreement between any other persons (or other employees or unions) who are not signed 

parties to this Agreement. 

 

B. The maintenance unit and any and all employees agree that for the term of this Agreement it shall 

not cause, engage in or sanction any unlawful picketing or other unlawful public demonstration. 

 

 

 ARTICLE 27 

 COMPLAINTS AND GRIEVANCES 

 

A. DEFINITIONS 

 

 1. A "Complaint" is an informal oral claim by a classified employee of improper, unfair, 

arbitrary or discriminatory treatment. "Complaints" shall be processed through the 

Informal Grievance Procedures as herein set forth. 

 



13 
 

 2. A "Grievance" is an allegation by a classified employee that there has been 

 

 a. A misinterpretation, or arbitrary, or discriminatory application, or a failure to act 

pursuant to, the written policies of the Board related to the terms and conditions of 

employment; or 

 b. A misapplication or violation by the Board of state or federal law which affects 

school employees: or 

 

 c. A serious violation, as defined in said act, of the Indiana Occupational Safety and 

Health Act, I.C. 1971, 22-8-1.1-50. 

 

B. INFORMAL GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

 

 1. The Informal Grievance Procedure shall be used for hearing "Complaints". 

 

 2. The Informal Grievance Procedure shall be used before a classified employee may proceed 

to the Formal Grievance Procedure. 

 

 3. Within ten (10) working days of the time a "Complaint" or "Grievance" arises, the 

classified employee will orally present the "Complaint" or "Grievance" to the 

administrator who is his or her immediate supervisor. 

 

 4. Within five (5) working days after presentation of the "Complaint" or "Grievance", the 

immediate supervisor shall give his or her answer orally to the classified employee. 

 

C. FORMAL GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE - Step One 

 

 1. Within five (5) working days of the oral answer, if a "Grievance" is not resolved, the 

"Grievance" shall be stated in writing, signed by the grievant, and lodged with the 

administrator who is his or her immediate supervisor on the proper form. 

 

 2. The "Statement of Grievance" shall name the grievant involved, shall state the specific 

facts giving rise to the "Grievance", shall identify by appropriate reference all Board 

policies and laws alleged to be violated, shall state the contention of the grievant with 

respect to these provisions, and shall indicate specific relief requested. 

 

 3. Within five (5) working days after receiving the "Grievance", the immediate supervisor 

shall communicate his or her answer in writing to the grievant. 

 

D. FORMAL GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE - Step Two 

 

 1. If the "Grievance" is not resolved at Step One, the grievant may, within ten (10) working 

days of receipt of the immediate supervisor's answer, submit to the District Counsel/Chief 

of Staff the written "Statement of Grievance" signed by the grievant. A copy shall be given 

to the immediate supervisor at the same time. 

 

 2. The District Counsel/Chief of Staff and/or his or her designated representative shall meet 

with the grievant and/or his or her representative and shall have ten (10) working days to 

answer the "Grievance" in writing. 

 

E. FORMAL GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE - Step Three 

 



14 
 

 1. If the "Grievance is not resolved at Step Two, the grievant may within ten (10) working 

days of receipt of the District Counsel/Chief of Staff's answer, submit the "Statement of 

Grievance" to the Superintendent for review by the Superintendent and the Board. If the 

Superintendent and the Board request that further investigation is necessary, the grievant 

may appear in person before the Superintendent and Board and state his or her position.  

The District Counsel/Chief of Staff at such time may be present and represent the 

administration's position. 

 

 2. The Superintendent or the Board will provide the employee with a final written answer to 

the "Grievance" within thirty (30) working days after receipt of the "Statement of 

Grievance". 

 

F. If the grievance arises from an action of authority higher than the immediate supervisor, the 

employee may present such grievance within ten (10) working days of the time the grievance 

arises at Step Two of this procedure. 

 

 

ARTICLE 28 

SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 

 

If any provision of this Agreement or any application of the Agreement to any employee or group of 

employees should be found contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction from whose final 

judgment or decree no appeal has been taken within the time provided for doing so, or to any rule or 

regulation of the State Department of Public Instruction from which rule or regulation no appeal has been 

taken within the time provided for doing so, then such provision or application shall be deemed invalid 

except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions hereof shall continue in full force and 

effect. 

 

 

ARTICLE 29 

EFFECT OF AGREEMENT AND EFFECTIVE PERIOD 

 

A. This Agreement shall constitute the full and complete understandings and commitments between 

the parties.  The parties agree that all negotiable items have been discussed during the negotiations 

leading to this Agreement and, therefore, agree that negotiations will only be re-opened on 

Appendix A for the second year of this agreement.  Negotiations will not be reopened on any item 

whether contained herein or not, during the life of this Agreement. 

 

B. All conditions of employment in effect in the district prior to and at the time this Agreement is 

signed are null and void.  This Agreement terminates and supersedes all past practices, 

agreements, procedures, traditions, and rules or regulations concerning all rights and benefits of 

employment, whether covered herein or not. 

 

C. This Agreement is made and entered into at Elkhart, Indiana, by and between the Board of School 

Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools and the maintenance employees of the Elkhart 

Community Schools.  This Agreement shall be effective as of January 1, 20202021, and will 

continue through December 31, 20202021. 

 

D. This Agreement was approved by the teams listed below as representatives of the Board of School 

Trustees and the maintenance employees. 



15 
 

 Appendix A 

Board Policy 3422.05S 

 

3422.05S - SUPPORT STAFF SALARY SCHEDULE (Maintenance Personnel) 

The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for maintenance personnel to 

be effective July 1, 20212020. In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will 

be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools. 

 
Classification Hourly Wage Range 

M-1 Plumber 29.30 29.00 – 35.74 35.39 

  M-2   Electrician 29.30 29.00 - 35.74 35.39 

M-3 HVAC 29.30 29.00 – 35.74 35.39 

Range movement will be at the discretion of the Building Services Manager, but shall be at a rate 

which would move a person to the top of the range in a three (3) to five (5) year period, unless job 

performance merits a greater or lesser increase. Such performance shall be discussed with the employee 

when the increase is less than normal. 

Any personnel in the maintenance department may be utilized in other areas of assignment on a 

temporary basis to effect an efficient operation of the school system as determined by the employer. 

Uniforms issued in the calendar year in which the employee leaves the Elkhart Community Schools 

shall be returned to the Elkhart Community Schools. Upon request, up to three (3) uniforms per year 

will be issued. 

In addition, a career increment will be paid as follows: 

Career Increment Schedule 

Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools Hourly Increment 

five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20 

ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30 

fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50 

twenty (20) or more years $.70 

 

June 23, 2020November 24, 2020 

Revised 12/12/17 

Revised 12/18/18 

Revised 12/10/19 



16 
 

Appendix B 

 
SUPPORT STAFF GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM – ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATION GBM 

 
 

STEP ___________ 

 

Step I  — Immediate Administrative Supervisor 

 Step II  — District Counsel/Chief of Staff 

 Step III  — Superintendent and Board 

 

====================================================================== 

Building    Assignment   Name of Grievant  Date Filed 

 

________________________________________________________________________ ______ 

 STATEMENT OF GRIEVANCE 

 

A. Employee(s) involved 

 

 

 

 

 

B. Specific facts giving rise to grievance 

 

 

 

 

 

C. Section or Provisions of Board Policy or laws alleged to have been violated 

 

 

 

 

 

D. Specific relief requested 

 

 

 

 

 

___________________________ _________________________________________ 

Date     Signature of Grievant 

 

 

 

 

___________________________ _________________________________________ 

Date received by employer  Signature of Administrator 

 

c: Immediate Supervisor 

 

July 1993 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised SECRETARIAL/BUSINESS COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.06S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised January 14, 2020

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.06S - SECRETARIAL/BUSINESS COMPENSATION PLAN
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for secretaries commencing January 1, 20212020. In addition, the three percent
(3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools.
 

  II II.3 II.6 III III.3 III.6 IV IV.3 IV.6 V

1
0 –
55
days

12.1911.89 12.3912.09 12.6212.32 12.8312.53 13.1412.84 13.4713.17 13.7913.49 14.3014.00 14.7614.46 17.0716.77

2

55
days
– 1
year

12.4812.18 12.7212.42 13.0112.71 13.3013.00 13.7513.45 14.2013.90 14.6514.35 15.1114.81 15.5715.27 17.8917.59

3
1
year
plus

12.8312.53 13.1512.85 13.4713.17 13.7913.49 14.2513.95 14.7214.42 15.0614.76 15.5215.22 16.0415.74 18.3718.07

4
2
years
plus

13.3013.00 13.7513.45 14.2013.90 14.6514.35 15.0314.73 15.4215.12 15.8415.54 16.3016.00 16.7916.49 19.1018.80

5
3
years
plus

13.7913.49 14.2313.93 14.6514.35 15.0714.76 15.5715.27 16.1415.84 16.6716.37 17.1416.84 17.6217.32 19.9419.64

6
4
years
plus

14.6514.35 15.0314.73 15.4215.12 15.8415.54 16.3416.04 16.9016.60 17.4517.15 17.9317.63 18.4018.10 20.7120.41

7
5
years
plus

15.0614.76 15.5715.27 16.1415.84 16.6716.37 17.3117.01 17.9517.65 18.5718.27 19.0318.73 19.5219.22 21.8321.53

 
*subject to Sections B-1 and B-2 of this policy.
 
Those secretaries who work in the evening on a regular basis shall be paid an additional twenty-five cents ($.25) per hour for evening hours.
 
Secretarial Classifications
 
The following job classifications will be in effect for the wage schedule listed above, subject to other sections of this policy:
 
Classifications
 

V Secretarial Business

Classified Human Resources Assistant 
Administrative Assistant to Superintendent/Board of School 
     Trustees

Certified Payroll
Classified Payroll
Insurance
 

IV Secretarial Business
Director of Career & Technical Ed.
High School Principal
Secretary/Human Resources

Building Services Office Manager
Payroll Assistant
Director of Business Operations



Data Specialist – Instructional Leadership EACC – WVPE Office Manager
Director of Transportation
Mail Room/Duplicating      

III Secretarial Business
EACC Principal
EACC Central Office/Guidance/Accounting
Elementary Principal
High School Athletics/Student Activities
High School Vice-Principal
High School Registrar
Middle School Principals
Elkhart Academy
Student Services Secretary (5 positions)
Receptionist
Library Services (CO)
*Federal Programs
Instructional Leadership
 

Business Office/Purchasing
Cafeteria
Building Services Supply Coordinator
Director of Food Services
Safety & Security
Mail/Copy Center
 

II Secretarial Business
Adult & Community Ed. Data Entry
Adult & Community Ed. Receptionist
Office Assistants
High School Assistant Principal
High School Media Center
Middle School Assistant
 

EACC- Office
PACE Program
Teenage Parent Program
Clerical Asst. / Food Service (MHS)

 
*Subject to reclassification if this position becomes funded from the General Fund.
 
There will be an increase equal to the base increase for any secretary who by placement of the classifications listed in A of this section would receive less
than the base increase raise.
 

A. Commencement of Employment
 
Upon a secretary’s commencement of employment with the Elkhart Community Schools, such secretary may, at the discretion of the
superintendent/authorized designee, be placed at any of the first six (6) steps of the salary schedule. The secretary will serve a fifty-five (55)
calendar day probationary period.
 
A secretary will proceed to the next step when she/he accumulates the time normally required to qualify for progression to the next step of the wage
schedule, unless performance is such that the immediate supervisor recommends the step movement be withheld. This recommendation shall be
made at the end of the probationary period of no more than eight (8) weeks, nor fewer than six (6) weeks, prior to the anniversary date of the
secretary in question.
 

B. Transfer of Job Classification
 
At the discretion of the employer, a secretary may be assigned to fill another secretarial position vacancy without the need to post the vacancy, so
long as both positions are within the same department, and both positions are in the same job classification. In the event that a secretary transfers
from one job classification to another, the secretary will normally be placed on probation in the new position, but will continue to receive benefits.
The provisions as written above shall be applicable except when a presently employed secretary who is at the top step is transferred, and in that
case, the transferred secretary may be placed at her/his present step position by the Director of Human Resources. 
 

C. Reclassification of Positions
 
The administration retains the authority to reclassify positions when it determines that it is in the best interest of the Corporation.
 
In addition, the Secretarial Negotiations Committee may, during their annual discussions with the administration, propose reclassification of
secretarial positions. 
 

D. Secretarial Career Increment Schedule 

The amounts as listed will be added to the salary of any secretary whose years of employment in the Elkhart Community Schools would qualify for
such. 
 
Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools Hourly Increment
  
five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20
  
ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30
  
fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50
  
twenty (20) or more $.70

 
Mentor Program
 



Effective January 1, 2020, any secretary who is assigned to serve as a mentor shall be given a stipend of $600 per calendar year. Mentors shall be assigned
at the sole discretion of the Director of Human Resources at the time a secretary is assigned to a new position.
 
Fringe Benefits
 
Income Protection and Annuities
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax-sheltered annuities. This is
done by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools.
 
Insurance
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified employee, working thirty (30)
or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School
Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one of the plans provided by the Board.
 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand dollars. The Board will
contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per
week.
 
Severance Benefits
 
Secretarial employees who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible for the
following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at least ten (10) working days prior to the last date of
employment.
 

A. Resignation
 
Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment. Vacation days earned in the current year shall also
be paid to full-time employees. Payment for unused personal leave and vacation shall be made at the rate of pay in effect at termination. The
effective date of resignation shall be established to include use of all personal leave and unused vacation days. 
 

B. Retirement, Death, or Disability - The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Section A.
 

1. As used in this section, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by a secretarial employee who is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more
consecutive years of employment; or who is fifty-five (55) years of age or older and has fifteen (15) or more consecutive years of
employment; or who is fifty (50) years of age or older and has twenty (20) consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart Community
Schools.
 

2. The Board will contribute $3,000 per year to be applied to the single or family plan insurance premium until age sixty-five (65) for each
secretary, age sixty (60) or beyond, who retires with notice received in the office of the Superintendent three (3) months in advance. In the
event of an emergency, relief from the required three (3) month notice may be granted at the Superintendent’s discretion.
 
In addition, for the secretary who has fifteen (15) years of experience, is age fifty-five (55), and has been participating in the group health
and life insurance program for at least the last five (5) years, the employee, by paying one hundred percent (100%) of the annual premium
until age sixty (60), and by paying $1,250 less than one hundred percent (100%) of the annual premium until age sixty-five (65), may
continue in the group insurance plan until age sixty-five (65).
 
Also, this benefit will be discontinued if the retired secretary becomes employed on a full-time school year or calendar year basis, or if
through other employment qualifies for health insurance benefits. The employer reserves the right to request the employment status of the
retired secretary. 
 

3. A retiring secretary will be paid his/her daily rate multiplied times the number of years of service in the Elkhart Community Schools.
 

4. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to a secretarial employee who retires, dies or becomes
totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools. Vacation days earned in the current year shall also be paid
prior to retirement, or upon disability termination or death of the employee. In the event of death, the above benefit shall be paid to the
decedent’s estate.
 

5. In addition to the above benefits, the actual number of days of accumulated sick leave, not to exceed a maximum of twelve (12) days or
forty-five percent (45%) of the accumulated sick leave days, whichever is greater, shall be paid to a secretarial employee at the time of
retirement, or to the secretary’s beneficiary in the event of the death of a secretary eligible for retirement.

 
Change in Support Classification
 
When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect. Years of accrued service and
accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy 3413S.
 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as
possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee regularly reports for work, except for bus drivers, who
should give at least one hour’s notice. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence will be made at the daily
rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay is not to be received.) 
 



All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all classified personnel in addition to
the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an
employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days’ unexcused
absences in any one (1) school year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the
appropriate administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five (5) or less consecutive working days may be
approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Absences and Leaves Personal/Family Illness Absence Full-time Secretaries
 
Full-time secretaries will be allowed the number of hours equal to one (1) workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness absence.
This will provide ninety-six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually. Unused personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to
a total of the number of hours equal to 215 days as personal illness days.
 
School-year Secretaries
 

A. Regular school year classified employees will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness leave each calendar year.
 

B. Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 150 workdays. Use of accumulated sick
leave by a school year employee terminates at the close of the school year. It cannot be used again unless the employee is employed for the
following school year or employed at a later date.

 
All Secretaries
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor's approval to return to work following an illness.
 
Family Illness Leave
 

A. As used in this section, “immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any member of the family unit
living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights
authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall mean an individual whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a
family relationship. “Family unit” shall mean any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee
is the legal guardian. 
 

B. A secretary shall be entitled to the number of hours equal to two (2) paid days for family illness leave per calendar year, provided that such leave
shall be for the sole purpose to care for a member of the secretary’s immediate family who becomes seriously ill and requires both medical attention
by a licensed physician and the care and attention of the secretary. Such medical attention provided may be requested to be verified by a licensed
practicing physician. Unused family illness will accumulate as illness absence.
 

C. When an emergency medical condition of an employee’s immediate family necessitates personal care by the employee for an extended period of
time (days), the employee may annually use tenfive (105) or less days of personal illness to provide such care. This is in addition to family illness
provisions already provided.

 
Job-Related Injury
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker’s Compensation. The employee is required to complete an injury report form
on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer. Time required for the employee to recuperate from any
personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker’s Compensation. Worker’s
Compensation benefits will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee’s average wage
rate. The employee’s share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be terminated. An
employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits.
 
Personal Leave
 
Secretarial/Business staff members are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar
year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report
for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
If an employee retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days to the following year to
equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall accumulate for retirement at the end of the year. In the event the
employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days the employee must provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice requesting the use of said
consecutive days to their immediate supervisor. If a secretary does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused
personal leave will accumulate for retirement.
 
Secretarial/Business Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or
authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which
makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such
is the case, the written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
For less than twelve (12) month secretaries, except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school
vacation periods of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is scheduled as a
parent-teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the following procedure:
 



A. Once every three (3) years, an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by exchanging
two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period.
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day.
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon approval
of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event
that prohibits the employee from attending to his/her assigned duties.

 
For twelve (12) month secretaries, personal business leave may be taken at any time upon the approval of the supervisor or authorized designee.
 
No personal leave will be granted for participation in any strike or work stoppage or other concerted action by an employee or employee group.
 
Attendance Incentive Program
 
For the purpose of this attendance incentive program, the year will run from January 1st through December 31st.
 
During the month of January, any secretary who has perfect attendance throughout the prior year, other than vacation, bereavement, or personal leave,
shall be paid the sum of $500. Any employee who is absent for any reason for five (5) or less days throughout the prior year, other than vacation,
bereavement, or personal leave days, shall be paid the sum of $250.
 
Bereavement
 
Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family for five
(5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the death of the immediate family
member, but do not have to be used consecutively. 
 
“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law,
grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any
person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. 
 
Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the employee’s immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
A secretary shall be entitled to up to one (1) paid day per year, to be taken in increments of no less than two (2) hours for an absence, to attend the
funeral of a close friend, upon the condition that the requested absence must not create a serious problem in the secretary’s work setting. 
 
Military Leave
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be
required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable
discharge.
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military
training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of
wages. When the employee has received the military pay s/he shall present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction
equal to the per diem pay will be made for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the
employee will be restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of service. Requests for health leave
by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s statement.
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical
or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any
insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave – Procedure
 
An employee with at least one year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed
on a health leave.
 

A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for
termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The cost of any such examination will be paid by



the employer.
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities. Employment will be held for
a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is
qualified becomes available.
 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 

A. Jury Duty
 
All secretaries will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When
the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction
equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll check.
 

B. Witness Duty 

In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court of law or
governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the working day which the employee is
required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages. For cases involving extended absence
to witness, the Superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee
is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty
pay will be made from the next payroll check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any litigation in which the employee is
a party, or employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee
to testify. However, if the employee has been named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as an ECS employee, such
employee shall not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition.

 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human Resources. In the event the
employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the
pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty
(30) days of the date the child is expected in the home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be
requested for a period not to exceed one year, and are non-renewable.
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to
re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own
expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office.
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the
primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must notify the Director of Human Resources and the
employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the
date the child is physically turned over to the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.
 
Holidays and Vacations
 
Definitions
 

A. As used in this policy, the term "full-time employee" means an employee who is employed on a twelve (12) month basis and who has a regular
workday of four (4) or more hours.
 

B. As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an employee who is employed on a school-year basis and works approximately 175
or more days per year, and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours.

 
Holidays
 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status the day before and after the holiday.
 

A. Full-time employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when they occur on days which would have been worked if it were not for that special
day, subject to the provisions below: 
 
New Year’s - two (2) days (See Sec. A.1.)
  
Martin Luther King Jr. Day  
  
Presidents’ Day (See Sec. A.4.)
  
Memorial Day  
  
Independence Day - two (2) days (See Sec. A.2.)
  
Labor Day  



  
Thanksgiving - two (2) days (See Sec. A.3.)
  
Christmas - two (2) days (See Sec. A.1.)
 

1. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) days will be allowed as follows:
 

a. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee may, subject to approval
of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both, December 24 or December 26 as a holiday with pay, and may, subject to
approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both, December 31 or January 2 as a holiday with pay. To be eligible for
either of the above selections, a classified employee must make such request to the immediate supervisor no later than December 10.
 

b. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, then both the Friday before and the Monday after shall be paid holidays, unless
schools are open on one (1) of these days, in which case an alternate day will be determined.
 

2. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following, unless school is in
session.
 

3. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays.
 

4. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holiday.
 

B. School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if it were not for
that special day, subject to the provisions above: 
 
Martin Luther King Jr. Day  
  
Presidents’ Day  
  
Memorial Day  
  
Labor Day  
  
Thanksgiving - two (2) days (See Sec. A.3.)
  
Christmas - one (1) day (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be paid holiday on the Friday
preceding or the Monday following.

 
Vacations
 

A. A full-time employee, who has, as of December 31, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one (1) calendar year, shall be
entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the calendar year, for each full month of employment completed, provided no more than
ten (10) vacation days may be accrued. Vacation benefit may not be utilized prior to accrual and approval from Administrator.
 

B. A full-time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for that entire calendar
year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

C. A full-time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for fivesix (56) consecutive
years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 
 

D. A full-time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for fifteen (15) consecutive
years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

E. A full-time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for twenty (20) consecutive
years, is entitled to twenty-five (25) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption of service did not include other employment.
 

G. For the sole purpose of determining vacation benefit eligibility; employees who transfer from a school-year position to a twelve (12) month position
will be granted years of service based on the following conversion formula. NOTE: the years of service conversion is only applicable for the
purpose of vacation benefits. This computation does not replace the total years of service invested with Elkhart Community Schools for the
purposes of Retirement benefits or Staff Recognition.
 
The employee’s employment record with Elkhart Community Schools for all positions held will be considered. Using the number of paid hours per
day, multiplied by the number of paid days per school year, divided by 2080 to obtain the number of years equivalent to a twelve (12) month
position. The total number of equivalent years will be rounded up to nearest whole number.
 
The calculated number of years of service will be used in determining the total number of day’s vacation which such full-time employee is entitled to
receive under this policy. The employee will receive the total amount of awarded vacation days effective the January following their date of
conversion. Prior to completing one (1) full year of service, the employee will be entitled to a prorated amount of vacation days based on the
calculation formula referenced in the paragraph above. 
 

H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the immediate supervisor prior to the first day of requested vacation, and shall be
subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor.
 



When vacation days for secretaries have been requested and approved but are not able to be used due to administrative directive, an extension of
up to three (3) months will be granted for the use of such day(s).
 

I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months beyond.
 

J. A school-year employee will not be entitled to paid vacation days.

 
Revised 1/10/17
Revised 3/28/17
Revised 5/23/17
Revised 7/25/17
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 2/17/18
Revised 5/8/18
Revised 11/13/18
Revised 12/18/18
Revised 3/12/19
Revised 12/10/19



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised EXECUTIVE ASSISTANTS’ SALARY SCHEDULE

Code po3422.07S

Status

Adopted December 20, 2016

Last Revised January 14, 2020

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.07S - EXECUTIVE ASSISTANTS’ SALARY SCHEDULE
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for Executive Assistant positions, effective January 1,
20212020. In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools.
 
Annual Base Salary Amount
 
Each year the Superintendent and/or his/her designee(s), and the Executive Assistants on this schedule shall meet and
determine a recommendation to the Board regarding the annual base salary and policy changes affecting these staff members.
The year shall be January 1 to December 31.
 
Salary Factor Range and Review
 

A. Each Executive Assistant shall be assigned a salary factor range which shall serve as a range for salaries applicable to
that given position. This salary factor range is intended to reflect the actual degree of responsibility in a particular
assignment, as well as the expected minimal amount of time required to perform the responsibilities. Such salary factor
range takes into account both qualitative and quantitative aspects of a particular assignment. 
 
Salary Factor Range* Assignment
 
.80 - .97 Executive Assistant to District Counsel/Chief of Staff
  
.80 - .97 Executive Assistant/Human Resources
  
.80 - .97 Executive Assistant/Student Services
  
.80 - .97 Executive Assistant/Instructional Leadership
  
* Apply factor to base amount of $57,45556,555

Upon an individual's assignment as an Executive Assistant, the Director of Human Resources, with input from the
Superintendent and the staff member's immediate supervisor, shall:
 

1. determine "recognized" previous experience in the Elkhart Community Schools.
 

2. determine the staff member’s placement on the salary factor range on the basis of previous experience in the
Elkhart Community Schools and other experience and training. 
 

B. The placement on the salary factor range shall be reviewed annually by the immediate supervisor(s) of the Executive
Assistant and any recommendation for change shall be submitted to the Superintendent for review and a final decision
regarding range placement.
 



C. Any Executive Assistant, acting in his or her own behalf, may appeal the established salary factor or the salary factor
range. Such appeal shall first be made to the staff member's immediate supervisor(s). If said appeal results in an
unsatisfactory decision to the appellant, then an appeal may be made to the Superintendent. The Superintendent's
decision shall be final.

 
Performance Award
 
Executive Assistant’s will be eligible for an annual performance award up to $1,000. The performance award will be based upon
the Executive Assistant’s accomplishments in the performance of duties exceeding normal expectations. Administrators who
supervise Executive Assistants are to make a recommendation to the Superintendent for an award. All awards must be approved
by the Superintendent prior to payment.
 
Insurance
 

A. Health
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one of the
plans provided by the Board. 
 

B. Life
 
All Executive Assistants shall be provided a group term life insurance policy with a face value equal to the annual salary
of each staff member rounded up to the next thousand dollars multiplied by two (2). The Board will pay ninety percent
(90%) of the annual cost of the insurance.
 
The retiring Executive Assistants may participate in the group term life insurance policy through age seventy (70) (with
the exception that such coverage shall not include accidental death or dismemberment) in a face amount as indicated in
the preceding paragraph by paying one hundred percent (100%) of the group rate premium in excess of that provided in
Section 4, Retirement Benefits, paragraph B, Life Insurance.
 

C. Disability
 
All Executive Assistants who qualify shall be provided a long term disability insurance policy. Such policy will provide
payment of not less than sixty-six and two thirds (66 2/3) percent of salary after a waiting period of ninety (90) calendar
days of disability. The Board will pay ninety percent (90%) of the annual cost of the insurance.
 

D. Liability - Automobile

The employer shall provide primary liability insurance coverage for Executive Assistants who drive school corporation
automobiles while performing job duties and responsibilities and secondary liability insurance coverage for Executive
Assistants who drive their personal automobiles while performing job duties and responsibilities. Such secondary
coverage will begin above the minimum liability required by law or after the executive secretary's liability insurance limit
has been reached, whichever is higher, and will extend to the maximum limit of insurance carried by the corporation. 
 

 
Definitions and Eligibility Requirements for Retirement, Severance, Disability and Death Benefits
 

A. Definitions
 

1. "Retirement" is defined as the mutually agreeable cessation of the employment relationship between an Executive
Assistant and Elkhart Community Schools by such individual who had made written application for PERF benefits.
 

2. "Severance" is defined as the mutually agreeable cessation of the employment relationship between an Executive
Assistant and Elkhart Community Schools.
 

B. Eligibility Requirements
 

1. Retirement
 



Any Executive Assistant who had ten (10) years or more of recognized service and has reached the age of fifty-
five (55), or has twenty (20) years or more of recognized service and has reached the age of fifty (50) years, and
who is serving in such capacity at the time of retirement, will be eligible for retirement benefits provided the
following conditions are met:
 
The staff member shall notify his or her supervisor in writing of his or her intent to retire no later than twelve (12)
months before the effective date of such retirement. This notice may be waived by the Board. 
 

2. Severance
 
Any Executive Assistant who has completed at least six (6) months of active employment with Elkhart Community
Schools will be eligible for severance benefits if he or she submits a written resignation to the Director of Human
Resources which specifies the last date of employment and which is delivered to the Director of Human Resources
at least twenty (20) working days prior to the last day of employment.
 

3. Disability or Death Prior to Age Fifty (50)
 

a. The staff member who becomes permanently disabled (physically or mentally) or dies prior to age fifty
(50) and has met the ten (10) year requirement shall be paid severance benefits under this policy. Benefits
will be paid at the time of disablement and in the case of death, benefits will be paid to the decedent’s
estate or designated beneficiary. 
 

b. Death - In addition to the severance benefits provided for in other sections of this policy, upon the death
of the staff member, their estate or designated beneficiary shall receive an amount equal to the number of
days of accumulated sick leave times the staff member’s daily salary.

The surviving unmarried dependent spouse of any Executive Assistant shall be entitled to participate in the basic
group health insurance program until eligible for Medicare by paying one hundred percent (100%) of the
premium.

 
 
Retirement Benefits
 

A. Health Insurance
 
An Executive Assistant who retires from the Elkhart Community Schools and who satisfies the provisions of Section 3-B-1
of this policy may use the amounts held in his/her separate VEBA account, established pursuant to applicable resolutions
adopted by the Board of School Trustees and this policy, to pay the full cost of health insurance offered by the Board to
its employees provided the following conditions are met:
 

1. Immediately following retirement, the Executive Assistant and spouse, if any, shall have the option of remaining in
the Corporation’s current group health insurance plan if all of the following conditions are met as of the date of
severance and thereafter
 

a. While the retired Executive Assistant and spouse, if any, remain enrolled in the health insurance plan, the
retired Executive Assistant and spouse shall pay the entire insurance premium applicable to the insurance
coverage, with the premium payment to be made monthly for each succeeding year.
 

b. Within ninety (90) days of the retirement date, the Executive Assistant has provided a written request to
Elkhart Community Schools for continuing insurance coverage for the Executive Assistant and spouse, if
any. 
 

2. When a retired Executive Assistant becomes eligible for Medicare, the Executive Assistant’s eligibility to continue
to participate in the Corporation’s group health insurance plan shall terminate, if not earlier terminated according
to applicable law. (The same termination of eligibility shall also apply when a retired Executive Assistant’s spouse
first becomes eligible for Medicare.) It is acknowledged that the parties intend these provisions to comply with the
applicable Federal and state laws that establish an eligible Executive Assistant’s right to continue health insurance
for the Executive Assistant and spouse.
 

B. Life Insurance
 



The retiring staff member may participate in the group term life insurance policy through age seventy (70) (with the
exception that such coverage shall not include accidental death or dismemberment) in an amount equal to the life
insurance, as per Section 2-I-B, by paying 100% of the group rate premium for life insurance in excess of that provided
in the following schedule:
 

1. Period through age sixty-five (65) - equal to last salary
 

2. Period age sixty-six (66) through seventy (70) - $10,000
 

3. Beyond age seventy-one (71) - 0
 

C. Additional Benefits 
 

1. A  retiring executive assistant, who has worked in another classified group and was promoted to the position of
executive assistant, is eligible to receive retirement and severance benefits accrued prior to becoming an
executive assistant; however, the total benefits paid shall not exceed the maximum benefits set forth in this
policy. 
 

2. A retiring executive assistant will be paid his/her daily rate multiplied times the number of years of service in the
Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

3. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to an executive assistant
who retires, dies, or becomes totally permanently disabled while employed by Elkhart Community Schools.
Vacation days earned in the current year shall also be paid prior to retirement, or upon disability termination or
death of the employee. In the event of death, the above benefit shall be paid to the decedent's estate. 
 

4. In addition to the above benefits, the actual number of days of accumulated sick leave, not to exceed a maximum
of twelve (12) days or forty-five percent (45%) of the accumulated sick leave days, whichever is greater, shall be
paid to an administrative assistant at the time of retirement, or the executive assistant's beneficiary in the event
of the death of an administrative assistant eligible for retirement.

 
Disability Benefits
 

A. Health Insurance 
 

1. A disabled staff member who is not otherwise eligible for retirement or severance, who severs employment as a
result of his/her disability may participate in all or any part of the health insurance program (except long-term
disability) until eligible for Medicare at the same cost as for other Executive Assistants.
 

2. Any future increase in health insurance premiums as a result of this benefit until eligible for Medicare will be
calculated annually as a part of the staff member’s fringe benefits.
 

3. This benefit will be discontinued if the disabled staff member becomes employed on a full-time or calendar year
basis, or if through other employment qualifies for health insurance benefits. The Board reserves the right to
request the employment status of the disabled staff member.
 

B. Life Insurance
 
The disabled staff member may participate in the group term life insurance policy through age seventy (70) (with the
exception that such coverage shall not include accidental death and dismemberment) in an amount equal to the life
insurance, as per Section 2-I-B, by paying one hundred percent (100%) of the group rate premium for life insurance in
excess of that provided in the following schedule:
 

1. Period through age sixty-five (65) - equal to last salary
 

2. Period age sixty-six (66) through seventy (70) - $10,000
 

3. Age seventy-one (71) and beyond - 0
 

C. Financial Benefits



 
The staff member who qualifies for disability benefits will be given the following benefits:
 

1. Executive Assistants shall be compensated for 1) unused personal business days in the current year of
employment, 2) unused vacation days in the current year of employment, and 3) unused vacation days from the
previous year of employment.
 

2. One-half percent (.5%) of the highest salary received times the number of years of recognized service in Elkhart
Community Schools prior to becoming an Executive Assistant, and
 

3. Two percent (2.0%) of the highest salary times the number of years employed as an Executive Assistant.

 
Death Benefits
 

A. Health Insurance
 
The surviving unmarried dependent spouse of any Executive Assistant shall be entitled to participate in the basic group
health insurance program until eligible for Medicare by paying one hundred percent (100%) of the premium.
 

B. Financial Benefits
 
The estate of the Executive Assistant who qualifies will be given the following benefits:
 

1. One-half percent (.5%) of the highest salary received times the number of years employed in the Elkhart
Community Schools prior to becoming an Executive Assistant, and; 
 

2. Two percent (2.0%) of the highest salary times the number of years employed in an Executive Assistant. In
addition, upon the death of the Executive Assistant, the estate or designated beneficiary shall receive an amount
equal to the number of days of accumulated sick leave times the Executive Assistant’s daily salary.

 
VEBA (Voluntary Employee Benefit Account)
 

A. The Board of School Trustees has established a VEBA (Voluntary Employee Benefit Accounts) pursuant to § 501(c)(9) of
the Internal Revenue Code. An Executive Assistant must meet the requirements of Section 3-B-1 and retire from
employment with Elkhart Community Schools to be vested in the VEBA account.
 

B. Executive Assistants employed by Elkhart Community Schools shall be entitled to a contribution equal to one and a half
percent (1.5%) of each Executive Assistant’s salary. This one and a half percent (1.5%) contribution will be deposited
into the VEBA account on a monthly basis as the base salary is paid. 
 
The terms and conditions for the administration of said VEBA accounts shall be as follows:
 

1. The amount contributed for each Executive Assistant will be invested in a separate account. There will be no co-
mingling of accounts and each Executive Assistant may determine how his/her account shall be invested among
the investment options made available by the vendor for the VEBA.
 

2. Until such time that an Executive Assistant has retired and satisfied the eligibility requirements set forth in this
policy, the Executive Assistant shall have no access to the assets held in his/her separate VEBA account.
 

3. If an Administrator or Executive Assistant retires or otherwise terminates employment before satisfaction of the
requirements set forth in this policy, the terminated Administrator or Executive Assistant’s VEBA account shall be
forfeited. Forfeited amounts shall be reallocated at the end of each plan year only among the then remaining
separate VEBA accounts. Therefore, the VEBA accounts of the following Administrators and Executive Assistants
will not share in the reallocation of a forfeiture of a VEBA account:
 

a. Administrators and Executive Assistants who forfeited their VEBA accounts in the same year;
 

b. Administrators and Executive assistants who previously forfeited their VEBA accounts; and
 



c. Administrators and Executive Assistants who have attained the age of fifty-nine (59) and terminated
employment in or before the year of the reallocated forfeiture.

Furthermore, VEBA accounts of Administrators and Executive Assistants who have attained the age of fifty-nine
(59) but who have not terminated employment share in the reallocated forfeiture, but on a reduced actuarial
basis.

4. Following retirement and the satisfaction of the requirements set forth in this policy, a retired Executive Assistant
may use the amounts held in his/her separate VEBA account, for example, to pay health insurance premiums,
term life insurance premiums, and to be reimbursed for unreimbursed medical expenses of the Executive
Assistant, spouse, and dependents. Furthermore, following the death of an Executive Assistant who had otherwise
satisfied the requirements of this policy, any amounts remaining in the deceased administrator’s VEBA account
may continue to be used to pay these premiums and expenses of the Executive Assistant’s spouse and
dependents. At no time may the VEBA made loans to an employee, his/her spouse, or his/her dependents.

 
Physical Examination and Reports
 
Executive Assistants may undergo a complete physical examination on a schedule established by the Superintendent.
 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work, except for bus drivers, who should give at least one hour’s notice. Upon return to work, the
employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an available
benefit. 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days' unexcused absences in any one school year shall
be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the appropriate
administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five (5) or less consecutive
working days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Illness Absence and Leaves
 
Personal/Family Illness Absence
 
Executive Assistants will be allowed the number of hours equal to one (1) workday per month of employment for personal
illness/family illness absence. This will provide ninety-six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually. Unused
personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the number of scheduled paid days in the current year as
personal illness days. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor's approval to return to work following an illness.
 
Family Illness
 

A. All Executive Assistants are allowed up to twenty (20) days’ leave annually for illness in the immediate family, which is
non-accumulative and independent of personal illness/family illness policies. Immediate family shall mean employee's
spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law,
grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in
the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for whom the employee is
exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall mean an individual whose close
association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean any person related to
the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 

B. In the event a prolonged illness of a member of the immediate family occurs, the Superintendent may grant additional
days.

 
Work-Related Injury
 



An employee injured in the performance of his or her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate. The
employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits.
 
Personal Leave
 
Executive Assistants are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during
each calendar year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate
administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
If an employee retains all three (3) personal leave days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days to
the following year to equal five (5) personal leave days. The remaining unused personal leave day shall accumulate for
retirement. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the executive assistant must provide thirty (30)
calendar days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor.
 
Effective January 1, 2020, at the end of each calendar year, if the executive assistant does not elect to roll two (2) personal
leave days into the following year, all unused personal leave days shall accumulate for retirement.
 
Support Staff Personal Leave - Procedures
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee's supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance to any regular employee who
may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take a comparable position
after s/he receives an honorable discharge.
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay s/he shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in
its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her
responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave – Procedure 
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and
vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or 
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate
administrator.

 



Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it
will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician.
 
The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or
legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities.
Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible
for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.
 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 

A. Jury Duty 

All Executive Assistants will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence
shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check
shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll
check. 
 

B. Witness Duty 

In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before
a court of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time
during the working day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one
case, shall result in no loss of wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the Superintendent may grant
additional days with pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of
his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to
witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given
in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any
other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. However, if the employee has been
named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as an ECS employee, such employee shall not be
subjected to the forgoing prohibition.

 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human
Resources. In the event the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days after
the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For employees who
are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date the child is expected in the
home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested for a period not to
exceed one year, and are non-renewable.
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer, or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the
Business Office.
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee
must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date the child is physically turned over to the
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.
 
Vacations and Holidays 
 
Executive Assistants shall be eligible for fifteen (15) days of vacation each contract year, exclusive of weekends and holidays, at
a time(s) approved by the staff member's immediate supervisor(s). Upon completion of five (5) years of employment with the
Elkhart Community Schools as an Executive Assistant, or when previous employment provided relatively comparable or
executive secretarial experience, an Executive Assistant shall be eligible for twenty-five (25) days of vacation each year.
 



Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months
beyond. Unused vacation days will not be cumulative after the expiration of the eighteen (18) month period and shall at that
time be transferred to sick leave and be available for use as sick leave days, provided at no time may more than the number of
hours equal to the number of scheduled workdays in the current year accumulate for use as sick leave.
 
Holidays

In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 

A. Executive Assistants shall be paid for the following holidays: 

New Year’s - two (2) days 

Martin Luther King Jr. Day 

Presidents’ Day 

Memorial Day 

Independence Day - two (2) days 

Labor Day 

Thanksgiving 

Friday immediately following Thanksgiving Day 

Christmas - two (2) days 

Specific dates for items A-1, 5, & 9 must be approved by the immediate supervisor 
 

B. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following,
unless school is in session.

 
Revised 3/28/17
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 8/14/18
Revised 12/18/18
Revised 12/10/19



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised TECHNICAL ASSISTANTS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.09S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised January 14, 2020

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.09S - TECHNICAL ASSISTANTS’ COMPENSATION PLAN
 
Technical Assistants’ Wage Schedule
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for Technical Assistants to be effective January 1,
20212020.  In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools.
 

Step ECS Experience as Paraprofessional Hourly Rate
   

1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days (Probationary Rate) 14.5414.24
2 55 days or more, but less than 1 year 15.2914.99
3 1 year or more, but less than 2 years 15.9615.64
4 2 years or more, but less than 3 years 16.6816.38
5 3 years or more 17.6317.33

 

Years regularly employed by Elkhart Community Schools
Amount of

Hourly Career
Increment

  
five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) .20
ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) .30
fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) .40
twenty (20) or more, but less than twenty-five (25) .50
twenty-five (25) or more .60

 
*Step placement shall be determined on verified past experience, but in no case will any new employee be placed higher than
Step 4 following the probationary employment period.
 
Additional Course Work Increment
 
A Technical Assistant who completes a forty-five (45) contact hour, pre-approved course related directly to his or her position
and receives a final course grade of C+ or better in graded courses, will receive a 10¢ increase in hourly rate for each such
approved course which is completed, up to a maximum of 30¢ per hour. The request must be submitted to the Director of
Human Resources in writing for his/her approval. 
 
Fringe Benefits
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities 

The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax-sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through company or broker approved by the Board of
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 



B. Insurance 

In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one of the
plans provided by the Board. 

The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the
next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability
insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 
 

C. Severance Benefits 

Technical Assistants who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community
Schools will be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at
least ten (10) working days prior to the last date of employment. 
 

1. Resignation
 
Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment at the rate of pay
in effect at termination. The effective date of resignation shall be established to include use of all personal leave.
 

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability
 
The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Technical Assistants’ Fringe Benefits.
 

a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart
Community Schools or who is age fifty-five (55) and has fifteen (15) or more consecutive years of
employment in Elkhart Community Schools. Only the six (6) months service requirement must be met to
be eligible for the disability or death benefit.
 

b. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible
employees who retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart
Community Schools. In the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 
 

c. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by paying
100% of the premiums in advance at the business office.
 

d. When retiring, a Technical Assistant who has ten (10) years of service and is at least fifty-five (55) years of
age may select one of the following benefits based upon the employee’s daily rate at the time of
retirement:
 

1. Two (2) days’ pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools, or
 

2. At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the
provisions in the Technical Assistants employee booklet.
 

D. Change in Classification 

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy.

 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence
will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days
when pay is not to be received.)



 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school year shall
be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the appropriate
administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five (5) or less consecutive
working days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 

A. Full-Time Technical Assistants 

Full-time Technical Assistants will be allowed the number of hours equal to one workday per month of employment for
personal illness/family illness absence. This will provide ninety-six (96) hours of illness absence annually. Unused
personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the number of hours equal to 200 days as personal
illness days. 
 

B. School-year Technical Assistants 
 

1. Regular school-year classified employees will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness leave
each calendar year.
 

2. Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 120
workdays. Use of accumulated sick leave by a school-year employee terminates at the close of the school year. It
cannot be used again unless the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date.

The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work following an illness. 
 

 
Family Illness
 
The number of hours equal to two (2) workdays may be used for family illness in the immediate family, two (2) workdays may
be used for either family illness in the immediate family or personal illness, and the balance may be used for personal illness. 
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents,
parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents,
stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the
legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall
mean an individual whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean
any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 
Job-Related Injury
 
An employee injured in the performance of his or her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate. The
employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Attendance Incentive Program
 
Beginning January 1, 2020, the following attendance incentive program will be effective for all technical assistants. For the
purpose of this program, the year will run from January 1st through December 31st.
 
During the month of January, any technical assistant who has perfect attendance throughout the prior year, other than vacation,
bereavement, or personal leave, shall be paid the sum of $500. Any employee who is absent for any reason for five (5) or less
days during the prior year, other than vacation, bereavement, or personal leave days, shall be paid the sum of $250.
 
Bereavement
 



Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in
the immediate family for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within
twelve (12) months of the death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively.
 
“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 
Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the
employee’s immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral of a
friend.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s), with or without pay, may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge.
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay he/she shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the
physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in
its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her
responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave - Procedure
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and
vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or



 
C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate

administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it
will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The
cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer.
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any
required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities.
Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible
for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.
 
Personal Leave
 
Technical Assistants who work a regular workday of four (4) or more hours are entitled to the number of hours equal to three
(3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of pay. If an employee retains all three (3)
personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days to the following year to equal five
(5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall accumulate for retirement at the end of the year.
In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the employee must provide thirty (30) calendar days written
notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor.
 
If the Technical Assistant does not elect to roll two (2) personal business benefit days into the following year, all unused
personal leave will accumulate for retirement.
 
A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll
report for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee's supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen
emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods
of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is
scheduled as a parent-teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the
following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years, an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period.
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking
said day.
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be
granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency
exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending to his/her
assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 
Jury Duty
 
All Technical Assistants will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence shall
result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall be
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll check.
 



Witness Duty
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court
of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the working
day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of
wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with substitute
deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check
shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll
check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or
employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the
employee to testify. However, if the employee has been named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as
an ECS employee, such employee shall not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition.
 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human
Resources. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For
employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child
is expected in the home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested
for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable.
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer, or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the
Business Office.
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee
must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to
the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.
 
Holidays and Vacations
 

A. Definitions 
 

1. As used in this policy, the term "full-time employee" means an employee who is employed on a twelve (12) month
basis and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 
 

2. As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an employee who is employed on a school-year
basis and works approximately 175 or more days per year, and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more
hours. 
 

B. Holidays
 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 
Full-time Technical Assistants shall be paid for the following holidays, when they occur on days which would have been
worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below:
 

1. New Year’s - two (2) days
 

2. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
 

3. Presidents Day
 

4. Memorial Day
 

5. Independence Day - two (2) days



 
6. Labor Day

 
7. Thanksgiving Day – two (2) days

 
8. Christmas Day - two (2) days 

 
C. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) days will be allowed as follows: 

 

1. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee may,
subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both December 24 or December 26 as a
holiday with pay, and may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both December
31 or January 2 as a holiday with pay. To be eligible for either of the above selections, a classified employee must
make such request to the immediate supervisor no later than December 10.
 

2. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, then both the Friday before and the Monday after shall be
paid holidays, unless schools are open on one of these days, in which case an alternate day will be determined.
 

3. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday
following, unless school is in session.
 

4. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays.
 

5. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holiday. 
 

D. Technical Assistants shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if it
were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above: 
 

1. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
 

2. Presidents Day
 

3. Memorial Day
 

4. Labor Day
 

5. Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days)
 

6. Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday
following)

 
Vacations
 

A. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one
(1) calendar year, shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the next calendar year, for each full
month of employment completed, provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued.
 

B. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
that entire calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

C. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
fivesix (56) consecutive years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 
 

D. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
fifteen (15) consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 
 

E. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption of service did not include other employment. 
 

F. For the sole purpose of determining vacation benefit eligibility; employees who transfer from a school-year position to a
twelve (12) month position will be granted years of service based on the following conversion formula. NOTE: the years
of service conversion is only applicable for the purpose of vacation benefits. This computation does not replace the



total years of service invested with Elkhart Community Schools for the purposes of Retirement benefits or Staff
Recognition.
 
The employee’s employment record with Elkhart Community Schools for all positions held will be considered. Using the
number of paid hours per day, multiplied by the number of paid days per school year, divided by 2080 to obtain the
number of years equivalent to a twelve (12) month position. The total number of equivalent years will be rounded up to
nearest whole number.
 
The calculated number of years of service will be used in determining the total number of day’s vacation which such full-
time employee is entitled to receive under this policy. The employee will receive the total amount of awarded vacation
days effective the January following their date of conversion. Prior to completing one full year of service, the employee
will be entitled to a prorated amount of vacation days based on the calculation formula referenced in the paragraph
above. 
 

G. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the immediate supervisor prior to the first day of
requested vacation, and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor. 
 

H. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6)
months beyond.

 
Revised 1/1/17
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 12/18/18
Revised 12/10/19



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised REGISTERED NURSES’ COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.10S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised December 10, 2019

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.10S - REGISTERED NURSES’ COMPENSATION PLAN
 
Registered Nurses’ Salary Schedule
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for Registered Nurses to be effective January 1,
20212020.  In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools.
 

 Experience* as Salary Salary Salary

Step Registered Nurse (Elementary
Schools)

(Middle School) High School

1 Less than 1 year 33,78533,085 33,78533,085 38,54637,846

2 1 year to 3 years 34,64333,943 34,64333,943 39,52638,826

3 3 years to 5 years 35,60934,909 35,60934,909 40,63039,930

4 5 years to 7 years 36,29435,594 36,29435,594 41,41340,713

5 7 years or more 36,59335,893 36,59335,893 41,75841,058

 
* Step placement will be determined on verified past experience. Experience with Elkhart Community Schools will be updated
annually, effective on January 1.
 
CAREER INCREMENT SCHEDULE
 Annual
Years regularly employed in Elkhart Community Schools Increment
  
5 or more, but less than 10 $270.00
10 or more, but less than 15   400.00
15 or more, but less than 20   670.00
20 or more   935.00

 
School Nurse Certification Incentive Compensation
 
Upon submission of proof, Registered Nurses who have earned a School Nurse's Certification by the National Board for
Certification of Nurses and have received an effective evaluation for that calendar year will receive a $1,500 stipend annually in
recognition of this endorsement. The stipend will be distributed at the end of each calendar year in which they are employed full
time.
 
Stipend
 

A. The registered nurse who is assigned the responsibility of ordering and maintaining supplies will be paid a stipend of
$1,100500. The Assistant Superintendent of Student Services and the District Counsel/Chief of Staff shall develop a



committee with the Nurses to determine additional stipends for registered nurses in addition to the present stipend
for ordering and maintaining supplies.
 

B. The registered nurse who is assigned the responsibility of Health Coordinator will be paid a stipend of $2,500.00.
C. A  registered nurse who is regularly assigned to serve more than one (1) building will be paid a stipend of $600.

 
Nurses Assigned to Service Multiple Buildings
When a nurse is assigned to serve more than one (1) building, the nurse shall be allocated, by the Assistant Superintendent of
Student Services, an additional allotment of overtime beyond the amount approved for all nurses employed by Elkhart
Community Schools. 
 
Fringe Benefits
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through company or broker approved by the Board of
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

B. Insurance
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one of the
plans provided by the Board.
 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the
next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability
insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week.
 

C. Severance Benefits
 
Registered Nurses who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community
Schools will be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at
least ten (10) working days prior to the last date of employment.
 

1. Resignation
 
Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment at the rate of pay
in effect at termination. The effective date of resignation shall be established to include use of all personal leave. 
 

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
 
The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Registered Nurses’ Fringe Benefits.
 

a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart
Community Schools. Only the six (6) months service requirement must be met to be eligible for the
disability or death benefit.
 

b. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible
employees who retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart
Community Schools. In the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s estate.
 

c. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by paying
100% of the premiums in advance at the business office.
 

d. When retiring, a Registered Nurse who has ten (10) years of service and is at least fifty-five (55) years of
age may select one of the following benefits based upon the employee’s daily rate at the time of
retirement:



 

1. One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools, or
 

2. At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the
provisions in the Registered Nurses employee booklet. 
 

D. Change in Classification 

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy.

 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence
will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days
when pay is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school year shall
be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the appropriate
administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or less consecutive working
days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness leave each calendar
year.
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as illness absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 120 workdays. Use of
accumulated sick leave by a school year employee terminates at the close of the school year. It cannot be used again unless the
employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date.
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work following an illness.
 
Family Illness
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents,
parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents,
stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the
legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall
mean an individual whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean
any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 
Job-Related Injury
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate. The
employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits.
 
Bereavement
 
Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in
the immediate family for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within
twelve (12) months of the death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively.
 



“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 
Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the
employee’s immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral of a
friend.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s), with or without pay, may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.
 
Military Leave
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge.
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay he/she shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment,
the physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave - Administrative Regulation
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and
vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate
administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it
will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The
cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer.
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any
required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities.
Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible
for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.



 
Personal Leave
 
Registered Nurses are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each
calendar year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate
administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
If an employee retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days
to the following year to equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day will accumulate for
retirement at the end of the year. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days the employee must
provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor.
 
If an employee does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee's supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen
emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods
of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is
scheduled as a parent teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the
following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years, an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period.
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking
said day.
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be
granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency
exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending to his/her
assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 
Jury Duty
 
All Registered Nurses will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence shall result
in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll check.
 
Witness Duty
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court
of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the working
day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of
wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with substitute
deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check
shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll
check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or
employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the
employee to testify. However, if the employee has been named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as
an ECS employee, such employee shall not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition. 
 
Parental Leave
 



A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human
Resources. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For
employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child
is expected in the home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested
for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer, or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the
Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee
must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to
the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays
 
Registered Nurses shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if it were not
for that special day, subject to the provisions above:
 

A. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
 

B. Presidents Day
 

C. Memorial Day 
 

D. Labor Day
 

E. Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days)
 

F. Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following)

 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 
Payment of State Licensing Fees
 
The Elkhart Community Schools will reimburse each Registered Nurse for the biennial licensing fee paid to the State of Indiana
by the nurse.
 
Revised 1/1/17
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 12/18/18



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised SOCIAL WORKERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.11S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised December 10, 2019

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.11S - SOCIAL WORKERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN
 
Social Workers’ Salary Schedule
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for social workers to be effective for the 2020 calendar
year.  In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools.
 

Step
Experience* as
Social Worker

Salary with
Bachelors
Degree

Salary with
Masters
Degree

1 Less than 1 year 31,77531,075 34,78634,086

2 1 year or more, but less than 3 years 33,27632,576 36,28735,587

3 3 years or more, but less than 5 years 34,78634,086 37,95637,256

4 5 years or more, but less than 7 years 36,28735,587 39,47038,770

5 7 years or more, but less than 9 years 37,95637,256 40,96940,269

6 9 years or more, but less than 11 years 39,47038,770 42,46541,765

7 11 years or more, but less than 13 years 40,96940,269 43,97443,274

8 13 years or more, but less than 15 years 42,46541,765 44,88544,185

9 15 years or more 43,97443,274 46,39645,696

 

A. *Each two (2) years of verified related past experience will be credited as one (1) year of ECS experience. 
 

B. Experience with Elkhart Community Schools will be updated annually effective on January 1st. 
 

C. Social workers will be assigned to work 189 days annually. In the event that a social worker is not permitted to work on a
regularly scheduled work day on account of an emergency closing at his/her assigned school building, the social worker
will make arrangements with his/her immediate supervisor to make up the work time missed. 
 

D. LCSW endorsed social workers in this employee group who are employed by Elkhart Community Schools and have
received an effective evaluation for that calendar year will receive a $1,500 stipend annually in recognition of this
endorsement. The stipend will be distributed at the end of each calendar year in which they were employed full time. It is
recognized that the LCSW endorsed social worker will be on call during work hours to their fellow social workers to staff a
difficult case or request information on clinical issues the LCSW may have expertise.

Stipend



 
Effective January 1, 2021, any social worker who is assigned to serve as a mentor shall be paid a stipend of $600
upon completion of their assigned duties as a mentor. Mentors shall be assigned at the sole discretion of the
Supervisor of Student Services.
 
 
Fringe Benefits
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through company or broker approved by the Board of
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools.
 

B. Insurance
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one (1) of
the plans provided by the Board. 
 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the
next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability
insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week.
 

C. Severance Benefits
 
Social Workers who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools
will be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at least
ten (10) working days prior to the last date of employment.
 

1. Resignation
 
Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment at the rate of pay
in effect at termination. The effective date of resignation shall be established to include use of all personal leave.
 

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability
 
The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Social Workers’ Fringe Benefits.
 

a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart
Community Schools. Only the six (6) months service requirement must be met to be eligible for the
disability or death benefit. 
 

b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible employees
who retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.
In the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 
 

c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty five (65) by paying
100% of the premiums in advance at the business office.
 

d. When retiring, a Social Worker who has ten (10) years of service and is at least fifty-five (55) years of age
may select one (1) of the following benefits based upon the employee’s daily rate at the time of
retirement:
 

1. One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools, or
 

2. At least forty percent (40%) of the unused sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the provisions
in the Social Workers employee booklet. 



 
D. Change in Classification 

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy.

 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence
will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days
when pay is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one (1) school year
shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the
appropriate administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or less
consecutive working days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness leave each calendar
year.
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as illness absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 120 workdays. Use of
accumulated sick leave by a school year employee terminates at the close of the school year. It cannot be used again unless the
employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date.
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work following an illness.
 
Family Illness
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents,
parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents,
stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the
legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall
mean an individual whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean
any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 
Job-Related Injury
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate. The
employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family
for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the
death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively.
 
“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 



Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the
employee’s immediate family.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral of a
friend.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted by the Superintendent or
designee. 

Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay he/she shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the
physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave - Administrative Regulation
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and
vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate
administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it
will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The
cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any
required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities.
Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible
for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available. 
 
Personal Leave
 



Social Workers are entitled to personal leave equivalent to the number of hours equal to three (3) regular work days without
loss of pay each year. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate administrator to
accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
If an employee retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days
to the following year to equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall accumulate for
retirement at the end of the year. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the employee must
provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor.
 
If an employee does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee's supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen
emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Personal Leave can be taken at any time upon the approval of the supervisor or authorized designee. No personal leave will be
granted for participation in any strike or work stoppage or other concerted action by an employee or employee group. 
 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 
Jury Duty
 
All Social Workers will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence shall result in
no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented to
the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll check.
 
Witness Duty
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court
of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the working
day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one (1) case, shall result in no
loss of wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with
substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of
the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will be made from the next
payroll check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any litigation in which the employee is a party,
or employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas
the employee to testify. However, if the employee has been named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of
duties as an ECS employee, such employee shall not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition.
 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human
Resources. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For
employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child
is expected in the home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested
for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable.
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer, or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the
Business Office.
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee
must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to
the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.



 
Holidays
 
Social Workers shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if it were not for
that special day, subject to the provisions above:
 

A. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
 

B. Presidents Day
 

C. Memorial Day
 

D. Labor Day
 

E. Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days)
 

F. Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following)

 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 
Revised 1/1/17
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 12/18/18



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised EMPLOYEES IN MISCELLANEOUS POSITIONS COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.12S

Status

Adopted December 20, 2016

Last Revised August 25, 2020

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

Prior Revised Dates 2/11/2020

3422.12S - EMPLOYEES IN MISCELLANEOUS POSITIONS COMPENSATION PLAN
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for Employees to be effective for January 1,
20212020. In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools.
 
POSITION HOURLY WAGE RANGE
Assistant Supervisor of Transportation 24.29 - 29.9223.99 – 29.62
Transportation Trainer/Dispatcher 20.28 - 23.6619.98 – 23.36
Food Service Truck Driver 16.35 - 19.3716.05 – 19.07
Food Service Receiving/Supply 16.35 - 19.3716.05 – 19.07
Supervisor of Building Services 21.33 - 26.1921.03 – 25.89
Food Service Training Specialist 18.4 - 25.76818.18 – 25.46
Food Service Bids & Commodity Coordinator 17.61 - 27.3517.31 – 27.05
Executive Chef & Culinary Event Coordinator 17.61 - 27.3517.31 – 27.05
Quality Assurance Coordinator 20.28 - 23.6619.98 – 23.36
Production Coordinator 20.28 - 23.6619.98 – 23.36
Transportation Route/Driver Coordinator 20.28 - 23.6619.98 – 23.36
Transportation Clerk 15.59 - 17.1115.29 - 16.81
Adult/Community Education Non-Contract Teachers 32.06 *
Building Community Education Coordinator 28.23 - 35.2227.93 – 34.92
Radio Station Staff Announcer 9.72 - 13.699.42 – 13.39
Radio Station Development Assistant 11.25 - 17.8210.95 – 17.52
School Security Officer 30.8730.57**
Title I/Funded Pupil/Program/Parent Support Person 20.25 - 29.3619.95 – 29.06
Title I/Building Translator/Interpreter 20.25 - 29.3619.95 – 29.06
Title I/Building Translator/Parent Liaison 15.94 - 19.9215.64 – 19.62
School Parent/Community Liaison 20.25 - 29.3619.95 – 29.06
District Translator 20.25 - 29.3619.95 – 29.06
Evening Events Supervisor 15.4015.10
Asst. Site Coordinator - 21st Century Community Learning Center 14.00
After-School Community Education Organized Activities Leader 14.00
After-School Community Education Organized Activities Assistant 9.39
Deaf/Hard of Hearing Educational Interpreter 16.73 - 30.9716.43 – 30.67
Early College Data Specialist 25.00 - 28.5324.70 – 28.23
EACC Testing Specialist 25.00 - 28.5324.70 – 28.23
21st Century Community Education Program Manager 28.83 - 36.9828.53 – 36.68
Campus Security – I 12.53 - 20.6812.23 – 20.38
Campus Security – II 14.57 - 22.7214.27 – 22.42
Farm Technician 15.30 - 20.3015.00 - 20.00
 
* Hourly rate based on .001 of the certified teacher’s base salary set forth in Appendix B of the 2020-20212019-2020 Master
Contract



 
** Effective August 1, 2017
 
POSITION YEARLY SALARY RANGE       

Radio Station Manager 51,517 - 90,90050,617 –
90,000

Radio Station Development Director 48,536 - 72,98247,636 –
72,082

Radio Station Business Account Manager 38,497 - 71,78437,597 –
70,884

Radio Station Program Director 38,497 - 58,74537,597 –
57,845

Radio Station Senior Reporter and Assignment Editor 33,381 - 48,45932,481 –
47,559

Radio Station Operations Manager 26,930 - 43,56026,030 –
42,660

Radio Station Morning Edition Host 30,442 - 47,40329,542 –
46,503

Radio Station Promotions Manager 31,285 - 46,11030,385 –
45,210

Radio Station Membership Manager 40,377 - 54,27939,477 –
53,379

Radio Station Business/Workforce Development Reporter - IPB
News

31,470 - 46,08030,570 -
45,180

Olweus Bullying Prevention Program Coordinator 46,475 -58,820

Adult and Community Education Program Manager 65,525 - 76,3 1364,725 –
75,513

Campus Life Coordinator 65,625 -,76,41364,725 -
75,513

Building Services Manager 67,135 - 87,51566,235 -
86,615

Energy and Risk Management Specialist 51,850 - 72,23050,950
-71,330

Data and Assessment Manager 65,625 - 76,41364,725 –
75,513

Data Specialist 39,234 - 61,13938,334 –
60,239

Digital Communication Specialist 39,234 - 61,13938,334 –
60,239

Staff Accountant 41,660 - 53,88840,760 –
 52,988

School Psychologist Intern 37,65037,050
21st Century Community Learning Center Coordinator 2,500 (per semester)
 
An hourly employee who is required to report to work to respond to an emergency outside of the employee’s regular work hours
will be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours.
 
Performance Awards for Radio Station Employees
 
The Radio Station Manager may propose performance awards to be paid to radio station employees who achieve performance
goals established by the Station Manager and approved by the Chief Financial Officer.
 
The proposed goals, once approved by the Chief Financial Officer, shall be presented in writing to the radio station employee.
 
Radio station employees who achieve their performance goals shall be paid their award during the fiscal year when the goal is
met.
 
Fringe Benefits
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities 

The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax-sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through company or broker approved by the Board of



Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

B. Insurance 

In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one (1) of
the plans provided by the Board. 

The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the
next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability
insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 
 

C. Severance Benefits 

Employees in Miscellaneous Positions who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart
Community Schools will be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human
Resources at least ten (10) working days prior to the last date of employment. 
 

1. Resignation 

Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment. Vacation days
earned in the current year shall also be paid to full-time employees. Payment for unused personal leave and
vacation shall be made at the rate of pay in effect at termination. The effective date of resignation shall be
established to include use of all personal leave and unused vacation days. 
 

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 

The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Employees’ Fringe Benefits. 
 

a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart
Community Schools. Only the six (6) months service requirement must be met to be eligible for the
disability or death benefit. 
 

b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible employees
who retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.
In the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 
 

c. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by paying
100% of the premiums in advance at the business office. 
 

d. A miscellaneous employee who retires at age fifty-five (55) or older with ten (10) or more consecutive
years of service, or a miscellaneous employee who dies with ten (10) or more consecutive years of service
is eligible to select one (1) of the following benefits based upon the employee’s daily rate at the time of
retirement: 
 

1. One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools, or 
 

2. At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the
provisions in the Employees employee booklet.

In the case of the death of an eligible employee, this benefit will be paid to the employee’s beneficiary.

D. Change in Classification 

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy.

 
Absences



 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence
will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days
when pay is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one (1) school year
shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the
appropriate administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five (5) or less
consecutive working days may be approved. The best interests of the School Corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 
As used in this section, "immediate family" shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents,
parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents,
stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the
legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. "Life Partner" shall
mean an individual whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. "Family Unit" shall mean
any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian. 

Full-time classified personnel will be allowed the number of hours equal to one (1) workday per month of employment for
personal illness/family illness absence. This will provide ninety-six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually.
Unused personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the number of hours equal to 200 days as personal
illness. 

Regular school-year classified employees will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness leave.
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 120 workdays. Use of
accumulated sick leave by a school-year employee terminates at the close of the school year. It cannot be used again unless the
employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work following an illness. 
 
Attendance Incentive Program
 
During the month of January, any miscellaneous employee who has perfect attendance, other than vacation, bereavement, or
personal leave, in any full year subsequent to January 1, 2019, shall be paid the sum of $100 each year; any employee who is
absent for any reason for five (5) or less days, other than vacation, bereavement, or personal leave, shall be paid a sum of $50.
 
Job-Related Injury
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate. The
employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family
for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the
death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively. 
 
"Immediate family" shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. 
 



Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the
employee’s immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral of a
friend. 

When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.

Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay he/she shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave
 
Through the Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the
physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave - Procedure
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and
vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it
will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The
cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer.
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any
required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities.
Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible
for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.
 
Personal Leave
 
Full-time and regular school year classified personnel are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for
absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of pay. If an employee retains all three (3) personal
business days at the end of the year, s/he can roll two (2) of the three (3) days to the following year to equal five (5) personal



business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall accumulate for retirement at the end of the year. In the event
the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the employee must provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice
requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor.
 
If an employee does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee’s supervisor or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen
emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods
of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is
scheduled as a parent-teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar unless the employee complies with the
following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years, an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period.
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking
said day.
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be
granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency
exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending to his or her
assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 
Jury Duty
 
All Employees in Miscellaneous Positions will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such
absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the
check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll
check.
 
Witness Duty
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court
of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the working
day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one (1) case, shall result in no
loss of wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with
substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of
the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will be made from the next
payroll check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or
employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the
employee to testify. However, if the employee has been named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as
an ECS employee, such employee shall not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition.
 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of
Personnel. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For
employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child
is expected in the home. In cases of emergency, the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested
for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable.
 



The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group insurance
program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the Business
Office.
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave, the employee
must notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to
the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.
 
Holidays and Vacations Definitions
 

A. As used in this policy, the term "full-time employee" means an employee who is employed on a twelve-month basis and
who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours.
 

B. As used in this policy, the term "school year employee" means an employee who is employed on a school-year basis and
works approximately 175 or more days per year, and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours.

 
Holidays
 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 

A. Full-time classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when they occur on days which would have been
worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below:
 
New Year's - two (2) days
 
Martin Luther King Jr. Day
 
Presidents Day
 
Memorial Day
 
Independence Day – two (2) days 
 
Labor Day
 
Thanksgiving - two (2) days
 
Christmas - two (2) days
 

1. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) days will be allowed as follows:
 

a. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee
may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both December 24 or
December 26 as a holiday with pay, and may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select
either but not both December 31 or January 2 as a holiday with pay. To be eligible for either of the above
selections, a classified employee must make such request to the immediate supervisor no later than
December 10.
 

b. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, then both the Friday before and the Monday after
shall be paid holidays, unless schools are open on one (1) of these days, in which case an alternate day will
be determined.
 

2. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday
following, unless school is in session.
 

3. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays.



 
4. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holiday.

 
B. School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days which they would have

worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above:

Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
 

Presidents Day
 

Memorial Day
 

Labor Day
 

Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days)
 

Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following)
 
Vacations
 

A. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one
(1) calendar year, shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the next calendar year, for each full
month of employment completed, provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued.
 

B. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
that entire calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

C. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
fivesix (56) consecutive years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 
 

D. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
fifteen (15) consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

E. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
twenty (20) consecutive years, is entitled to twenty-five (25) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar
year.
 

F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption of service did not include other employment.
 

G. For the sole purpose of determining vacation benefit eligibility; employees who transfer from a school-year position to a
twelve (12) month position will be granted years of service based on the following conversion formula. NOTE: the years
of service conversion is only applicable for the purpose of vacation benefits. This computation does not replace the total
years of service invested with Elkhart Community Schools for the purposes of Retirement benefits or Staff Recognition.
 
The employee’s employment record with Elkhart Community Schools for all positions held will be considered. Using the
number of paid hours per day, multiplied by the number of paid days per school year, divided by 2080 to obtain the
number of years equivalent to a twelve (12) month position. The total number of equivalent years will be rounded up to
the nearest whole number.
 
The calculated number of years of service will be used in determining the total number of day’s vacation which such full-
time employee is entitled to receive under this policy. The employee will receive the total amount of awarded vacation
days effective the January following their date of conversion. Prior to completing one (1) full year of service, the
employee will be entitled to a prorated amount of vacation days based on the calculation formula referenced in the
paragraph above. 
 

H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the immediate supervisor prior to the first day of
requested vacation, and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor.
 

I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6)
months beyond.
 

J. Only twelve (12) month employees will be entitled to paid vacation days.
 



K. Radio Station Manager, Data and Assessments Manager, and Building Services Manager shall be eligible for twenty (20)
days of vacation each contract year, exclusive of weekends and holidays, at a time(s) approved by the staff member's
immediate supervisor(s). Upon completion of five (5) years of employment with the Elkhart Community Schools in such
position, or when previous employment provided relatively comparable experience, said managers shall be eligible for
twenty-five (25) days of vacation each year. 

Vacation days will be available to the said managers during the twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6)
months beyond. Unused vacation days will not be cumulative after the expiration of the eighteen (18) month period and
shall at that time be transferred to sick leave and be available for use as sick leave days, provided at no time may more
than the number of hours equal to the number of scheduled workdays in the current year accumulate for use as sick
leave.

 
Revised 1/24/17
Revised 6/27/17
Revised 10/24/17
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 5/8/18 
Revised 8/14/18
Revised 11/13/18 
Revised 12/11/18 
Revised 12/18/18
Revised 2/12/19
Revised 3/12/19
Revised 6/25/19
Revised 8/13/19
Revised 10/7/19
Revised 12/10/19 
Revised 2/11/20



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised THERAPISTS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.13S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised December 10, 2019

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.13S - THERAPISTS’ COMPENSATION PLAN
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for those classified employees who are acting in a
Therapist or Therapist Technician position to be effective January 1, 20212020. In addition, the three percent (3%) employee
contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools.
 

POSITION YEARLY SALARY RANGE
  
Occupational Therapist 46,331 - 65,98745,631 - 65,287
Occupational Therapist Assistant 44,401 - 53,73743,701 - 53,037
Physical Therapist Assistant 44,401 - 53,73743,701 - 53,037
Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA) 46,331 - 65,98745,631 – 65,287

 
POSITION HOURLY WAGE

  
Physical Therapist $44.7244. 42 - $58.4758. 17
Speech Language Pathology Assistant (SLPA) $27.2426.94 - $34.8334.53

 
Years Regularly Employed by or in Amount of Hourly

the Elkhart Community Schools Career Increment
  
5 or more, but less than 10 $.20
10 or more, but less than 15 $.30
15 or more, but less than 20 $.50
20 or more $.70

 
License Renewal
 
Elkhart Community Schools will reimburse Therapists for their bi-annual state license renewal fees following submission of
evidence said fee has been paid in a timely manner.
 
Fringe Benefits
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax-sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through company or broker approved by the Board of
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools.
 

B. Insurance 
 



In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one of the
plans provided by the Board.
 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the
next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability
insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week.
 

C. Severance Benefits
 
Therapists who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will
be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at least ten
(10) working days prior to the last date of employment.
 

1. Resignation
 
Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment. Vacation days
earned in the current year shall also be paid to full-time employees. Payment for unused personal leave and
vacation shall be made at the rate of pay in effect at termination. The effective date of resignation shall be
established to include use of all personal leave and unused vacation days.
 

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability
 
The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Therapists’ Fringe Benefits.
 

a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart
Community Schools. Only the six (6) months service requirement must be met to be eligible for the
disability or death benefit.
 

b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible employees
who retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.
In the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 
 

c. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of
service and
who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least the last
five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by paying 100% of the
premiums in advance at the business office.
 

d. When retiring, a therapist who has ten (10) years of service and is at least fifty-five (55) years of age may
select one of the following benefits based upon the employee’s daily rate at the time of retirement:
 

1. One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools, or
 

2. At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the
provisions in the therapist employee booklet. 
 

D. Change in Therapists Classification 

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy.

 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence
will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days
when pay is not to be received.) 
 



All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school year shall
be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the appropriate
administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or less consecutive working
days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence

Regular school-year classified employees will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness each year. 
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 120 work days. Use of
accumulated sick leave by a school-year employee terminates at the close of the school year. It cannot be used again unless the
employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work following an illness.
 
Family Illness
 
“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall mean an individual
whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean any person related
to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 
Job-Related Injury
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate. The
employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family
for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the
death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively. 
 
“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 
Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the
employee’s immediate family.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the
funeral of a friend.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative. When
requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)



calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay he/she shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the
physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave - Administrative Regulation
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and
vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate
administrator. 
 

Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it
will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The
cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any
required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities.
Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible
for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available. 
 
Personal Leave
 
Therapists are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each
calendar year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate
administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs. If an employee retains all three (3)
personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days to the following year to equal five
(5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall accumulate for retirement. In the event the
employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the employee must provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice
requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor. 
 
If a Therapist does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee’s supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen
emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence. 
 



Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods
of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is
scheduled as a parent teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the
following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years, an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period.
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking
said day.
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be
granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency
exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending to his or her
assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 
Jury Duty
 
All therapists will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence shall result in no
loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented to the
payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll check.
 
Witness Duty
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court
of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the working
day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of
wages.
 
For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with substitute
deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check
shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll
check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or
employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the
employee to testify. However, if the employee has been named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as
an ECS employee, such employee shall not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition.
 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human
Resources. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For
employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child
is expected in the home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested
for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable.
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer, or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the
Business Office.
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee
must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to
the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.
 
Holidays



 
Therapists shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if it were not for that
special day, subject to the provisions above:
 

A. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
 

B. Presidents Day
 

C. Memorial Day
 

D. Labor Day
 

E. Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days)
 

F. Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following)

 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 
Revised 1/1/17
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 2/27/18
Revised 12/18/18



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised EMPLOYEES IN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES POSITIONS COMPENSATION
PLAN

Code po3422.14S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised December 10, 2019

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.14S - EMPLOYEES IN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES POSITIONS COMPENSATION PLAN
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for the positions below to be effective January 1,
20212020. In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools.
 

POSITION HOURLY WAGE RANGE
  
Support Technician 16.89 - 26.2316.59 – 25.93
Service Desk Coordinator 16.89 - 26.2316.59 – 25.93
Data Systems Analyst 16.89 - 26.2316.59 – 25.93

 
POSITION YEARLY SALARY RANGE
  
Manager of Infrastructure Services 65,625 - 96,90964,725 - 96,009
Senior Technical Support Manager 67,782 - 94,75166,882 – 93,851
Manager of Enterprise Application Services 52,679 - 73,17651,779 – 72,276
Network Administrator 46,207 - 65,62545,307 – 64,725
Telecommunications System Administrator 46,207 - 65,62545,307 – 64,725
Deployment Administrator 46,207 - 65,62545,307 – 64,725
Infrastructure Services Coordinator 46,207 - 65,62545,307 – 64,725
LMS & Student Data Integration Specialist 46,207 - 65,62545,307 – 64,725
Application Developer 46,207 - 65,62545,307 – 64,725
EAS Support Specialist 44,050 - 63,46843,150 – 62,568

 
Fringe Benefits
 
Placement shall be determined on verified past experience. Policies which are applicable to all other classified employees shall be
applicable to these positions.
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax-sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through company or broker approved by the Board of
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

B. Insurance
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one of the
plans provided by the Board.



 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the
next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability
insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week.
 

C. Information Technology Skills/Certification Training
 
In order to properly serve our schools, Elkhart Community Schools must ensure that its technology service employees
are professionally educated, trained and certified within the industry and with those products and services which the
district provides. Throughout the term of employment, Elkhart Community Schools expects its technology service
employees to undergo training on behalf of Elkhart Community Schools to advance their skills, to update or gain new
certifications, and/or to remain current with industry developments.
 
Elkhart Community Schools will pay for the costs of training pursuant to the following requirements:
 

1. Training must be completed successfully. Training leading to certification must result in obtaining said
certification.
 

2. The training must be approved in advance. Such training may be requested by technology service employees, or
may be directed by the Director of Technology. 
 

3. The "INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SKILLS/CERTIFICATION TRAINING" request form must be prepared and
submitted in advance of such training. Requested training will be subject to the approval of the Director of
Technology.

In consideration for Elkhart Community Schools’ agreement to pay for training costs, technology service employees
requesting such training agree to repay Elkhart Community Schools for the costs of training on a pro-rated basis,
rounded to the nearest month, in the event that the technology service employee leaves the employ of Elkhart
Community Schools within two years following the completion of any such training. At the discretion of the Director of
Technology, this requirement may be waived with consideration to whether the technology service employee is
continuing his or her employment within an information technology field.
 
The Director of Technology shall develop the forms necessary for implementation of this section of Board Policy.

D. Severance Benefits
 
Technology Services Employees who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart
Community Schools will be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human
Resources at least ten (10) working days prior to the last date of employment.
 

1. Resignation  
 
Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment. Vacation days
earned in the current year shall also be paid to full-time employees. Payment for unused personal leave and
vacation shall be made at the rate of pay in effect at termination. The effective date of resignation shall be
established to include use of all personal leave and unused vacation days. 
 

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability
 
The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Technology Services Employees’ Fringe Benefits.
 

a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time
of retirement is age fifty-five (55) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the
Elkhart Community Schools. Only the six (6) months service requirement must be met to be eligible for the
disability or death benefit.
 

b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible employees
who retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.
Vacation days earned in the current year shall also be paid prior to retirement, or upon disability
termination or death of the employee. In the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s
estate.
 



c. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by paying
100% of the premiums in advance at the business office. 
 

d. A Technology Services Employee who retires at age fifty-five (55) or older with ten (10) or more
consecutive years of service, or a Technology Services Employee who dies with ten (10) or more
consecutive years of service is eligible to select one of the following benefits based upon the employee’s
daily rate at the time of retirement:
 

1. One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools, or
 

2. At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the
provisions in this employee booklet.
 

e. During the month of January, any Technology Services Employee who has perfect attendance, other than
vacation, bereavement, or personal leave, in any full year subsequent to January 1, 2019, shall be paid the
sum of $100 for each year; any employee who is absent for any reason for five (5) or less days, other than
vacation, bereavement, or personal leave, shall be paid a sum of $50. 

Any Technology Services Employee who has perfect attendance, other than vacation, bereavement, or
personal leave, in any full year subsequent to January 1, 2006 and prior to January 1, 2019, shall be paid
the sum of $100 for each year at the time of retirement. Any employee who is absent for any reason for
five (5) or less days, other than vacation, bereavement, or personal leave days, shall be paid the sum of
$50 for each year at the time of retirement. 
 

E. Change in Support Staff Classification 

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy.

 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence
will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days
when pay is not to be received.)
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school year shall
be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the appropriate
administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or less consecutive working
days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents,
parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents,
stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the
legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall
mean an individual whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean
any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 
Full-time classified personnel will be allowed the number of hours equal to one workday per month of employment for personal
illness/family illness absence. This will provide ninety-six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually. Unused
personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the number of hours equal to two hundred (200) days as
personal illness.
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work following an illness.
 



Job-Related Injury
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate. The
employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits.
 
Bereavement
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family
for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the
death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively.
 
“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 
Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the
employee’s immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral of a
friend.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.
 
Military Leave
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge.
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay he/she shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the
physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 
Health Leave - Procedure
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and
vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.
 

A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or
 



B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate
administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it
will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The
cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer.
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any
required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities.
Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible
for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.
 
Personal Leave
 
Full-time classified personnel are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons
during each calendar year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the
appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs. If an employee retains all
three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days to the following year to
equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall accumulate for retirement at the end of
the year. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days the employee must provide thirty (30) calendar
days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor.
 
If an employee does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee’s supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen
emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods
of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is
scheduled as a parent teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the
following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years, an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period.
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking
said day.
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be
granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency
exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending to his or her
assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 
Jury Duty
 
All Technology Services Employees will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such
absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the
check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll
check.



 
Witness Duty
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court
of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the working
day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of
wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with substitute
deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check
shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll
check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or
employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the
employee to testify. However, if the employee has been named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as
an ECS employee, such employee shall not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition.
 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human
Resources. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For
employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child
is expected in the home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested
for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable.
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer, or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the
Business Office.
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee
must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to
the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.
 
Holidays and Vacations
 
Definitions
 
As used in this policy, the term "full-time employee" means an employee who is employed on a twelve-month basis and who has
a regular workday of four (4) or more hours.
 
Holidays
 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 
Full-time classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when they occur on days which would have been worked if
it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below:
 

A. New Year’s - two (2) days
 

B. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
 

C. Presidents Day
 

D. Memorial Day
 

E. Independence Day - two (2) days
 

F. Labor Day
 

G. Thanksgiving Day two (2) days
 



H. Christmas Day - two (2) days

 
During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) days will be allowed as follows:
 

A. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee may, subject
to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both December 24 or December 26 as a holiday with pay,
and may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not both December 31 or January 2 as a
holiday with pay. To be eligible for either of the above selections, a classified employee must make such request to the
immediate supervisor no later than December 10.
 

B. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, then both the Friday before and the Monday after shall be paid
holidays, unless schools are open on one of these days, in which case an alternate day will be determined. 
 

When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following, unless
school is in session.
 
Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays.
 
Presidents’ Day will be a paid holiday.
 
Vacations
 

A. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one
(1) calendar year, shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the next calendar year, for each full
month of employment completed, provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued.
 

B. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
that entire calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

C. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
five (5)six consecutive years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

D. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
fifteen (15) consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.
 

E. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for
twenty (20) consecutive years, is entitled to twenty-five (25) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar
year.
 

F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption of service did not include other employment. 
 

G. For the sole purpose of determining vacation benefit eligibility; employees who transfer from a school-year position to a
twelve (12) month position will be granted years of service based on the following conversion formula. NOTE: the years
of service conversion is only applicable for the purpose of vacation benefits. This computation does not replace the
total years of service invested with Elkhart Community Schools for the purposes of Retirement benefits or Staff
Recognition.
 
The employee’s employment record with Elkhart Community Schools for all positions held will be considered. Using the
number of paid hours per day, multiplied by the number of paid days per school year, divided by 2080 to obtain the
number of years equivalent to a twelve (12) month position. The total number of equivalent years will be rounded up to
nearest whole number.
 
The calculated number of years of service will be used in determining the total number of day’s vacation which such full-
time employee is entitled to receive under this policy. The employee will receive the total amount of awarded vacation
days effective the January following their date of conversion. Prior to completing one full year of service, the employee
will be entitled to a prorated amount of vacation days based on the calculation formula referenced in the paragraph
above.
 

H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the immediate supervisor prior to the first day of
requested vacation, and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor.
 



I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6)
months beyond. 
 

J. Only twelve (12) month employees will be entitled to paid vacation days.
 

K. The Superintendent’s designee shall have the authority to place employees on the above-described schedule in such a
way as to give credit for years of experience to employees whose prior employment was for a contractor which assigned
that employee on a full time basis to the School District.

 
Revised 1/1/17
Revised 12/12/17
Revised 5/22/18
Revised 12/18/18



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised PERMANENT SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.15S

Status

Adopted January 1, 2017

Last Revised December 10, 2019

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.15S - PERMANENT SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN
 
Section 1. PERMANENT SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS’ SALARY SCHEDULE
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for those classified professional employees to be
effective January 1, 20212020. In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart
Community Schools.
 

Substitute with
Bachelors Degree and

Substitute Permit

Substitute with
Substitute
Permit only

Substitute with
Indiana Teacher’s

License
   

$146.00143.00 per day
180 days

$26,280.0025 ,740 .00

$136.00133.00 per day
180 days

$24,480.0023 ,940.00

Daily Rate Based on
Experience Pursuant to

Hiring Schedule
 
Section 2. FRINGE BENEFITS
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax-sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board of
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

B. Insurance
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one of the
plans provided by the Board.
 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the
next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability
insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 
 

C. Change in Classification

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy 3413S.

 
Section 3. ABSENCES
 



When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his or her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence
will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days
when pay is not to be received.)
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school year shall
be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the appropriate
administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or less consecutive working
days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Section 4. PERSONAL ILLNESS/FAMILY ILLNESS ABSENCES AND LEAVES
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 

A. Regular school-year classified employees will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness leave.
 

B. Any unused hours will accumulate as illness absence to a total of the number of hours equal to one hundred twenty (120)
workdays. Use of accumulated sick leave by a school-year employee terminates at the close of the school year. It cannot
be used again unless the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date.
 

C. The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work following an illness.

 
Family Illness
 
“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney. “Life Partner” shall mean an individual
whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean any person related
to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 
Job-Related Injury
 
An employee injured in the performance of his or her duties is eligible for Worker’s Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of employment
responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker’s Compensation. Worker’s Compensation benefits will begin
after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee’s average wage rate. The
employee’s share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be
terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits.
 
Section 5. PERSONAL LEAVE
 
Permanent Substitute Teachers are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons
during each calendar year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the
appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
If an employee retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days
to the following year to equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall accumulate for
retirement at the end of the year. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the employee must
provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor.
 
If an employee does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Permanent Substitute Teacher’s Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee’s supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen



emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods
of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is
scheduled as a parent teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the
following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years, an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period.
 

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking
said day.
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be
granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency
exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending to his/her
assigned duties.

 
No personal leave will be granted for participation in any strike or work stoppage or other concerted action by an employee or
employee group.
 
Section 6. BEREAVEMENT
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family
for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the
death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively. In the event more than one death in the
employee's immediate family should occur, the employee may be absent from work with pay for five (5) business days for each
death. Said days must be used by the employee within twelve (12) months of the second death of the immediate family
member, but do not have to be used consecutively.
 
“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 
Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the
employee’s immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral of a
friend.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.
 
 
 
 
Section 7. Military Leave
 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge.
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to
receive temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay he/she shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for



each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
 
Section 8. JURY AND WITNESS DUTY PAY
 

A. Jury Duty
 
All Permanent Substitute Teachers will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such
absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of
the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the
next payroll check. 
 

B. Witness Duty

In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before
a court of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time
during the working day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one
case, shall result in no loss of wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant
additional days with pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of
his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to
witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given
in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any
other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. However, if the employee has been
named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as an ECS employee, such employee shall not be
subjected to the forgoing prohibition. 
 
 

Section 9. HOLIDAYS
 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 
Permanent Substitute Teachers shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked
if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above:
 

A. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
 

B. Presidents Day
 

C. Memorial Day
 

D. Labor Day
 

E. Thanksgiving Day and Friday following (2 days)
 

F. Christmas Day (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following)

 
Revised 8/14/18
Revised 10/23/18
Revised 12/18/18



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised LICENSED PRACTICAL NURSES' COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.16S

Status

Adopted July 28, 2020

Last Revised July 28, 2020

Last Reviewed November 20, 2020

 
Licensed Practical Nurses’ Salary Schedule
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following schedule for Licensed Practical Nurses to be effective for January 1,
2021. In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools.
 

Step
Experience*

as Licensed Practical Nurse
 

Hourly Rate
Licensed Practical Nurse (LPN)

 
1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days 16.4116.11

2 55 days, but not more than 3 years 18.0317.73

3 3 years to 5 years 19.6519.35

4 5 years to 7 years 21.2720.97

5 7 years and more 22.8922.59

*Step placement will be determined on verified past experience. Experience with Elkhart Community Schools will be
updated annually, effective on January 1.
 
CAREER INCREMENT SCHEDULE
 
 
 

Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools  Increments
  
 5 or more, but less than 10 $270
 10 or more, but less than 15 400
15 or more, but less than 20 670 
20 or more 935 
 
 
Fringe Benefits
 
 
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities

 

The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income
protection and tax sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through company or broker approved
by the Board of Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools.



B. Insurance
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each
regular classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group
hospitalization, major medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible
employees’ may select one of the plans provided by the Board.
 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded
up to the next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a
group long-term disability insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week.
 

C. Severance Benefits
 
Licensed Practical Nurses who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart
Community Schools will be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director
of Human Resources at least ten (10) working days prior to the last date of employment.

1. Resignation

Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment at the rate of
pay in effect at termination. The effective date of resignation shall be established to include use of all
personal leave.

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability

The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Licensed Practical Nurses’ Fringe Benefits.

a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the
time of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the
Elkhart Community Schools. Only the six (6) months service requirement must be met to be eligible for
the disability or death benefit.

b. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible
employees who retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart
Community Schools. In the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s estate.

c. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years
of service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group insurance plan for
at least the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by
paying 100% of the premiums in advance at the business office.

d. When retiring, a Licensed Practical Nurse who has ten (10) years of service and is at least fifty-five (55)
years of age may select one of the following benefits based upon the employee’s daily rate at the time
of retirement:

 

1. One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools, or

2. At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the
provisions in the Licensed Practical Nurses employee booklet.

Change in Classification 

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy.
 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for
absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency
closing days when pay is not to be received.)

All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school year



shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the
appropriate administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or less
consecutive working days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness leave each
calendar year.
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as illness absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 120 workdays. Use of
accumulated sick leave by a school year employee terminates at the close of the school year. It cannot be used again unless
the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date.
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work following an illness.
 
Family Illness
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents,
parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents,
stepparents, stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the
employee is the legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
“Life Partner” shall mean an individual whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship.
“Family Unit” shall mean any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the
employee is the legal guardian.
 
Job-Related Injury
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's Compensation. The employee is required to
complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the
employer. Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of and in the course of
employment responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation
benefits will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's
average wage rate. The employee's share of the health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business
Office or insurance will be terminated. An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal
business, and/or vacation benefits.
 
Bereavement
 
Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death
in the immediate family for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within
twelve (12) months of the death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively.
 
“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or
for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 
Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the
employee’s immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral
of a friend.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s), with or without pay, may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.
 
Military Leave
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to
take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge.
 



An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to
receive temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one
(1) calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay he/she
shall present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be
made for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee
will be restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment,
the physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to
continue participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own
expense.
 
Health Leave - Administrative Regulation
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave,
and vacation benefits, may be placed on a health leave.

A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or
B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been

provided, or
C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate

administrator.

Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all
benefits, it will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a
physician. The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer.
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and
any required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job
responsibilities. Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year,
s/he will be eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.
 
Personal Leave
 
Licensed Practical Nurses are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons
during each calendar year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the
appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
If an employee retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3)
days to the following year to equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day will
accumulate for retirement at the end of the year. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days the
employee must provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their
immediate supervisor.
 
If an employee does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to
the employee's supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours
advance notice, the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written
request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 



Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation
periods of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that
day is scheduled as a parent teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with
the following procedure:

A. Once every three (3) years, an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period.

B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of
taking said day.

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall
be granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an
emergency exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending
to his/her assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 
Jury Duty
 
All Licensed Practical Nurses will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence
shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check
shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll
check.
 
Witness Duty
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a
court of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during
the working day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one case, shall
result in no loss of wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days
with pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty
check, a copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will be
made from the next payroll check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any litigation in which the
employee is a party, or employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any other school employer, unless
the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. However, if the employee has been named as a party as a result of the
employee's performance of duties as an ECS employee, such employee shall not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition.

 

Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of
Human Resources. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty
(30) days after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child.
For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that
the child is expected in the home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may
be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable.

The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer, or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the
Business Office.

 

Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family
illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the
employee must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive
leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically
turned over to the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody.

 



Holidays
 
Licensed Practical Nurses shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if it
were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above:

A. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
B. Presidents Day

C. Memorial Day

D. Labor Day
E. Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days)
F. Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday

following)

In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 
Payment of State Licensing Fees
 
The Elkhart Community Schools will reimburse each Licensed Practical Nurse for the biennial licensing fee paid to the State
of Indiana by the nurse.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Book Policy Manual

Section 3000 Personnel

Title Proposed Revised PARAPROFESSIONALS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

Code po3422.08S

Status

Adopted December 13, 2016

Last Revised January 14, 2020

Last Reviewed November 24, 2020

3422.08S - PARAPROFESSIONALS’ COMPENSATION PLAN
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for paraprofessionals to be effective January 1,
20212020.
 
Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule
 
No B.A. or B.S. Degree in Education                                                                                                     
 
Step ECS Experience as Paraprofessional Hourly Rate
  A B

1 0 days or more, but less than fifty-five (55) days
(Probationary Rate)

10.5410.249.999.69

2 55 days or more, but less than 1 year 10.6610.3610.3610.06
3 1 year or more, but less than 2 years 11.1710.8710.8910.59
4 2 years or more, but less than 3 years 11.7311.4311.4011.10
5 3 years or more, but less than 4 years 12.2611.9611.9011.60
6 4 years or more, but less than 5 years 12.7012.4012.3312.03
7 5 years or more, but less than 6 years 13.2612.9612.8512.55
8 6 years or more, but less than 7 years 13.7413.4413.3413.04
9 7 years or more 14.3014.0013.8713.57
 
B.A. or B.S. Degree in Education 
 
StepECS Experience* as Paraprofessional Hourly Rate
 *subject to Sections 2-A-5 and 2-B-2 A B
1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days (Probationary Rate) 11.3011.00 11.0110.71
2 55 days or more, but less than 1 year 11.7311.43 11.4011.10
3 1 year or more, but less than 2 years 12.2611.96 11.9011.60
4 2 years or more, but less than 3 years 12.7012.40 12.3312.03
5 3 years or more, but less than 4 years 13.2612.96 12.8512.55
6 4 years or more, but less than 5 years 13.7413.44 13.3413.04
7 5 years or more, but less than 6 years 14.3014.00 13.8713.57
 
Key:Column A = Less than four (4) hours/day employees

 Column B = Four (4) or more hours/day employees (In addition, the three percent
(3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community School.

 
Explanation of Schedules
 

A. Paraprofessional with no B.A. or B.S. Degree 
 



1. An employee who does not possess by January 1 of each year a Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Science degree in
education from an accredited four-year college or university shall be classified as a "paraprofessional" and shall be
paid a wage in accordance with the Wage Schedule, pursuant to Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule-A of this
Policy. 
 

2. Any paraprofessional with thirty (30) or more but less than ninety (90) semester hours credit as described in part
4 of this section shall be placed on Step 3 of the salary schedule after successful completion of probationary
employment. 
 

3. Any paraprofessional with ninety (90) or more semester hours credit as described in part 4 of this section shall be
placed on Step 4 of the salary schedule after successful completion of probationary employment. 
 

4. All semester credit hours must be a part of a regular college or university program leading to a B.A. or B.S.
degree in education, and a letter of verification shall be submitted to the Director of Human Resources for
approval before credit towards experience is granted. 
 

5. Verified experience as a teacher, substitute teacher, or educational aide will be evaluated to determine placement,
but in no case will an employee be placed at Step 8 or higher. 
 

6. Director of Human Resources/Designee may place paraprofessionals in hard to fill positions (e.g. emotionally
disabled, intense intervention) on steps 4 – 8 of the Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule at their date of hire. 
 

7. No change in wage status due to earned credit hours shall be made at any time other than January 1 of each
year. 
 

8. Paraprofessionals employed on or before January 1, 1976, who possess a B.A. or B.S. college degree in a field
other than educational shall be eligible for placement on Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule -B, Paraprofessional
Wage Schedule. 
 

B. Paraprofessional with a B.A. or B.S. Degree 
 

1. Upon completion of a Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Science degree in education, a paraprofessional shall be
classified, beginning January 1 of the year following completion of said degree, as a "paraprofessional" and shall
be paid a wage in accordance with the Paraprofessional Wage Schedule, pursuant to Paraprofessionals’ Wage
Schedule-B of this Policy. 
 

2. Verified experience as a teacher, substitute teacher, or educational aide will be evaluated to determine placement,
but in no case will an employee be placed at Step 6 or higher.
 

C. Wage Differentials 
 

1. Paraprofessionals assigned to emotionally disabled classrooms as well as special education classrooms where
custodial care and lifting are required shall be paid a differential of $1.00 per hour over their existing rate. In
addition, paraprofessionals who are required to perform pre-trip inspections of activity busses will be paid a
differential of $1.00 per hour over their existing rate.
 

2. Elementary library paraprofessionals and technology instructional paraprofessionals shall be paid a differential of
$1.00 per hour over their existing rate.
 

3. Technology instructional paraprofessionals who obtain and maintain certification prescribed by the Director of
Technology Integration shall receive an additional pay differential of $1.00 per hour.
 

4. Paraprofessionals assigned to the Elkhart Academy, both secondary and elementary, shall be paid a differential of
$1.00 per hour over their existing rate 
 

D. Paraprofessional Career Increment Schedule 
 

Years regularly employed by Elkhart Community Schools
Amount of

Hourly Career
Increment

  
five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) .20
  



ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) .30
  
fifteen (15) or more, but less than seventeen (17) .40
  
seventeen (17) or more, but less than twenty (20) .50
  
twenty (20) or more .60
 

Paraprofessionals’ Fringe Benefits
 

A. Income Protection and Annuities 

The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified employees to purchase income protection
and tax-sheltered annuities. This is done by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board. 
 

B. Insurance 

In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular
classified employee, working thirty (30) or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School Trustees. Eligible employees’ may select one of the
plans provided by the Board. 

The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the
next thousand dollars. The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability
insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 
 

C. Severance Benefits 

Paraprofessionals who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community
Schools will be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the Director of Human Resources at
least ten (10) working days prior to the last date of employment. 
 

1. Resignation
 
Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the current year of employment at the rate of pay
in effect at termination. The effective date of resignation shall be established to include use of all personal leave. 
 

2. Retirement, Death, or Disability
 
The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Paraprofessionals’ Fringe Benefits.
 

a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be defined as resignation by an employee who at the time
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart
Community Schools or who is age fifty-five (55) and has fifteen (15) or more consecutive years of
employment in Elkhart Community Schools. Only the six (6) months service requirement must be met to
be eligible for the disability or death benefit.
 
The requirement for consecutive years of employment is modified only under the following conditions: If a
paraprofessional leaves the employment of the Elkhart Community Schools for any reason and for any
period of time and then return to employment with the Elkhart Community Schools, the years of service
completed prior to this break in employment will be counted toward the years of employment requirement
for severance benefits, but the employee must work two additional years beyond the total number required
to normally reach the years of employment requirement. For example, if a paraprofessional works for the
district for eight (8) years, leaves the district’s employment for one (1) year and then returns to
employment, s/he must work another four (4) years in order to meet the age sixty (60) and ten (10) years
of experience requirement, or nine (9) years in order to meet the age fifty- five (55) and fifteen (15) years
of experience requirement. In addition, there can only be one break in employment under this exception to
the consecutive years of service requirement. If there is more than one (1) break in service, the
paraprofessional’s prior years of service will not be counted and the consecutive service requirement will
apply. 
 



b. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of unused personal leave will be paid to eligible
employees who retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart
Community Schools. In the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s estate.
 

c. In addition, employees who are fifty-five (55) years of age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by paying
100% of the premiums in advance at the business office.
 

d. When retiring, a Paraprofessional may select one of the following benefits based upon the employee’s daily
rate at the time of retirement:
 

1. Two (2) day’s pay for each full year employed by the Elkhart Community Schools, or
 

2. At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the
provisions in the Paraprofessional employee booklet. 
 

D. Change in Paraprofessionals Classification 

When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in
effect. Years of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy.

 
Absences
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to his/her
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. This notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the
employee regularly reports for work. Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence. Deductions for absence
will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days
when pay is not to be received.)
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness and leave benefits. Absences for all
classified personnel in addition to the days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for
which prior approval has been granted. Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of the employer, be subject to
proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the employer. Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school year shall
be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination. Upon written request received by the appropriate
administrator, at least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five (5) or less consecutive
working days may be approved. The best interests of the school corporation will be considered.
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence
 

A. School-year Employees 
 

1. Regular school year classified employees will be awarded twelve (12) days of personal illness/family illness leave
each calendar year. 
 

2. Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 120
workdays. Use of accumulated sick leave by a school year employee terminates at the close of the school year. It
cannot be used again unless the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date. 
 

B. All Employees 
 

1. The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work following an illness. 
 

2. Immediate family shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑
or sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparents, stepparents,
stepchildren, or any member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the
employee is the legal guardian, or for whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of
Attorney. “Life Partner” shall mean an individual whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a
family relationship. “Family Unit” shall mean any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or
any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian.
 



3. An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker’s Compensation. The employee is
required to complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as
directed by the employer. Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of
and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws regarding Worker’s
Compensation. Worker’s Compensation benefits will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and
two-thirds percent (66 - 2/3%) of the employee’s average wage rate. The employee’s share of the health/life
insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be terminated. An employee
may receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits.

 
Attendance Incentive Program
 
Beginning January 1, 2020, the following attendance incentive program will be effective for all paraprofessional employees. For
the purpose of this program, the year will run from January 1st through December 31st.
 
During the month of January, any paraprofessional who has perfect attendance throughout the prior year, other than vacation,
bereavement, or personal leave, shall be paid the sum of $500. Any employee who is absent for any reason for five (5) or less
days during the prior year, other than vacation, bereavement, or personal leave days, shall be paid the sum of $250.
 
Bereavement
 
Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in
the immediate family for five (5) business days beyond the date of death. Said days must be used by the employee within
twelve (12) months of the death of the immediate family member, but do not have to be used consecutively.
 
“Immediate family” shall mean employee's spouse, life partner, children, siblings, parents, parents‑in‑law, brother‑ or
sister‑in‑law, son‑ or daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, great-grandparent, stepparents, stepchildren, or any
member of the family unit living in the employee's household, any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian, or for
whom the employee is exercising rights authorized pursuant to a Power of Attorney.
 
Bereavement leave shall also include a miscarriage or the birth of a stillborn baby and be considered a death within the
employee’s immediate family.
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the funeral of another relative.
 
Each calendar year, an employee may take one (1) day of bereavement, without loss of compensation, to attend the funeral of a
friend.
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s), with or without pay, may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the recommendation of the Superintendent to any
regular employee who may be required or shall elect to enter the military service. This will permit the employee to return to take
a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge.
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of the National Guard, is called on to receive
temporary military training shall be entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1)
calendar year. Such absence shall result in no loss of wages. When the employee has received the military pay he/she shall
present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check. Upon return from temporary training or leave, the employee will be
restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment.
 
Health Leave
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the
physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 



Health Leave - Procedure
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be granted a health leave after one (1) year of
service. Requests for health leave by an employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s
statement.
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave for health reasons if, in
its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her
responsibilities.
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to continue
participation in any insurance program in which s/he is enrolled. Such participation shall be at the employee’s own expense.
 

A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or
 

B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular duties for an extended period of time has been
provided, or
 

C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the Director of Human Resources from the appropriate
administrator.

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it
will be grounds for termination. In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician. The
cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer.
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may submit the request for health leave, and any
required documentation.
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating the ability to perform the job responsibilities.
Employment will be held for a period of up to one (1) year. After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be eligible
for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes available.
 
Personal Leave
 
Regular classified employees are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons
during each calendar year without loss of pay. A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the
appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs.
 
If an employee retains all three (3) personal business days at the end of the year, he/she can roll two (2) of the three (3) days
to the following year to equal five (5) personal business days. The remaining unused personal business day shall accumulate for
retirement at the end of the year. In the event the employee intends to use five (5) consecutive days, the employee must
provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice requesting the use of said consecutive days to their immediate supervisor.
 
If an employee does not elect to roll two (2) personal business days into the following year, all unused personal leave will
accumulate for retirement.
 
Personal Leave - Procedure
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave request form and giving such form to the
employee’s supervisor, or authorized designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In the event of an unforeseen
emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice,
the employee shall notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible. When such is the case, the written request shall be
completed no later than the first day of return from the absence.
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods
of Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break, or the day preceding fall recess in the event that day is
scheduled as a parent-teacher conference day, as defined by the school calendar, unless the employee complies with the
following procedure:
 

A. Once every three (3) years, an employee may use personal business hours to extend a holiday or vacation period
described above by exchanging two (2) personal business hours for each personal business hour taken adjacent to the
holiday or vacation period. 
 



B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking
said day.
 

C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding or immediately following vacation periods shall be
granted only upon approval of the Superintendent or designee. For the purpose of determining when an emergency
exists, "emergency" shall be defined as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending to his/her
assigned duties.

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay
 
Jury Duty
 
All paraprofessionals will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury. Such absence shall result
in no loss of wages. When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll check.
 
Witness Duty
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court
of law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the working
day which the employee is required to be present. Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of
wages. For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with pay, with substitute
deduction where applicable, or without pay. When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check
shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll
check. The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any litigation in which the employee is a party, or
employee relations related litigation involving the employer ofor any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the
employee to testify. However, if the employee has been named as a party as a result of the employee's performance of duties as
an ECS employee, such employee shall not be subjected to the forgoing prohibition. 
 
Parental Leave
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request of the employee to the Director of Human
Resources. In the event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child. For
employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child
is expected in the home. In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived. Leaves may be requested
for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which s/he is qualified, as determined by the
employer, or waive any right to re-employment. For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the
Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than eighteensix (186) years old shall be entitled to use family illness
leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the adoptive child. In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee
must notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon
acceptance of the application for adoption. All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to
the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Paraprofessionals’ Holidays
 
In order to receive holiday pay, an employee must be in an active pay status on the day before and after the holiday.
 

A. Definitions 
 

1. As used in this policy, the term "full-time employee" means an employee who is employed on a twelve (12) month
basis and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 
 

2. As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an employee who is employed on a school-year
basis and works approximately one 175 or more days per year, and who has a regular workday of four (4) or



more hours. 
 

B. Holidays

School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days which they would have
worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above: 

Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 

Presidents Day 

Memorial Day 

Labor Day 

Thanksgiving Day – two (2) days 

Christmas Day (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following)

 
Revised 1/1/17 
Revised 12/12/17 
Revised 10/23/18
Revised 1/8/19
Revised 12/10/19



 ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 

 

 RESOLUTION FOR TRANSFER OF APPROPRIATIONS 
 November 24, 2020 

 

 

 

 WHEREAS, it has been shown that certain appropriations have unencumbered remaining 

balances and,   

 

 WHEREAS, certain accounts are in need of transferred appropriations, 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved this 24th day of November 2020, that transfers within 

budget classifications of certain budgeted funds may be performed in accordance with  

IC 6-1.1-18-6. 

 

 

ADOPTED THIS 24th DAY OF NOVEMBER 2020: 

 

 

       AYE                NAY 

 

____________________________________    ___________________________________ 

 

____________________________________    ___________________________________ 

 

____________________________________    ___________________________________ 

 

____________________________________    ___________________________________ 

 

____________________________________    ___________________________________ 

 

____________________________________    ___________________________________ 

 

____________________________________    ___________________________________ 

 

 BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 

 

 

 

ATTEST:______________________________________ 

   Secretary, Board of School Trustees 

resolutn.tra 



PETTY CASH $ 500.00                 

GENERAL ACCOUNTS:                      

     Lake City Bank – Deposit Account 22,067,138.24     
     Lake City Bank – Accounts Payable (1,537,046.55)      
     Lake City Bank – Merchant Account                                  -                       
     Teachers Credit Union                                                       2,959,491.15       
     BMO Harris Bank (UMR insurance) 407,420.00          

SCHOOL LUNCH ACCOUNTS:
     Lake City Bank – Prepaid Lunch                                        151,230.34          
     Change Fund            2,010.00              

TEXTBOOK RENTAL ACCOUNTS:

     Chase Bank 1,618,787.29       

PAYROLL ACCOUNTS:

     Lake City Bank – Payroll Account                                      (70,549.20)           
     Lake City Bank – Flex Account                                          80,477.32            
     

INVESTMENTS:

     Certificate of Deposit  -                       
                                                                                                                            

ACCOUNT BALANCES/INVESTMENT DETAIL
October 2020

25,679,458.59$      





 

INTERNAL MEMO 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

2720 California Road • Elkhart, IN 46514 

 

 

 

 

To: Board of School Trustees 

 Dr. Thalheimer  

    

From: Kevin Scott 

 

Date:  December 8, 2020 
 

Subject: Premium Holiday 

  

As a result of improved Insurance Fund cash balance, the Business Office recommends 

Board approval of providing a one-time premium holiday for all staff currently participating 

on the ECS benefits plan. The payroll date this will occur if approved is December 24th, 

2020. 





Future 
Expansion

Elkhart Memorial High School 
Conceptual Master Plan 

0 50 100

Feet

Elkhart 
Memorial 

High School

D
RO

P 
O

FF
 Z

O
N

E

D
RO

P 
O

FF
 Z

O
N

E

D
RO

P 
O

FF
 Z

O
N

E

Administration 
Building 

Elkhart Area 
Career Center 

ETI 
Center

Future 
Expansion

Woodland 
Elementary 

School 

California Rd

C
o 

R
d 

3

Tennis Courts

Softball / 
Baseball Field

Bus Parking

Football Field / 
Track 

Soccer Field 

Practice FieldsTrack and Field Practice Fields

Baseball Field 

Future Softball 
Field 

Future Softball 
Field 

Baseball Field 

A

B

G

C

D

E

FH
A

C

I

J

K

L

A

C

D
B

B

TC
TC

C
rim

so
n 

C
ro

ss
in

g 

TC
TC

M

Charger Blvd

Band Practice

Bus Service 
Area Expansion

Fueling Station

C

Estimated Parking Totals 
   Existing   Proposed 

Student              +/- 365             +/- 821 
Bus                              +/- 34  +/-  72

Visitor & Staff Parking 

A

B

C

D
E

F
G

H

I

J
K

Student Parking 

A

B

C

D

X

A

Bus Parking 

Student Parking 

Legend

Entryway 

Existing (+/-80 Spaces)

Existing (+/-30 Spaces)

Existing (+/-12 Spaces)

Existing (+/-9 Spaces)

Existing (+/-12 Spaces)

Existing (+/-75 Spaces)

+/-750 

Existing (+/-45  Flex Spaces)
Proposed (+/-25 Spaces)

Proposed (+/-55 Spaces)

Proposed (+/-150 Spaces)

L

M

Existing (+/-30 Spaces)

Proposed (+/-15 Spaces)

Proposed (+/-60 Spaces)

Proposed (+/-150 Spaces)

Existing (+/-68 Spaces)

Existing (+/-150 Spaces)Proposed (+/-33 Spaces)

Proposed (+/-584 Spaces)

Proposed Bus Parking (5 Spaces)

Proposed Bus Parking  

B Proposed Bus Parking (67 Spaces)

TC

X

X

Career Center Bus PIckup / Dropo�


	Agenda
	Minutes - Special Meeting  - November 6 2020
	Minutes - Public Work Session November 10 2020
	Minutes - Regular Meeting  - November 10 2020
	Gift Acceptance - Music Dept
	Gift Acceptance - Music Dept 2
	Fundraisers
	Personnel Report
	EACC Agreement 20 21 Sample
	2020-11-20 Recommendation to BST custodial TA
	2021 Custodial Tentative Agreement.docx
	11-20-20 Recommendation to BST compensation plans
	3422.01S Food Services
	3422.02S Mechanics
	3422.03S Bus Drivers
	3422.04S Bus Helpers
	3422.05S Maintenance (2)
	3422.05S Maintenance Agreement 2021
	3422.06S Secretarial
	3422.07S Executive Assistants
	3422.09S Technical Assistants
	3422.10S Registered Nurses
	3422.11S Social Workers
	3422.12S Miscellaneous
	3422.13S Therapists
	3422.14S Tech Services
	3422.15S Permanent Subs
	3422.16S LPNs
	3422.08S Paraprofessionals
	Resolution - Transfer of Appropriations
	Balance Sheet - October
	Monthly Insurance Report
	Insurance Premium Holiday
	Recommendation to Proceed
	Conceptual Master Plan



